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Five Years’ Financial Summary

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

—E-NE —FT-=-F —ET-— T — ZE_TF
2024 2023 2023 2022 2020
TERT FAET FTAT FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 188,042 45,156 56,738 994,589 552,880
ZN/NCIEE Y- DN ) Profit/(Loss) attributable
(B518) /87 to the owners of the
Company 171,678 21,202 (149,187) 148,700 47,696
% & Dividends 34,265 24,475 29,370 45,035 135,910
BRAERN, (EE) Earnings/(Loss) per share
(BTT) (HK$) 0.26 0.03 (0.23) 0.23 0.08
KR GET) Dividends per share (HK$) 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.07 0.22
BAR B E (f3) Dividend cover (time) 5.01 0.9 N/A 3.29 0.36
BENRAE Assets and liabilities
Bl E & 2 (FsTa) Fixed assets (Note (a)) 5,555,636 6,914,246 6,784,458 6,701,336 7,127,240
HiIEmeaEE Other non-current assets 65,199 84,235 167,310 176,292 201,472
MEBEEFE Net current assets 1,977,431 1,340,859 827,341 1,232,161 655,203
EnRBEE Non-current liabilities (705,670) (1,556,880)  (910,566) (1,059,050) (1,251,999)
BESE Net assets 6,892,596 6,782,460 6,868,543 7,050,739 6,731,916
FREEFME(GBIT)  Netassets per share (HK$) 10.56 10.39 10.52 10.80 10.52
Haz - Note:
(@ BFrEEBRKREWE P #aE=NR () Fixed assets include investment properties and property, plant
f& o and equipment.
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BRERBFXEESE
Notice of Annual General Meeting

BBEARARRZIIN _T-_MHF+—HZ+ NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General
HEP=TF=-"EBBEELFALEELE Meeting will be held at One Kowloon Peak Clubhouse, 8 Po
8T NELTBEMETIREBEF AL ©  Fung Terrace, Tsuen Wan, New Territories on Wednesday,
EERRIE S the 20 day of November 2024 at 3:00 p.m. for the following

purposes:

— HEHE_T_NEANA=THILF 1
EZRBMNEFSHZBM®RES

— CEIRARHRE 2

w

= () EEMRELCERBILIFATES

(b) BEEFRESLLERIFERNITES

(0 BEEBAZLXETRATES

) BEEFCBETEFNIME -

m-BERE(FE) EAMEBAERA 4

BIRZHEE  REREEESE T E

T R

HEREEZERWERABTISRES 5

S yE N 2 2 -
E@/}%ﬁﬁi%'

(F) Bk -

(i) ETXEGNEHZBRHIT 2
EREGEERRRIESS
REBERITERRRZ—1)
#AH - BEAQTRAS 2

(N

To receive and consider the Statement of Accounts and
the Reports of the Directors and Auditor for the year
ended 30 June, 2024;

To declare final dividend;

(@) To re-elect Mr. Lam Ka Wai Graham as an

independent non-executive Director;

(b) To re-elect Mr. Lee Ding Yue Joseph as non-

executive Director;

(c) To re-elect Ms. Chao Gigi as an executive Director;

(d) To re-elect Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David Chris as an

independent non-executive Director; and

(e) To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the

Directors’” remunerations.

To appoint Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as the
Auditor and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix its

remuneration; and

As special business to consider and if thought fit, pass

the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

(A) That:

(i) subject to paragraph (iii) below, the exercise by
the Directors during the Relevant Period of all
the powers of the Company to repurchase shares
in the capital of the Company be and is hereby

generally and unconditionally approved;
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BRERBFXEES
Notice of Annual General Meeting

(i) EXXEGOEATHL/EZTE - 7]
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b ERRE  WHREEES
RAEBHEARKRARREITH

RRRNEFEE2EREL
B 2 BRI E A S 2 i
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(iii) "R FIRE EXE ()& 21t E
BRERBRL 2 AR B RGEE
BE - BT BBRARRIEET
BRAmEBEZEER 2T

(iv) MAURBERM S -

(BRI | IR ARE R AR
ZHETY =& 22RFHH I
Z BAR -

(a) BBARFEERE ZRTETT
ZR-ARBRRBERGHE
REF - AR RER R
BRIFFER RS BB T @R
mERARBRZRIER
2 (

R I A )

(b) ARBIRBEGIMAETT
ZTEBRRAFASHR
f@mz B8 K&

(0 BRREBRBFAE LA
IR 3 5 B S UK

P

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the approval in paragraph (i) above shall be in
addition to any other authorisation given to the
Directors of the Company and shall authorise
the Directors on behalf of the Company during
the Relevant Period to procure the Company to
repurchase its own shares at a price per share

determined by the Directors at their discretion;

the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company which the Company
is authorised to repurchase pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (i) above shall not
exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal
amount of the share capital of the Company in

issue;

for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the
passing of this Resolution until whichever is

the earliest of:

(@) the conclusion of the first Annual General
Meeting of the Company following the
passing of this Resolution at which time it
shall lapse unless, by ordinary resolution
passed at that meeting, the authorisation
conferred by this Resolution is renewed,
either unconditionally or subject to

conditions;

(b) the expiration of the period within which
the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held;

and

(c) revocation or variation of this Resolution
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders

in general meeting.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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BRERBFXEESE
Notice of Annual General Meeting

(B) That:

(i)

(ii)

following any repurchase of shares in the
capital of the Company pursuant to the
authorisation conferred on the Directors under
Ordinary Resolution (A) above, the exercise
by the Directors during the Relevant Period
of all the powers of the Company to allot
additional shares in the Company, and to make
offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such power, equivalent
to the number of shares so repurchased be
and is hereby generally and unconditionally

approved;

the approval in paragraph (i) above shall be in
addition to any other authorisation given to the
Directors of the Company and shall authorise
the Directors on behalf of the Company during
the Relevant Period to procure the company to
allot or make offers, agreements and options
to allot additional shares which might require
the exercise of such power after the end of the

Relevant Period;

(iii) for the purpose of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the
passing of this Resolution until whichever is

the earliest of:

(a) the conclusion of the first Annual General
Meeting of the Company following the
passing of this Resolution at which time it
shall lapse unless, by ordinary resolution
passed at that meeting, the authorisation
conferred by this Resolution is renewed,
either unconditionally or subject to

conditions;
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BRERBFXEES
Notice of Annual General Meeting

RABRBOEGIMARTT
Z NERRBFXSHR
fEim<zB8 &k

(b)
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(i)

S () B 2 BEJE AT B AN R
NAEEEMER ZEMEM
B YIREARBERSA
EABHEEREETHEAR
RSB RITE LAEN 2
BRI - ek R

(ii)

RABEFGKIE EXEGOE
HE V& T BC 38 5 [R) B8 IR S AR
IR o RAEERRE (B
Be & 3RS AT R AR IR 2
REBREFTEITERIN TEHE
BARRNF 2 BITRAEBERRE
BOoZ_1T: K&

(iii)

(b) the expiration of the period within which
the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held;

and

revocation or variation of this Resolution
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders

in general meeting.

(C) That:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

subject to paragraph (iii) below, pursuant to
section 141 of the Companies Ordinance,
the exercise by the Directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period of all the powers of
the Company to allot additional shares and to
make or grant offers, agreements and options
which might require the exercise of such power
be and is hereby generally and unconditionally

approved;

the approval in paragraph (i) above shall be
in addition to any other authorisation given
to the Directors of the Company and shall
authorise the Directors of the Company during
the Relevant Period to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which might require
the exercise of such power after the end of the

Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share
capital allotted or agreed conditionally or
unconditionally to be allotted by the Directors
of the Company pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (i) above, otherwise than pursuant
to a rights issue or on the exercise of the
subscription rights under any warrants, shall
not exceed the aggregate of 20 per cent of the
aggregate amount of the issued share capital of

the Company; and

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

) MARBERME - (iv) for the purpose of this Resolution:
[BERAHME | fERAAZE R AR “Relevant Period” means the period from the
ZBETI=F28F HEIE passing of this Resolution until whichever is
Z B the earliest of:

(@) BBIORZBER ZBPTETT (a) the conclusion of the first Annual General

ZERBRRBAFRGH
REF - ZIERER R
5?3'5?':7:%27&'“’%?;35%\ S

BEBTNRERIEES
%(Kﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬂmﬁ) ;

(b) ANRBREEEDITELETT (b)
Z NERERBEFASHR
fEmz B+ K&
(c) &%E%%ﬁﬁk@iu (©)
BORZEFZRHIE LR
73'35%%7& °

Meeting of the Company following the
passing of this Resolution at which time it
shall lapse unless, by ordinary resolution
passed at that meeting, the authorisation
conferred by this Resolution is renewed,
either unconditionally or subject to

conditions;

the expiration of the period within which
the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held;

and

revocation or variation of this Resolution
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders

in general meeting.
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BREBFAEES
Notice of Annual General Meeting

[EREEFRIIEARFETEN
7] HARE A B R B I AR E
Aoik B BTS2 BRI B AR
H = B P Hr A B L I BC & Hr
zEd (ERNRAREEESA
TR BB B AT I
IR R A E B
BEHRDZREMEE ZE
AR GBI EER /Y ARER

By B & T AR R L 75 T 2
MBAELEAMB L) -

EE=EW
DA E
A5 %

FE —FE-_MFE+A+EA

“Rights issue” means an offer of shares open
for a period fixed by the Directors to holders
of shares on the register on a fixed record date
in proportion to their then holdings of such
shares (subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Directors of the Company
may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or having regard to any
restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or
the requirements of any recognised regulatory
body or any stock exchange in any territory

outside Hong Kong).

By Order of the Board
Ho Sau Fun Connie

Company Secretary

BB

BB
BEE 1858
FIRES
49184901 %

Hong Kong, 15 October 2024

Registered Office:
Suite 4901, 49/F
Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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BRERBFXEESE
Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notes:

3.

Annual Report 2024 £t ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =

Every member entitled to attend and vote at the above
meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend
and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of
the Company but must be present in person to represent the

member.

Where there are joint registered holders of any shares, any
one of such persons may attend and vote at the Meeting,
either personally or by proxy, in respect of such shares as if
he were solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such
joint holders be present at the Meeting personally or by proxy,
that one of the said persons so present whose name stands first
on the register of members of the Company in respect of such

shares shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.

In order to be valid, the form of proxy duly completed and
signed in accordance with the instructions printed on it
together with the power of attorney or other authority, if
any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy
of it must be deposited at the office of the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Ltd., at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for holding of the Meeting or any adjournment
thereof. The completion and delivery of the form of proxy will
not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the

Meeting or any adjournment thereof if you so wish.

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from 14 November 2024 to 20 November 2024, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2024 Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Room 1712-1716, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30

p.m. on Wednesday, 13 November 2024.

Bt (@) ARAR
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BRRBFXEES

Notice of Annual General Meeting

(AFEABER (F)REBRRZR EFT
ZXRAABR R AN ET BB AN ARG
RARSR—REE-

OB ABER(Z) A (R)BEBEBRERTT
M EFFARPINEIL WG 8217
RRARMEAHA - BERETRA - HER
PRR L/ — AR IR AE -

(DA ERENZERBRESNBRRBFRE
EARBIREZE T ANETROR  RREBERBK
N B SR N F S /N G

VEAKRRBEBERGEER EFARFE - K
FAFRERGERS BB IZFRNEEERE
BEAER  AIRRBERG HIBRBERRAQF]
HEZERMUNEBER - ARAHEREAR
A48 %k (www.cheuknang.com.hk) & B 22 AT
Ak (www.hkexnews.hk) T2 A4 - 5@ A
REFTARGHEITEE  SE&E -

With regard to Ordinary Resolution 5(A) of this Notice, the
Directors wish to state that they have no immediate plan to
repurchase any existing shares of the Company; approval is

being sought from members as a general mandate.

Concerning Ordinary Resolutions 5(B) and 5(C) of this Notice,
the Directors wish to state that they have no immediate plans
to issue any new shares of the Company; approval is being
sought from members as a general mandate in compliance

with the Listing Rules.

Each of the above resolutions will be put to vote by way of a
poll at the AGM, and the results of the poll will be published

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

If Typhoon Signal No. 8 or above, or a “black” rainstorm
warning is in force in Hong Kong at 9:00 a.m. on the date
of the AGM, the AGM will be automatically adjourned in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.
The Company will post an announcement on the websites
of the Company (www.cheuknang.com.hk) and of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) to notify members of the date,

time and place of the rescheduled meeting.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

| herewith to present to shareholders the report of Cheuk
Nang (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2024.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated profit after income tax of our Group for
the year ended 30 June 2024 is HK$171,004,000 comparing
to last year 2023: HK$53,040,000. Details are set out in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Directors resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK4.00 cents (2023: HK3.00 cents) per share
payable to those shareholders whose names appeared in
the register of members as at the close of business on 28
November 2024, which together with the interim dividend
of HK2.25 cents (2023: HK1.75 cents) per share, makes a
total distribution of HK6.25 cents (2023: HK4.75 cents) per
share this year, which is 32% increase when compare to last

year.

After approval by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the final dividend will be paid on 12 December
2024.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong Properties

Despite the government removing property tightening
measures, the recovery in property prices is still weak.
This is due to the high interest rate, insufficient purchasing

power, and relatively abundance of unsold inventory.

In contrast, the residential leasing market increased slightly,
supported by local demand and from overseas top talents.
We expect both the mass residential rents and luxury rents

more optimistic.

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR
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Chairman’s Statement

X BEEBE R B0.5E » BHFRHR
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ERiE
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1. EHFEIEEITE  EE T I ELE85
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F—HAE—E2IESANE ' EH49E
FEEN (BiEelENEL) K39E=F
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7R - g PATIR R BT AL R b RO K o

%Eﬁmﬁiﬁ %:7:E¢*H
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2. B R CEHMIEZFE1925

HWEEBEABE-F4BSEZEREE
KNEREE29EEEEN - FEEME
EHEXIA876F T R=E3,099F H R -

“HIMHEB R HRFHE60% °

The U.S. Federal Reserve decreased interest rate by 0.5%,
and there is a high chance of another decrease within this
year. We hope this will help to stabilize the residential

price.

The progress of our projects in Hong Kong are as follows:—

One Kowloon Peak at No. 8 Po Fung Terrace, Ting Kau,

Tsuen Wan

Residential project developed in two phases.

Phase 1 comprised of a block of 21-storey building
with 49 residential units (including 6 duplex units) and
39 car parking spaces. The net floor area of the units
ranged from 1,075 square feet to 2,095 square feet.
Phase 2 comprised of clubhouse, 29 car parking spaces
and five 3-storey garden villas. The net floor area of the
villas ranged from approximately 1,497 square feet to
2,329 square feet. The clubhouse provides recreational

facilities and swimming pool.

The Certificate of Compliance of the development was
issued on 26 January 2024. Some purchasers have

completed the sale and purchase in March 2024.

Villa Cecil Phase I, 192 Victoria Road, Pokfulam

Residential development comprised of three blocks of
4-storey low density residential building provides 29
residential units. The net floor area of the apartments
ranged from approximately 876 square feet to 3,099

square feet.

The occupancy rate of Phase 2 maintained at 60%.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

Villa Cecil Phase Ill, 216 Victoria Road, Pokfulam

Residential development comprised of two blocks
of 4-storey building for rental purpose. The total
marketable gross floor area is about 97,000 square feet
(net floor area is about 68,973 square feet). Block 1
provides 9 residential units and Block 2 provides 32
units. The gross floor area of the apartments ranged
from 760 square feet to 3,800 square feet (net floor area

ranged from 586 square feet to 2,555 square feet).
The occupancy rate of the two blocks has reached 61%.

Cheuk Nang Lookout, 30 Severn Road, The Peak

A residential premises comprised of two deluxe 3-storey
residential villas, namely Villa Begonia and Villa
Crocus. The renovation of the two villas to enhance
the quality is completed. We are planning to proceed

public tender for sale of both properties.

New Villa Cecil, No. 33 Cheung Chau Sai Tai Road,
Cheung Chau

A residential project developed into 2 phases with
total marketable gross floor area approximately 58,000
square feet, the net sales area is approximately 31,266

square feet.

Phase | comprised of 19 blocks of 2-storey residential
villas has already received Occupation Permit. The
gross floor area of the villas ranged from 1,450 square
feet to 2,700 square feet (net floor area ranged from
1,106 square feet to 2,070 square feet). Phase Il
comprised of 4 blocks of 2-storey residential villas. The
gross floor area of the villas ranged from approximately
2,000 square feet to 12,000 square feet (net floor
area from 1,564 square feet to 9,260 square feet).
Recreational facilities including swimming pool and

landscape garden are provided.

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

F—HRIEE HAEE40% ° The occupancy rate of the villas in Phase 1 has reached

40%.

B ) 3 China Properties

“E-WMERAFREEMT —EAEIKR In May 2024, China announced a raft of measures to boost
EHETSNEGE  RIERIEKKIEKE N the property market, cutting minimum down payment
B - B IREMEREE B E G LA R FFE  ratios, setting up a re-lending facility for affordable housing
TIIERE - SHEBEENZHE/AER -  and pledging to deliver unfinished homes. Different cities
BT EE T AR - adopted specific measures to address the diverse demands

of home buyers.

ARFHEED LEEREMHM T NLEAE In the latest move, authorities in Shanghai announced
S BENEIIELEERMBEERFEE nine specific measures, including easing home-purchase
ER® - AFAME N EZTFHEKRER restrictions for non-Shanghai residents and divorced
BHEIINMEE BEBASZEEREHIZE - couples, allowing families with two or more children to
FEHEM S ELLEMRELER - purchase an additional home, and lowering the minimum

down payment ratio for individual commercial housing

mortgages. The property market reacted positively to these

measures.

B o - db R - Ko~ AU - PEZ - BC#EB Apart from Shanghai, cities including Beijing, Tianjin,
LW HHARTEMERE - #H 7THE Hangzhou, Xi’an and Chengdu have also adjusted their
REE A mENEBRISEEE - real estate policies, announcing measures such as eased

purchase restrictions and the trade-ins of commercial

housing.

oy

&

newly added housing.
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

Shenzhen

Shenzhen is one of the four Tier 1 cities announced
measures to ease restrictions on homebuying including
lower both the down payment ratio from 50% to 35% and

the mortgage interest rates.

Cheuk Nang Garden
Longhwa, Shenzhen

The sale campaign is still continued. Uptill now, a total
of 793 units were sold and the sales amount to RMB3,872

million.

Hangzhou

Hangzhou also removed the restrictions on new
housing purchases in May, 2024. Under the new policy,
qualifications for purchasing new houses within the city will
no longer be reviewed, and non-city householders who have
purchased houses in Hangzhou can apply for “Hukou”, or
permanent local residence, which can be used to obtain

access to basic welfare and public services in China.

According to the new policy, individuals who do not have
a home in the urban area they are buying, or with just one
home there that is up for sale, may qualify as first-time
homebuyers when applying for a lower mortgage for their

new homes.

Cheuk Nang e Riverside
Yue Hang Qu, Hangzhou

The development comprised land area of 38,983 square
metres (approximately 419,613 square feet). The total
net floor area is 122,483 square metres (approximately
1,318,407 square feet) with multi-storey buildings provides
849 residential units, 22 deluxe villas by the riverside, 780
car parking spaces, clubhouse, recreational facilities and
shopping centre. The size of the residential units and villas
ranged from 65 square metres (700 square feet) to 270

square metres (2,906 square feet).
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

BEBEEMEETIZEE A®EMK * BATR The construction work of the entire project has been
BB ERE BREERBKNEERD substantially completed, and the planning acceptance has
BEEZINARTK - been approved. However, the building acceptance and the

property certificate for strata ownership have not yet been

completed.

BPT Macau Properties

WP FHEENE M [ 1+4 ] B @E 2 LR The Macau government advanced the implementation of the
EH% C B CRPIRF R IT IR R A [ 2 T3 “1+4” strategy for appropriate economic diversification, and
ERE(2024-20284F)) - BifFs4E k=R released the Development Plan for Appropriate Economic
AR T A ER - IR EEJAIE M  Diversification of the Macao Special Administrative Region
BB KHE o (2024-2028). The Government continued to enhance

=2

people’s livelihoods,

construction, enhance overall quality and standards of

governance.
BN R —5% Golden Cotai No. 1
PEIR A B E Estrada de Seac Pai Van, Coloane

THIBBEERN T _WNF— AT AELE The Direccdo dos Servigos de Solos e Constru¢do Urbana
B RAEHRMAEBZHNLIHARESE - (DSSCU) has issued a proposal at the end of January 2024
BZBTA2 A B2 HERIN - FIEH consenting to the change of land use as applied by us with
MEMER T _NF= AL THKBE the exception of the land marked “A2” and “B2”. Objection
REEZ  BRAFERKPEHFRIEHE  has been made by our local lawyer to the DSSCU in March
R ° 2024 but the Government requested us to re-submit the

development proposal.

T THBER T _WFNAFTEHZ DSSCU has launched an opinion collection campaign
NAZ+ N \BHEREERWEES - 5t during 14 August to 28 August 2024 to collect opinion from
ﬁﬁLLEAEﬁF/HE’Jj:ﬂEE’\JEiiﬁﬂi)ﬂl T #R &Y the public regarding the details urban planning of our land
ENTER - BAl - MAAEMEE A o in Seac Pai Van. At the present moment, no information was

announced yet.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

Malaysia Properties

Outweighted by high interest rates, global growth is
moderate as it remained supported by resilient labour

market.

The unemployment rate remained low at its pre-pandemic
level. Labour supply continued to be forthcoming as the
labour force participation rate increased further in the

working age population in the 2nd quarter of 2024.

Phase | “Parkview”
Lot 1359, Section 57, Lorong Perak, Kuala Lumpur

The development is a ready built 41-storey residential
building providing 417 residential units and 163 car parking
spaces. Most units have been sold by our Parkview joint
venture partner. The remaining 27 unsold units are operated

as serviced apartments.

The occupancy of the serviced apartments currently is 60%
and upgrading of the property to improve occupancy is still
in progress. We will launch a website (www.martego.com.
my) to enable travellers to book our serviced apartments in a
more convenient way. A new leasing agent was employed to

promote the leasing activity.

Phase Il “Cecil Central Residence”
Lot 11385 and 11386, Section 57, Lorong Perak, Kuala Lumpur

The development currently comprised of 4 blocks of
residential condominium with total approved gross floor

area is 1,708,648 square feet.
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Chairman’s Statement
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INVESTMENT IN BONDS, STOCK AND FUND
The investment in Bond market as at 30 June 2024 was
HK$49,876,000. During the year, a total of HK$2,290,000

was redeemed and no Bond was purchased and sold.

The market price of our investment in the Hong Kong stocks
as at 30 June 2024 was HK$54,263,000. During the year, no

stock was purchased and sold.

The investment in Fund as at 30 June 2024 was
HK$2,953,000. During the year, a total of HK$3,000,000

was purchased.

OUTLOOK

The Hong Kong economy continued to record moderate

growth in the second quarter of 2024.

Looking ahead, the economy should continue to grow in
the remainder of the year, but various factors including
geopolitical tensions and global economic may pose

uncertainties on different fronts.

As regards inbound tourism and private consumption, the
Central Government’s various measures benefitting Hong
Kong. The Government’s efforts to boost market sentiment
and improving employment earnings would provide support,
but the changes in the consumption patterns of visitors and
residents and the relatively strong Hong Kong dollar may

continue to pose challenges.
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FREHES
Chairman’s Statement

EERKET DIRECTORS AND STAFF
BMEeEEOETEELER T _MFE We are delighted to welcome Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David
NATEBEMARKMPR B EEBILIEFHTT Chris has joined our company as independent non-executive
EEo director on 17 June 2024.

BB RESMETIAFRNBETEAATE We would like to express our deep gratitude to our directors

MEBURREHZ - and employees for their contributions during the year.
AEEE By order of the Board
iRl CECIL CHAO
HiITERE Executive Chairman
B —FTMOFNAAZTHA Hong Kong, 24 September 2024
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
CHAO Sze Tsung Cecil - Executive Chairman

Dr. Chao, aged 88, is the founder and Executive Chairman
of the Group since 1988. Dr. Chao obtained a Bachelor
of architecture degree, with honours, from The University
of Durham, England and subsequently worked in the
field of property, construction, investment, shipping,
industrial and architect for over fifty years. He has also
worked for Hong Kong Government Building Department
and Architectural Office. He is a Hong Kong registered
architect and a member of the Royal Institute of British
Architect and has obtained Honorary Doctor Degree (Ph.
D.) from U.S. Morrison University. Dr. Chao is also awarded
World Outstanding Chinese. He has obtained Lifetime
Achievement Award given by the ASEAN Outstanding
Business Award 2016. He is the Chairman and beneficial
owner of Yan Yin Company Limited, Cecil Chao &
Associates Limited and Szehope Securities Company Limited

which are the controlling shareholders of the Group.

LAM Ka Wai, Graham

Mr. Lam, aged 56, is the independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Lam graduated from the
University of Southampton, England with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Accounting and Statistics. He is a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lam is currently the Managing Director
of an investment bank and has over 25 years’ experience in
investment banking as well as over 3 years experience in

accounting and auditing.
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LEE Ding Yue Joseph

Mr. Lee, aged 62, is currently the Managing Director of
Chee Yen Investment Company (PTC) Limited and holds
many directorships with companies in Hong Kong and
overseas. He earned his Bachelor degree in Business
Management & Economics from Sophia University Tokyo
in 1984. Mr. Lee started his career working for Kyocera
Corporation in Japan specialising in manufacturing
semiconductor packages. In 1987 he returned to Hong
Kong to establish a photographic and digital imaging
lighting manufacturing business distributing his products
internationally. A manufacturing, property development,
and property investment veteran with 40 years of
experience, Mr. Lee possesses a sound knowledge in
manufacturing, a sound knowledge in developing
distribution network internationally, and a sound knowledge

in real estate businesses in Hong Kong and Japan.

HO Sau Fun Connie

Ms. Ho, aged 57, was appointed as a Director of the
Company since 1996. She is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of U.K.
She has been working in the company secretarial field for
over 30 years. Ms. Ho is also a director of the subsidiaries of

the Company.
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CHAO, Howard
Mr. Chao, aged 41,

Real Estate Studies from the University of Greenwich, UK

holds a Master of Science Degree in

and a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration
from California State University, Fullerton, California and
was awarded a Certified of Completion for the Leadership
Programme on Real Estate Sustainability by the University of

Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership.

Mr. Chao has over 17 years of experience in real estate
development, construction, corporate finance and asset
management, his experience covers the region of Hong
In 2021,

Mr. Chao was a running candidate for office of the Hong

Kong, Mainland China, Malaysia and Macau.
Kong Legislative Council Election, under the functional

constituency of Real Estate and Construction.

Mr. Chao is currently the Chief Executive Officer of
Maximus Capital Management Limited, Maximus Surveyors
Limited, Maximus Property Management Limited; and an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Mexan Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 0022).

Mr. Chao is also a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Chongqging, Hong Kong
Southern District Council Member, Committee Member
and the Vice-Chairman of Young Executives’ Committee of
the Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
Advisor of the Our Hong Kong Foundation, Director of the
Hong Kong Securities Association, Vice-President of the
Hong Kong Chongging Friendship Federation, the Convenor
of the Hong Kong Real Estate and Construction Concerned
Group, and a Member of the Hong Kong Real Property

Federation.
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CHAO, Gigi

Ms. Chao, aged 45, is the eldest daughter of Dr. Cecil
Chao, the Group Executive Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the company, and sister of Mr. Howard
Chao, Executive Director of the company. While her first
degree was in Architecture, her second degree in Law,
over the past years, investment, asset management, coding
and information technology has been a key areas of focus
and research for Vice Chairman. Gigi first graduated
from the University of Manchester, Manchester School of
Architecture, England with a Bachelor of Arts in Architecture
with Honours. Subsequently, she worked with prominent
British Architect and Urban Designer Sir Terry Farrell in
London and Hong Kong where she participated in projects
such as The Peak, Kowloon Station, Tsuen Wan West
Station, and various design competition submissions for
prominent iconic buildings in mainland China. Besides
a background in architecture and construction, her
multifaceted experience in management and service was
acquired from an early career in marketing and retail
services in Hong Kong and China, during which she
handled key accounts such as Rolex, Audemars Piquet,
Hong Kong Jockey Club, Mont Blanc, inter alia. In 2017,
she completed her LLB with Honours at the University of
London International Programmes. In 2021 she commenced
the journey of digital transformation and later obtained
her Professional Certificate in Coding from Massachusetts
Institute of Technology (MITxPro) and continues to
appreciate smart cities and the many technologies under
the hood. And as climate change and the associated risks
connected to interaction between nature and our built
environment has taken centre stage in recent years, Gigi
also enjoyed learning about the challenge of achieving Net-
Zero through engagement with the University of Cambridge
Business and Climate Change, Institute for Sustainability
Leadership in 2023.
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Ms. Chao has always been an out and passionate member of
the global community and a prominent advocate for various
charitable endeavours. She is the China Representative and
board member of OutRight Action International (formerly
the International Gay & Lesbian Human Rights Commission
IGLHRC) a global organisation that has EcoSoc consultative
status at the United Nations and reports to the UN General
Assembly annually. Gigi is also the founder of Hong
Kong registered charity Faith in Love Foundation, which
encourages volunteerism and alleviation of poverty through
scholarships, resource distribution, and emotional support
for marginalised youth. She is the specialist private sector
adviser for the United Nations Development Programme
Being LGBTI in Asia. An enthusiastic aviator, Gigi is Past
President of the Hong Kong Aviation Club and Honorary
Specialist Flight Lieutenant of the Hong Kong Air Cadets
Corp.

SUN Dai Hoe Harold
Mr. Sun, aged 61,

the Sun International Group of Companies and has been

is currently an executive director of

appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Oriental Watch Holdings Limited (HKSE 0398), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), since 23 March 2022.
He was previously an independent non-executive director
of Saizen REIT, a real estate investment trust listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, from

January 2008 until its voluntary delisting in October 2017.
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Mr. Sun was awarded an Master degree in Business
Administration from University of British Columbia, Canada
in 1987. Mr. Sun possesses over 30 years of experience
in marketing and distribution of consumer products in
Hong Kong and Southeast Asia. He was the Chairman of
the Federation of Hong Kong Watch Trades and Industries
Limited from 2017 to 2019 and has been its advisor
since 2020. In addition, he has been the Chairman of
Qualifications Framework, Watch and Clock Industry
Training Advisory Committee since January 2022, a member
of Hong Kong Productivity Council’s Watch and Clock
Technology Centre Management Committee since 2016, and
was a member of Hong Kong Trade Development Council’s
Watches and Clocks Advisory Committee from 2016 to
2020. Mr. Sun was the Vice-President of Singapore Clock
and Watch Trade Association from 2010 to 2017. Mr. Sun’s
experience also includes real estate investment in Hong
Kong, Singapore, Malaysia and North America through his
family holdings

LEE Tsung Hei David Chris

Mr. Lee, aged 73, is currently the Chairman and CEO of
DH International Group Holdings Ltd, DH Capital (HK) Ltd
and Guangzhou DHC Investment Advisory Ltd. He is also a
Director of Lufei Aviation Holdings Limited. He qualified as
a Chartered Valuation Surveyor in 1973 and was registered
as an Authorized Person in 1977. He is a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a Registered Professional
Surveyor, a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors,
an associate of the Incorporated Society of Valuers and
Auctioneers, and an associate of the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators. Mr. Lee is a former member of the Central
Policy Unit, which is known as the Government “Think
Tank”, a past Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing Society,
a former member of the Supervisory Board of the Hong
Kong Housing Society, a former director of Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Limited, a former Council
member of Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a former
member of the Land and Building Advisory Committee, and
the Steering Committee on review of the Urban Renewal
Strategy, a Visiting Professor of the Guangzhou Urban
Mass Transit Training Institute. He is currently a member
of the Salvation Army Advisory Board and Chairman of the
Property Advisory Committee of the Salvation Army.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
TAM Sui Man

Mr. Tam, aged 54, is the financial Controller of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in December 2023, Mr. Tam
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and several Hong
Kong listed/private companies. He has more than 30
years of experience in financing, accounting, auditing and
taxation in Hong Kong and the PRC. He graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree
of Arts (Honours) in Accountancy. Mr. Tam is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants of the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

CHAO Sze Tsung Cecil (Chairman)
CHAO Gigi (Vice Chairman)
CHAO Howard

HO Sau Fun Connie

Non-Executive Director

LEE Ding Yue Joseph

Independent Non-Executive Directors

TING Woo Shou, Kenneth (resigned on 29 February 2024)
LAM Ka Wai Graham

SUN Dai Hoe Harold

LEE Tsung Hei David Chris (appointed on 17 June 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LAM Ka Wai Graham (Chairman)
LEE Ding Yue Joseph

SUN Dai Hoe Harold

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
SUN Dai Hoe Harold (Chairman)
CHAO Sze Tsung Cecil

LAM Ka Wai Graham

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
CHAO Sze Tsung Cecil (Chairman)
SUN Dai Hoe Harold

LEE Tsung Hei David Chris

COMPANY SECRETARY
HO Sau Fun Connie
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Suite 4901, 49th Floor
Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITOR
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants and

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

BANKERS

Hong Kong

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

The Bank of Communications, Limited Hong Kong Branch
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Overseas

Hong Leong Bank Berhad

SOLICITORS

Vincent T.K. Cheung, Yap & Co.
Ho & Ip Solicitors

Woo Kwan Lee & Lo

SHARE REGISTRARS & TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

LISTING EXCHANGE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Highlights

Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2024 (the “Year”)
amounted to HK$188,042,000 (2023: HK$45,156,000), a
316.4% increase as compared with last year. It was mainly

due to increase in properties sold in Shenzhen and Hong
Kong amounted to HK$155,629,000 during Year.

For property leasing, the Year recorded a decrease of 22.4%
in rental income as compared with the corresponding
year in 2023, amounting HK$31,794,000 (2023:
HK$40,997,000).

Gross profit for the Year amounted to HK$106,796,000,
as compare to a gross profit of HK$27,752,000 with the
corresponding year. Other income recorded an increase of
38.8% to HK$22,132,000 when compared with last year.
The other income for the Year were mainly attributed to
dividend income and interest income. Positive change in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to HK$6,000,000 (2023: HK$2,353,000).
Negative change in fair value of investment properties
amounted to HK$154,070,000 (2023: Positive change in
fair value of HK$145,091,000). Expected credit loss of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$4,975,000 (2023: HK$14,210,000)
which related to debentures default in interest payment
and downgrading on credit rating. Administrative expenses
decreased by 18.8% to HK$56,570,000 as compared
with last year. Finance costs increased by 197.3% to
HK$53,831,000 as compared with last year. The increase
was mainly due to no capitalisation of interest to properties

under development for sale during the Year.
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
was HK$171,678,000 (2023: Profit HK$21,202,000).
earnings per share was HK$0.26 (2023: HK$0.03) and fully
diluted earnings per share was HK$0.26 (2023: HK$0.03).

Basic

A final dividend of HK4.00 cents (2023: HK3.00 cents) was
proposed together with the interim dividend of HK2.25
cents (2023: HK1.75 cents) a total of HK6.25 cents (2023:
HK4.75 cents) for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Total Equity Attributable To The Owners Of The Company
As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s total equity attributable

to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$6,684,368,000 (2023: HK$6,573,558,000), an increase
of HK$110,810,000 or 1.7% when compared with 30 June
2023. With the total number of ordinary shares in issue
of 652,676,781 as at 30 June 2024 (2023: 652,676,781
shares), the total equity attributable to the owners of the
Company per share was HK$10.24, representing an increase
of 1.7% compared to HK$10.07 as at 30 June 2023.

Other than the existing projects and those disclosed in the
annual report, the Group did not have any confirmed future

plans for material investment or acquiring capital assets.
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Investment In Financial Assets At Fair Value Through Profit

Or Loss And Other Comprehensive Income

As at 30 June 2024, the fair value of investment in listed
securities, fund and perpetual note and debentures
amounted to HK$54,263,000, HK$2,953,000 and
HK$49,876,000 respectively were classified as the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and fair value
through other comprehensive income. During the Year,
the portfolio on listed securities was increased by gain on
fair value of HK$5,953,000 (2023: HK$2,353,000). For
investment in fund, a total of HK$3,000,000 (2023: Nil) was
purchased during the Year and the loss on fair value was
HK$47,000 (2023: Nil). For perpetual note and debenture,
a total of HK$2,290,000 (2023: HK$88,583,000) was
redeemed and an expected credit loss of HK$4,975,000
(2023: HK$14,210,000) was provided. The investment in
financial assets as at 30 June 2024 represented 1.1% (2023:
1.3%) of the total assets, which formed part of the Group’s

cash management activities.

Equity
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 30 June 2024
and 30 June 2023 were 652,676,781 and 652,676,781

respectively.

Debts And Gearing

As at 30 June 2024,
borrowings amounted to HK$1,343,125,000 (2023:
HK$1,036,449,000).
to HK$881,792,000 (2023: HK$323,525,000) and net
borrowing of HK$461,333,000 (2023: HK$712,924,000).

the Group’s bank and other

Cash and bank balances amounted

(@) BRAR
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Total debts to equity ratio was 20.1% (2023: 15.8%) and net
debts to equity ratio was 6.9% (2023: 10.8%). The increase
in the total debt to equity ratio was mainly due to increase
in bank and other borrowings during the Year and decrease
in net debts to equity was mainly due to increase in bank

balances during the Year.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Of the Group’s
total bank and other borrowings HK$1,343,125,000 (2023:
HK$1,036,449,000), 100% repayable within 1 year (2023:
39.2% and 60.8% were repayable within 1 year and 1
to 2 years respectively) by reference to the repayment on
demand clause based on scheduled repayments of the loan
agreement. The Group’s bank and other borrowings carried
interest rates by reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offer
Rate (“HIBOR.”)

Pledge Of Assets

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s investment properties and
land and building with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,546,738,000 (2023: HK$2,737,895,000) and
HK$186,254,000 (2023: HK$38,866,000) respectively were

pledged to secure general banking facilities of the Group.

Finance Costs

Financial costs included interest expenses on bank and other
loans, arrangement, facility and commitment fee expenses. No
interest was capitalized for the Year (2023: interest capitalized
was HK$21,095,000). Interest expenses for the Year amounted
to HK$53,831,000, representing 197.3% increase over the
interest expenses of HK$18,105,000 recorded for the last
year. The increase in interest expense was mainly due to the
combined effect of increase in bank loans interest and other
borrowing cost during the Year. The average interest rate over
1.8%) which was

expressed as a percentage of total interest expenses over the

the year under review was 4.5% (2023:

average total borrowing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property Valuation

A property valuation has been carried out by Messrs. Roma
Appraisals Limited and K.T. Liu Surveyors Limited in respect
of the Group’s investment properties and certain property,
plant and equipment as at 30 June 2024 and that valuation
The
Group’s investment properties and investment properties
under development were valued at HK$3,512,769,000
and HK$1,852,298,000 respectively making the total
HK$5,365,067,000 (2023:
investment properties under development were valued at
HK$5,012,375,000 and HK$1,857,631,000 making the
total HK$6,870,006,000).
approximately HK$154,070,000 (2023: The increase in fair
value of approximately HK$145,091,000 was credited to the

was used in preparing 2024 financial statements.

investment properties and

The decrease in fair value of

income statement for the Year) was debited to the income
statement for the Year. The Group land and building held
for the directors’ quarter carried at fair value were valued
at HK$186,254,000 (2023: HK$38,866,000).
in fair value of HK$593,000 (2023: HK$2,763,000) for

the Year were recorded in property revaluation reserves.

The increase

Properties under development for sale of the Group were
stated at lower of cost or net realizable value in the

financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established adequate risk management
procedures that enable it to identify, measure, monitor
This is

supplemented by active management involvement and

and control the various types of risk it faces.

effective internal controls in the best interests of the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICIES AND SHARE
OPTION SCHEME

As at 30 June 2024, the Group employed a total of 47 (as at
30 June 2023: 54) staff.
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Employees were remunerated on the basis of their
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice.
Remuneration packages comprised salary, year end double
pay and year end discretionary bonus based on market
conditions and individual performance. The Executive
Directors continued to review employees’ contributions and
to provide them with necessary incentives and flexibility for
their better commitment and performance. No share option

scheme was adopted for the Year.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
Profit Attributable To Owners Of The Company and

Earnings Per Share

The Company uses the profit attributable to owners of
the company and earnings per share as the Group’s as
the financial key performance indicator. The Company’s
aim to increase the Group’s profit attributable to owners
of the company and earnings per share. We compare the
profit against the previous period as a measure of the

performance. Detail refer to Financial Highlight section.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has appointed external professional firm to
perform periodic review on the internal control of the
Group. Current year review has completed and some minor
weakness have been identified. The Group will carry out

necessary procedures to improve these control weaknesses.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
COMPLIANCE
Our environmental policy is to meet all the environmental

legislations which relate to our operation.

A review on the performance on our environmental policy

has been carried out.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

Relationships with vendors

We have established relationships with numbers of suppliers
for the construction and renovation work in Hong Kong,
PRC and Malaysia. Other than one supplier relating to our
construction work which recently has financial problem,
the work originally carried by the contractor has been
reassigned to other contractor. Other than this, there is no

major events affecting our relationships with our suppliers.

Relationships with customers

Our sale and leasing team maintain good relationship with

our customers especially our tenants.

Relationships with employees

During the Year, we are not aware of any major event

affecting our relationships with our employees.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Hong Kong Properties

The progress of our projects in Hong Kong are as follows:—

1. One Kowloon Peak at No. 8 Po Fung Terrace, Ting Kau,

Tsuen Wan

Residential project developed in two phases.

The Certificate of Compliance of the development was
issued on 26 January 2024. Some purchasers have

completed the sale and purchase in March 2024.

2. Villa Cecil Phase Il, 192 Victoria Road, Pokfulam

The occupancy rate of Phase 2 maintained at 60%.

3. Villa Cecil Phase Ill, 216 Victoria Road, Pokfulam

The occupancy rate of the two blocks has reached 61%.
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4. HegLFE - LTEEEE305 4. Cheuk Nang Lookout, 30 Severn Road, The Peak
MR ZERBIFTEED S o iR The renovation of the two villas to enhance the quality
FREBAAABEARNELEENEY is completed. We are planning to proceed public tender
E L for sale of both properties.

5. ¥ RMERK3IIR 5. New Villa Cecil, No. 33 Cheung Chau Sai Tai Road,

Cheung Chau
EEHEBE D A/ME - A residential project developed into 2 phases.
F—HRED HEE40% - The occupancy rate of the villas in Phase 1 has reached
40%.

L=k S China Properties

I Shenzhen

SRERESE Cheuk Nang Garden

R 5E = Longhwa, Shenzhen

HEEENERSE - H2HA1 0 ©R:TH#E  The sale campaign is still continued. Uptill now, a total
793K - $HEEEEES,872,000,000 T AR o of 793 units were sold and the sales amount to RMB3,872

million.
M Hangzhou
EHE o SAIBEET Cheuk Nang e Riverside
PN ER BT 2 Yue Hang Qu, Hangzhou

EEBEEMERETREE RESEK  BAIE The construction work of the entire project has been
S E EHE  BREERBRIWNEEEZ D substantially completed, and the planning acceptance has
[EEREFTARTK been approved. However, the building acceptance and the

property certificate for strata ownership have not yet been

completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Macau Properties
Golden Cotai No. 1
Estrada de Seac Pai Van, Coloane

The Direccdo dos Servicos de Solos e Constru¢cdo Urbana
(DSSCU) has issued a proposal at the end of January 2024
consenting to the change of land use as applied by us with
the exception of the land marked “A2” and “B2”. Objection
has been made by our local lawyer to the DSSCU in March
2024 but the Government requested us to re-submit the

development proposal.

DSSCU has launched an opinion collection campaign
during 14 August to 28 August 2024 to collect opinion from
the public regarding the details urban planning of our land
in Seac Pai Van. At the present moment, no information was

announced yet.

Malaysia Properties
Phase | “Parkview”
Lot 1359, Section 57, Lorong Perak, Kuala Lumpur

The occupancy of the serviced apartments currently is 60%
and upgrading of the property to improve occupancy is still in
progress. We will launch a website (www.martego.com.my)
to enable travellers to book our serviced apartments in a
more convenient way. A new leasing agent was employed to

promote the leasing activity.
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BB W T
Management Discussion and Analysis

28 — Hi[ Cecil Central Residence | Phase Il “Cecil Central Residence”
ZTERESTRRETI3855 R FET138655 18 Lot 11385 and 11386, Section 57, Lorong Perak, Kuala

Lumpur
FTEEEEIEEFAE - The main podium is completed up to Level 5.
B2 OUTLOOK
—ECNFE-_FE BELEBERERS The Hong Kong economy continued to record moderate
m ANIE K o growth in the second quarter of 2024.

BEXRNK  SFEFBEALERSEER Looking ahead, the economy should continue to grow in
R BMEEARBERBEUREEKEER the remainder of the year, but various factors including
SEZAGEETR T ES R - geopolitical tensions and global economic may pose

uncertainties on different fronts.

FEAERBEMAAEESE  PFRITH  As regards inbound tourism and private consumption, the
ZIBHEEANTES - BRIF A NIRRT SR  Central Government’s various measures benefitting Hong
SN ESEWASRMELE - BIREHM Kong. The Government's efforts to boost market sentiment
ERHEBEANENLCARETHEE®RE A and improving employment earnings would provide support,
BB IRE - but the changes in the consumption patterns of visitors and

residents and the relatively strong Hong Kong dollar may

continue to pose challenges.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard
of corporate governance at all times. The Board believes
that good corporate governance helps the Company
safeguard the interests of its equity holders and improve the

performance of the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company
complied with all Code Provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“the Code”) set out in Appendix C1 of

the Listing Rules, except the following deviations:—

1 Code Provision C.2.1

Under the code provision C.2.1, the role of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly

established and set out in writing.

The Company currently cannot comply with the
requirement of the Listing Rules to separate the role of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. We are, through
different channels, still looking for a suitable person
to act as Chief Executive Officer and with a hope to

comply with the requirement in the next financial year.

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR

39



40

EXERHE

Corporate Governance Report

1.

BE
Al EEE

EXTeaARENERIAEENE
BN - EFEHIEAEE 2 KIS
Mom - BEBHEE WERHRM
BERR BEEEEEFTSRENS
BEAEEAEEZER -

EFEeERNEBRESTZE SR
B HRBORIERAREEERE
EIT RETEFEIRRENE
7

1. EARFARRKIEENEEF
REBZER:

2. BIEARAEBERETT R L
RERETEIBRAMEER - T2
BRMBETE - REBR © 3k
RIS REREAREEE
Z B K

3. MEELEREAXHEE
HEITHHFIES - ERLERE
2 AREMBERE - 2
WS REFBAEZIHRE
Ko £ AR BI Bl B AR A5 2 Sk EY
H b5

4. ADTEARBED  BER
AR~ BRI E RSB
7o

1.

DIRECTORS
A.1 THE BOARD

The Board is responsible to lead and control the
business operations of the Group. It formulates
strategic directions, oversees the operations and
monitors the financial performance of the Group.
The management manages the business of the
Group within the delegated power and authority by
the Board.

The functions of the Board are carried out either
directly or through Board Committees and some
of which have been delegated to the management
of the Company. The types of decisions which are

reserved to be taken by the Board include:

1. matters relating to conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a director of the

Company;

2. formulation of the Company’s policies relating
to the overall strategic direction and strategic
plans, key business and financial objectives,
dividend policy or entering into contract
involving significant capital acquisition or

expenditure;

3. financial controls, compliance and risk
management for the approval of annual
operating and capital expenditure budgets,
the Company’s financial statements, published
reports, price-sensitive announcements and
other disclosure required under the Listing

Rules or other statutory requirements;

4. changes to the Company’s capital structure,
including reductions of share capital, share

buy-backs or issue of new securities;

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



(a)

(b)

BT TRAR A2 RH
BHaE  RAIME RN E
Bl BEAREHER

EEREMESR I WEBE
LETITREREERERE
2 R HED:

HBHTBRER LR ERE R
REEIR: UK

B BERLHERAREE
ENEMBEEERABRMYZ
RRBEEERERM - B
HEFRX ST UREBIA
BHE (E) REEHZEE
MR E R BUR -

B R BT AR EEA
BOR R - A R E R
R

M REREERSAEEA
BBl RsBEXER

A MEERBEIT AREETIER
MEERETENBRES
M

EERERHRE
Corporate Governance Report

5. major appointments or removal to the Board,
the Chief Executive Officer, the Company’s
chief financial officer, company secretary and

external auditors;

6. changes to the terms of reference or
membership of any committee of the Board and
the authority delegated to the Chief Executive

Officer and the senior management;

7. matters exceed the authorities of the senior

management; and

8. the adoption, review and approval of changes
of the Corporate Governance Practical
Manual of the Company, the Code of Ethics
and Securities Transactions entered into
by the directors and other specified senior
management of the Group, group legal policy
(if any) and group system control and risk

management policy.

The terms of reference of the Board includes the

following:—

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of

directors and senior management;
(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies

and practices on compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements;
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(d) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any)

applicable to employees and directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with
the Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

The Board should be responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out above or it
may delegate the responsibility to a committee or

committees.

The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other save that Ms. Gigi Chao and Mr.
Howard Chao are the children of the Chairman.
When the Board considers any proposal or
transaction in which a Director has a conflict of
interest, he declares his interest and is required to

abstain from voting.
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BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, three full board meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each director is set out below:—

HEESSSHRE

Number of Board HER
BEEnE Name of Director Meetings attended Attendance rate
Mg Chao Sze Tsung Cecil 3/3 100%
HAZ Chao Gigi 3/3 100%
& Chao Howard 3/3 100%
fAIFHZ Ho Sau Fun Connie 3/3 100%
FRE Lee Ding Yue Joseph 3/3 100%
(UENE Lam Ka Wai Graham 3/3 100%
THE Ting Woo Shou Kenneth? 1/2 50%
N Sun Dai Hoe Harold 2/3 67 %
Fha= Lee Tsung Hei David Chris* - N EFAN/A

ER-_ZE-_MFE-_A=-+ BT
* R-E-_NENATLtBHEZT-EZRMET

7

BREE_ZT_MFERA=1TH KRBEHT

E3EREH

A2 EFRRATHRAR
ARAFEREREBELETRAUEFE R
TN S RAB TERF
— ARIRE - AEREFSFH
BEENE  EZBEERNF

féy o

# Resigned on 29 February 2024

*  Appointed on 17 June 2024. After his appointment as director
and upto 30 June 2024, there is no full board meeting was
held

A.2 CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has identified the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer under the Listing Rules
and understood that the two positions cannot
be performed by the same individual to ensure
that there is a clear division of responsibilities at
the board level to entail a balance of power and

authority.
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The Chairman is responsible for leadership of
the Board, for ensuring that the Board functions
effectively, and for ensuring communication of the
views of the Board to the public. In performing
this role, the Chairman’s responsibilities include
chairing meetings of the Board; ensuring the
board meetings receive accurate, complete,
timely and clear information concerning affairs
of the Company; ensuring constructive relations
between executive and non-executive directors;
formulating for discussion and decision, questions
which have been moved for the consideration of
the Board; ensuring that all directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at board meetings; acting
as liaison between the Board and management;
in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer
and the company secretary or his/her designated
delegates, drawing up and approving the agenda
for each board meeting taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by the
other directors for inclusion in the agenda; and at
least annually hold meetings with non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of the executive

directors.

The Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible
for recommending policy and strategic directions
for Board approval, implementing the strategies and
policies adopted by the Board and conducting the
day-to-day operation of the Company.

The Company currently cannot comply with the
requirement to separate the role of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer. We are, through different
channels, still looking for a suitable person to act as
Chief Executive Officer and with a hope to comply

with the requirement in the next financial year.
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A.3 BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board is chaired by Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil
(the “Chairman”). The Board comprises three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, one Non-
Executive Directors and four Executive Directors.
The names, biographical details of the directors
are set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 26 to the annual
report. All Independent Non-Executive Directors
and Non-Executive Directors bring a variety
of experience and expertise to the Company.
The Board includes a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) so that there
is an independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgment, and
that non-executive directors should be of sufficient

caliber and number for their views to carry weight.

The independent non-executive directors are
identified in all corporate communications that

disclose the names of the directors.

An updated list of directors of the Company
and their role and function is maintained on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong

Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Ad EECZZE -EBRESR A.4 APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
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OF DIRECTORS

The Company has entered into appointment letters
with all the directors of the Company. Pursuant to
such appointment letters, each of the directors of
the Company is not appointed on fixed term but
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company.
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, all newly appointed Directors (either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
Board) shall hold office only until the next annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into
account determining the Directors who are to retire

by rotation at such meeting.

The Board at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10A and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-Executive Directors with at
least one Independent Non-Executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management

expertise.

The Company has received from each of the
Independent Non-Executive directors an annual
written confirmation of his independence. The
Company considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent within the
definition of the Listing Rules. The Independent
Non-Executive Directors are explicitly identified in

all corporate communications.
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Independent non-executive director serving
more than 9 years could be relevant to the
determination of his independence. According to
Code Provision B.2.3 of Part 2 of Appendix CT1, if
an independent non-executive director serviced
more than 9 years, his further appointment should
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by the shareholders. The papers to shareholders
accompanying that resolution should state why the
Board believes that the director is still independent
and should be re-elected, including the factors

considered.

At the annual general meeting held on 22
November 2023, no independent non-executive

directors was subject to retirement.

Pursuant to Article 107 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, a shareholder can propose a person
for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting by giving the Company notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been
given to the Company at least seven days before
the date of the general meeting. The procedures
for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a Director are available and

accessible on the Company’s website.

In addition, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest one-third, shall retire from
office. The Directors to retire on every year shall be
those who have been longest in office since their
last election but as between persons who became
Directors on the same day those to retire shall be
determined by lot. The retiring Directors shall be

eligible for re-election.
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A5 REEEE A.5 NOMINATION COMMITTEE
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The Company has established a Nomination
Committee with specific terms of reference which
deals clearly with its authorities and duties. The
Nomination Committee currently consists of two
Independent Non-Executive Directors namely Mr.
Sun Dai Hoe Harold and Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David
Chris and one Executive Director namely Dr. Chao
Sze Tsung Cecil. Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil is the

Chairman of the Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are posted on the websites of the
Company (www.cheuknang.com.hk) and the Stock

Exchange.

The Nomination Committee will review the
structure, size and composition of the Board,
identify suitable candidates to the Board, and to
make recommendations on any matters in relation
to the appointment or re-appointment of members
of the Board and succession planning for director,
in particular, the chairman and the chief executive.
The Nomination Committee will also assess the
independence of independent non-executive
directors. Appointment of new Directors is reserved

for the Board’s approval.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee ensures that the Board comprises
members with mixed skills and experience with
appropriate knowledge necessary to accomplish the
Group’s business development, strategies, operation,
challenges and opportunities. The Nomination
Committee take into account of that person’s skill,
qualifications and expected contributions to the
Company before making any recommendations
to the Board in relation to the appointment or re-

appointment of members of the Board.
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NEZERENRRBAFRGER Where the board proposes a resolution to elect
—EARBIIFATES BREZ an individual as an independent non-executive
XHERDRBEREERR A A director at the general meeting, the papers sent to
RERR - BHREEREFERA shareholders accompanying that resolution prior
AR BELMEEREENIR to the general meeting already included the reason
° why the board believes he is independent and

should be re-elected.

RAREREEFGKEZ TILA1R The Company recognizes and embraces the
BRENEE - ERFIEFENE benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
e BEEBRERZERRED the quality of its performance. In designing the
BE (BETERR) HER - FiE - X Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been
ERHBEES  BELR MEX considered from a number of aspects, including but
PR S B - not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational

background, ethnicity, professional experience,

skills, knowledge and length of service.

EFTCRMNEETENE L LLK The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy
RIEFEREFEZ TN - setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.
BRI B HFEBERAT The individual attendance of each member is set
out below:
HEESEEERRY
Number of HE=R
BEEnS Name of Member meetings attended Attendance rate
=R Chao Sze Tsung Cecil 11 100%
TEE Ting Woo Shou Kenneth? 0 0%
N Sun Dai Hoe Harold 11 100%
ST Lee Tsung Hei David Chris* - TNERAN/A
8
# AR pmE— =+ B BT ? Resigned on 29 February 2024
¥ R -EoENA+HHBEEST S * Appointed on 17 June 2024. After his appointment as director
BEZE-_ZE-_NFENA=+H BHET and upto 30 June 2024, no Nomination Committee meeting
RAZERE: wis leld
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A6 EESEE A.6 RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
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Each newly appointed Director will be received
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to
ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Group and that he
is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

The Company provides regular updates relating
to the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory environments in which the Group

conducts its business to the Directors.

EHITEENREATE 2HES The functions of non-executive directors include
e S MR BUR - A8 participating in board meetings to bring an

KB -HEWE - -BR TE2ZER
BTEAIFEE L BHBEYE
R AERRBEN G REREE
BBl EER BRBLIIENERE
T FMHMEEE RERZBERE
WEREZEGKE  RiFlilnE#
TANKRRERZIREENEER
BB > WERERAFRIRA
E SR

independent judgement to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of
conduct; taking the lead where potential conflicts
of interests arise; serving on audit, remuneration,
nomination and other governance committee, if
invited and scrutinizing the issuer’s performance in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,

and monitoring performance reporting.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION
The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions
by directors of the Company. A copy of the
Model Code has been sent to each Director of the
Company. Also, formal written notices are sent
to the Directors one month before the date of the
Board meeting to approve the Company’s half-
year result and two months before the approval
of annual result, as a reminder that the Directors
cannot deal in the securities and derivatives of
the Company until after such results have been
published.

Under the Model Code, Directors of the Company
are required to notify the Chairman and receive
a dated written acknowledgement before dealing
in the securities and derivatives of the Company
and, in the case of the Chairman himself, he
must notify the Board and receive a dated written

acknowledgement before any dealing.

Having made specific enquiries, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code

throughout the accounting year under review.

Directors’ interests as at 30 June 2024 in the shares
of the Company and its subsidiaries (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance) are set out on page 130 to 132.
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Name and Title of Directors  Training received

B g, MERE HeAERENEHR
EZRIRRUNTES Review the updates on ESG reporting

Chao Sze Tsung Cecil,

Chairman of the Board and

Executive Director

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

There are also arrangements in place for providing
continuing briefing and professional development
to Directors at the Company’s expenses whenever

necessary.

The Company circulates details of training courses
which may be of interest to directors. All directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses

at the Company’s expense.

The Directors are committed to comply with
the Code Provision C.1.4 on Directors’ training.
All Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills and provide a record
of training they received for the year ended 30
June 2024 and up to the date of publication of this

annual report.

The individual training record of each Director
received for the year ended 30 June 2024 and up
to the date of publication of this annual report is

summarized below:

BRI E SRR Z KR
Training provider or source of

Fr BB (N E)

training materials Time spent (hour)

TEA 2
N/A

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



ESHERBE

Name and Title of Directors

B2
BTES
Chao Gigi, Executive Director

HAE

FHTES

Chao Howard,
Non-Executive Director

re=

FHTES

Lee Ding Yue Joseph
Non-Executive Director

g3

Training received

BE e RARRE LmRREN
Update of listing rules on ESG reporting

BREBANRIKTY  FHER
Stock-taking Hong Kong's Climate Action:
Business Progress

(ERBE( BeRBBTRNTEEE
BER)  (THEEHABEES : OTCR)
RORBRBTRERTHFERRRTE)
“Fintech (New Partnership with Financial
Institutions)”, “Compliance Policy Focus in
the Second Half of the Year: OTCR” and
“Global Stock Market Outlook and Focus
Sector Deployment in the Second Half of the
Year”

(FBTERELRRH D) FESERNIR
ERRRNRMBEALEMEEHERMT)IR
(IBXAEIBcE] eRRBRAERAR
RHGAEE)

“Latest Update on Major Regulatory
Developments and Other Regulatory
Observations on Combating Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing”
and “Integrity Lecture for Financial Services
Managers on “How Professional Integrity
Wins”

EEMERERZENAHRENBN
BB

Knowledge, Practical Skill that Directors
and Management should Manage for Debt
Financing

EEERRAR/RE HEAERREL
REENERER

Pragmatic guide for boards to turn climate/
ESG risks into opportunities

BERHH

Finance for Directors

EERERHRE
Corporate Governance Report

RS IE SR AR 2 KR
Training provider or source of
training materials

EHESCRBEE N
Deloitte ESG Thought Leadership

BEREZEE
Business Environment Council

BEEREWHE

Hong Kong Securities Association

BREEREHE

Hong Kong Securities Association

BREESEE
The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

BrERSE
The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

EHEELE
The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

Fir B (0 B)

Time spent (hour)

1.5

2.5

2.5
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EEHERBE

Name and Title of Directors

WE B

BUFHTES

Lam Ka Wai Graham,
Independent Non-Executive
Director

BAR

BUFHTES

Sun Dai Hoe, Harold
Independent Non-Executive

Director

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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Training received

BREE LT AREARIAMRE
Uncovering the Process of Auditor Change of
Hong Kong Listed Companies

BRRE HERABRENSNBLENR
EEE

Discover the latest trends and best practices
in ESG reporting

BARFEBRY BRRER SRR
£

Hong Kong Perennial Legal Series: Hong
Kong Connected Transaction Rules and
Cases

SRERDNARIE - EFLABKI TH
F61

Compliance of Regulated Activity - Type 6
under SFO

REGR(RAME  aftRERHEESTAD
REEBINFEAGRNEN

An update on SFC’s consultation conclusions
on proposed amendments to the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buybacks

RARBRFMRARETAFHER
Update on Corporate Governance and
Review of Issuers” Annual Reports

BIZREMAERRE  HELAE
GEM Listing Reforms & ESG

MERR HEAERENEH
Review the updates on ESG reporting

RASEIE SRR 2 KR
Training provider or source of
training materials

SERBARAF

Tricor Services Limited

SERBARAF

Tricor Services Limited

BB R 2R
Mr. Daniel Wan, Solicitor

EEEHMSBMERLH
Vision & Co. CPA Limited

5 BB R EA S BT
Eversheds Sutherland

EEeHMEBMERAR
Vision & Co. CPA Limited

A SCREE B
Angela Ho & Associates

TiEH
N/A

Fr BB (M B)

Time spent (hour)

1.5

2.5
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Name and Title of Directors

%%
HOIEERAAWE
Ho Sau Fun Connie,
Executive Director and

Company Secretary

g3

Training received

A BB QAL BRI EN R MR
Incorporating Hong Kong Companies and
Preparing for CR’s New Measures

(TR)EFARMAENTE
The Governance implications of (Bad)
Director’s Decisions

ETRAIESCHE R EM ETRAIEH
Paperless Regime for Listed Companies and
Other Listing Rules Updates

feERTEE LR RENRIT
Leaning from Mistakes: Listing Rules
Compliance and Enforcement

EENBERNBREEK  EREEHEMN
REAERERER

Mastering Internal Controls and
Whistleblowing Policy: Navigating
Regulatory Regimes and Best Practices for
Corporate Governance

MARETABERNEE
Leveraging Technology for Internal Control
and Investigation

REERERZ  BRENITEAER
Advising Families: Bringing together the
Internal and External

EERERHRE
Corporate Governance Report

1R fR35 B 2 SR B AT B2 R
Training provider or source of

Fir B (0 B)

training materials Time spent (hour)

BEERRRELE 15
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

BELNFDRERE 1.5
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

EBRARELNE 15
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

EEDNRRELNS 15
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

BEERARELE 15
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

BELFDRERE 1.5
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

EBRARELNE 15
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute
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EEHERBE

Name and Title of Directors

FEE

BAUFNTES

Lee Tsung Hei David Chris,
Independent Non-Executive

Director

Pl

Training received

i

REMEEBIRI RS RAERE : T
HIEM

Company Secretarial Practical Training

%

/

Series: Share Capital and Capital Raising:
Practice and Application

EMRAERRERS (F—6: F135
-REEB)

Listing Rules Foundation Courses Series
(Session One: Chapter 13 - Continuing
Obligations)

MERE HEABRENENR
Review the updates on ESG reporting

RASEIE SRR 2 KR
Training provider or source of
training materials

BERERELE
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

ERONEIN=EE YN
The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute

& A
N/A

Fr BB (M B)

Time spent (hour)

RBE_ZT-_FEA=THIF
B PTESRARWEMNEFSL
TEER EHRAIFE329EETH
D5 Z R R EIE -

During the year ended 30 June 2024, Ms. Ho
Sau Fun Connie, an Executive Director and the
Company Secretary, has undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training in

compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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A.7 SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Directors may attend meetings in person,
by phone or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s

Articles of Association.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given
before each regular meeting. According to the
Company’s Articles of Association, a Director may
waive notice of any meeting and any such waiver

may be prospective or retrospective.

An agenda and accompanying board papers
were sent to all directors at least 3 days before
the intended date of board or board committee

meeting.

The directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures, and all applicable rules and

regulations, are followed.

The Company Secretary prepares written
resolutions or minutes and keeps records of matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all Board and

Board Committee meetings.

The Board and Board Committee minutes/
resolutions are sent to all Directors/Board
Committee members within a reasonable time after
each Board and Board Committee meeting and
are available for inspection by Directors/Board

Committee members.
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A.8

Minutes record in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board/Board Committees and

decisions reached.

The Directors are given an opportunity to comment
on draft Board minutes. Final version of Board
minutes is placed on record within a reasonable

time after the Board meeting.

Directors have been advised that the Company
Secretary can arrange independent professional
advice at the expense of the Company should such

advice be considered necessary by any Director.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of
written resolutions so that all Directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) can note
and comment, as appropriate, the matters before

approval is granted.

The Board having considered the attendance
records of the Directors is satisfied that each
Director spends sufficient time performing his

responsibilities.

TERMS OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the Code requires every
director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years, which is in line
with the provision of the Company’s Articles of
Association. Three out of the four non-executive
directors have remunerated at HK$71,266 per year
and the remaining has remunerated at HK$171,300

per year.
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2. BEENESHMEEAENEMME 2. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
EEESTZ SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD
EVALUATION

B.1 HFENZES B.1 REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

RRAEKRIFMEE S RARAN
EEMeBRMEMERNEEE

RHEER -

FNEEERAE=(KE  BEMm
BV IFATTESEMREELE - &
AEFAER—IHITEFEL DL
o BRREEERZTBEEXRE -

FEZEenBERED THEHRA
N 72 48 B (www.cheuknang.com.hk)
NGRS P2 A8 E o

FWEZEETBRRAENTASES
BARRBEEERAKEEERMNE
EERE 2 H MR ERE - L5
WRAAAREESRHER -EF
SR EMBEATHES TR
Bl 2 RK - EFHIES BIEH
T FEALRRIRE - HEOKFET2
EEBREEZHEFRANM  REMK

The Company has established a Remuneration
Committee to advise the Company on the directors’
remuneration policy and other remuneration related

matters.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprised
of three members includes two Independent
Non-Executive Directors namely Mr. Lam Ka
Wai Graham, Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold and one
Executive Director namely Dr. Chao Sze Tsung
Cecil. Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold is the Chairman of

the Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are posted on the websites of the
Company (www.cheuknang.com.hk) and the Stock

Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is primary
responsible for formulating and making
recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structuring the remuneration of
the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group. No Directors or any
of his associates is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The remuneration package of the
Directors includes salary, bonus and pension. The
remuneration level is determined by reference
to the expertise, performance and experience

possessed by each Director.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at
least once a year or as requested by the director

responsible for resources function.
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FNEZEEERERREELE (£
fE) Mt BEEIRMREBEER
BB -FR FHEEEEEN_
T_MF_ABRTER  EEHE
EREBRITBABTMH  RE-ZT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETING

The Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Sun Dai Hoe
Harold as Chairman and Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil and
Mr. Lam Ka Wai Graham as members. During the year,
Remuneration Committee meetings were held in February

2024 which reviewed the salary package of the Directors

—ENAEMFETEEZTMBEE  and Senior Management and in June 2024 which reviewed
SEEZME - the salary package of the newly appointed independent
non-executive director Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David Chris.
EXEBNEFESBUWT - The individual attendance of each member is set out below:
HESB R

Number of H fE =&
REAH Name of Member meetings attended Attendance rate
MR B Lam Ka Wai Graham 2/2 100%
e Chao Sze Tsung Cecil 2/2 100%
BAR=x Sun Dai Hoe Harold 2/2 100%

3. BEREZHE

C.1 B ER

EEERAZEFG RIS EE
NER  EEEGUUBRERGAM
PHOENT B R EMER - (FLE
RENE: EEERBARNES
SRERHMEFNER - HINBAN
RAMEKRR - WHRARARHRQ
IE R 5 A HE R 0 RF A

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
C.1 FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Management provide sufficient explanation
and information to the board to enable it to
make an informed assessment of financial and
other information put before it for approval. All
members of the board are provided with monthly
updates giving and balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient details to enable the

board and each director to discharge their duties.
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C.2

EEERBE
Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for the preparation of the financial statements of
the Company and ensure that they are prepared
in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of such financial
statements.

The statement of the external auditor of
the Company with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial
statements is set out in the Report of the Auditor on

pages 136 to 145.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made
specific enquiries of all directors, they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has the responsibility to review annually
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. In 2024, the Board, through
the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and

financial reporting functions.
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Risk management is defined as the continuing
process to identify, analyse, evaluate, and treat loss
exposures and monitor risk control and financial
resources to mitigate the adverse effects of loss.
Risk Appetite is the amount of risk that the Board
and the management are willing to accept in the

pursuit of the Group’s value.

Risk Management Approach
The Group adopts a “Top-Down” approach in

the Group’s risk management framework which
the Board, the Audit Committee, the senior
management and the department heads exercise
strong oversight on the establishment and

maintenance of the risk management policy.

Risk Governance Structure

The Group’s risk governance structure consists of

the following parties:

i. The Board of Directors
— evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in

achieving the Group’s strategic objectives;

— oversee management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk

management systems on an ongoing basis;

— ensure that a review of effectiveness of
the Group’s and its subsidiaries’ risk
management system has been conducted
at least annually and report to shareholder
that it has done so in Corporate

Governance Report.
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ii. The Audit Committee

review the Group’s risk management

systems;

discuss the risk management systems with
management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective

systems;

consider major investigation findings on
risk management matters as delegated
by the board or on its own initiative and

management’s response to these findings.

iii. Senior Management

identify corporate risks;

review of corporate risks and mitigating

actions;

consider risks when making decisions;

articulate risk appetite when making

decisions.

iv. Department Head

identify risks to the achievement of their
unit’s business plan which might also
be corporate risks, and to advise senior
management and Board of Directors of

such risks;

identify any relevant mitigating actions, to
include these within their unit’s business
plan, and to ensure the objective of

business plan is achieved;

be alert to other risks that might develop.
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V.

All Staffs
— be alert to possible corporate risks and
report the risks that they have identified to

their managers.

The Group’s risk management process comprises 4

core stages:

(1)

Risk identification

Each of the head of department is responsible
to identify potential risks that affect the Group
through assessing the market, competition
environment and the daily operations by
considering the risks relating to their processes.
The risks are then recorded into the risk
register, which serves to summarize the risks of
the Group as a whole by four risk categories,
namely reporting, operational, strategic and

compliance risk.

The risk register is submitted to the internal
audit function and the Audit Committee for

review upon completion.

The identification process is performed
annually to respond to the changing business
environment and to determine whether
adjustment is required for the risk identification

result.

Risk Assessment and Prioritization

(2.1) Risk Assessment
A common set of assessment criteria is
deployed across departments to assess
the risks in terms of likelihood and
consequences. The head of departments
are required to assign the ratings on the
likelihood and the consequences of the risks
in accordance with the assessment criteria.

The rating applied ranges from 1 to 5.
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(2.2) Risk Prioritization

Risks are prioritized in descending order
after the overall ratings are calculated. The
design of risk mitigation plan is based on
the risk prioritization and the details of the
plan are described in “(3) Risk Response”

sections.

(2.3) Assessment Criteria

The assessment criteria is determined by
the management and approved by the
Board.

(3) Risk Response
(3.1) Risk Mitigation Plan

Each department head is responsible to
formulate the risk mitigation plan upon the

completion of risk prioritization.

The risk mitigation plan includes the

following sections:

(i) Risk Identified
The Group will list out the top 10 risks
in descending order by using result
from the risk assessment. Description
of the risks and the impact of the risks
are required to be included under this

section.
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(ii) Risk mitigation plan
In the midst of the design of the
risk mitigation action, management
needs to consider the impact and the
vulnerability of the risks, and select
the most appropriate measure to

respond to the risks. The following

ZrER R LA K 8 reference table summarizes the
TF B [ 4% fR T i B R types of the risk responses and the
AeER circumstances to be adopted upon the
formulation of the risk mitigation:
[ B AR Y EERANER
Type of Risk Responses Circumstances to be adopted
%% RieERBAETEEN  WAERBAIKFEZA -
Acceptance Risks are considered as immaterial and it is within the risk
acceptance level.
e [EBR R R R E B A - 12 HE b BT DA A R b B AR B AT 2 XX B9 K
Reduction o
Risks are considered as material, and controls are available
to reduce the risks to an acceptable level.
H*= FEBHRBEAEE - ARAEAKRRGEZE R ZSKF -
Sharing B Z\ﬁﬂ}'“?ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂziﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁ/\%
Risks are considered as material, and the Group is not able
to reduce the risks to an acceptable level solely. The portion
of risks has to be transferred to or shared with other parties.
g [R5 R A E - BT BEA — B B 77 SRR A 3 R A K
Avoidance o ERRBEENAIEREAK TR ENS RN SR
Risks are considered as material, and the risks cannot be
reduced to an acceptable level by all means, or it requires
unreasonably high cost to reduce the risks to an acceptable
level.
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(3.2)Reporting to those charged with
Governance After department heads
submit the risk register and risk mitigation
plans to senior management for review,
the senior management will perform the
consolidation of the risk register and the
risk mitigation plans, thereafter report to
the Board and the Audit Committee.

(4) Risk Monitoring
(4.1) Daily Monitoring
The department heads are responsible to
implement and monitor the risk mitigation
plan, and review its effectiveness since

implementation.

(4.2) Annual Review Reporting A report, which
summarises the monitoring activities
during the year and the risk mitigation
results, is prepared by each responsible
department annually, and submitted to

senior management for review.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy
to provide the general guideline on handling
confidential information, monitoring of information
disclosure and response to queries to its directors,
officers, senior management and the relevant
employees. The Company has executed supervision
programs to confirm the strict prohibition
from unauthorized access to and use of inside

information.
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C.3

The Group does not have an internal audit function
as the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the Group’s business. The situation will be

reviewed from time to time.

The Board also contracted Grant Thornton
Advisory Services Limited to conduct the risk
management and internal control reviews of the
financial reporting & disclosure controls, revenue
management and inventory management for
the year ended 30 June 2024. The reports were
distributed to the Audit Committee and the Board

for their review.

the Board

considered the Group’s risk management and

For the year ended 30 June 2024,

internal control system as adequate and effective
and that the Company has complied with the code

provisions on internal control of the Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises of two
independent non-executive directors and one
non-executive director, Lam Ka Wai
Graham, Mr. Lee Ding Yue Joseph and Mr. Sun
Dai Hoe Harold. Mr.

chairman of the Audit Committee. The composition

namely Mr.

Lam Ka Wai Graham is the

and members of the Audit Committee complies
with the requirements under Rule 3.21 to the

Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are posted on the websites of the Company

(www.cheuknang.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange.
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The main function of the Audit Committee is to
assist the Board to oversee the financial report
system, risk management and internal control
procedures and the external audit functions. The
Audit Committee annually assesses the appointment
of the external auditor, taking into account the
quality and rigor of the audit, the quality of the
auditor service provided, the audit firm’s quality
control procedures, relationships between the
external auditors and the Company and the

independence of the external auditors.

As required by Code Provision D.2.6, details of
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
and other matters have been included in the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee in February
2012.

No member of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company
during the one year after he/she ceases to be a

partner of the auditing firm.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING
During the year, two Audit Committee meetings
were held in September 2023 and February 2024

FA - BHRBER-T_=ZFA
ARZZTZPNF = ATEINERZ ERAD

HETRTMAE:E  SKEHNHE with the presence of the external auditors. The

JEEFIBWT individual attendance of each member is set out
below:
HESEAE

Number of HER
REAH Name of Member meetings attended Attendance rate
e Lam Ka Wai Graham 2/2 100%
FRE Lee Ding Yue Joseph 2/2 100%
BARAx Sun Dai Hoe Harold 2/2 100%

B ZEeEBHARTRMNZE
HRAIREE - WEEIRE S RN
BRI - BA TS E B IE A S AZ BLAD
BH) o REEANARMBEREK T
BEE &EEgE2E_T_=
FH+ZA=t+—BLANEAZHH
¥BBRERBE T _MNFENA
STHEZRERUBERRIETES
ZREMNZEEL - ROEFE -
EEgHBERLZEGUELERR
ZHENEZEMATEEBEER S
I o

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
procedure and policies adopted by the Company
and discussed with management and the external
auditors regarding the internal controls and
financial reporting matters. To monitor the integrity
of the financial statements of the Company, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the interim report
for the six months ended 31 December, 2023, the
audited financial statements for the year ended 30
June, 2024 before their submission to the Board.
There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditors during the

year under review.
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4. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
D.1 INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance relationship
and communication with its investors. Detailed
information about the Company’s performance and
activities is provided in the annual report and the
interim report which are sent to shareholders. The
Company maintains close communications with
investors analysts, fund managers and the media by
individual interviews and meetings. The Group also
responds to requests for information and queries
from the investors in an informative and timely
manner. The Board also welcomes the views of
shareholders on matters affecting the Group and
encourages them to attend shareholders’” meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with

the Board or senior management directly.

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy which was posted in the
Company’s website and of the Stock Exchange.
The Company establishes different communication

channels with shareholders and investors, including:
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(i) printed copies of corporate communications
(including but not limited to annual reports,
interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars
and proxy forms) required under the Listing
Rules, and shareholders can choose (or are
deemed to have consented) to receive such
documents using electronic means through the

Company’s website;

(ii) the annual general meeting provides a forum
for shareholders to raise comments and

exchange views with the Board;

(iii) updated and key information on the Group
is available on the website of the Company

(www.cheuknang.com.hk);

(iv) the Company’s website offers a communication
channel between the Company and its

shareholders;

(v) the Company’s Registrar deals with shareholders

for share registration and related matters; and

(vi) the Company Secretary of the Company
handles enquiries from shareholders and

investors generally.

The annual general meeting is used as an
opportunity to communicate with all shareholders.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual
general meetings for which a notice would be
served with at least 20 clear business days. For
all other general meetings, notice will be sent to
shareholders with at least 10 clear business days.
The Chairman and/or Directors are available to
answer questions on the Group’s business at the
meetings. At general meetings, separate resolutions
are proposed on each substantially separate issue
such as the election of individual directors and re-

appointment of auditors.
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Details of poll voting procedures and the rights
of shareholders to demand a poll is included in a
circular to shareholders accompanied the annual
report. The circular also includes relevant details
on proposed resolutions, and biographies of each

candidates standing for re-election.

The constitutional document of the Company
was posted in the Company’s website and of the
Stock Exchange. There has not been change in the

constitutional document during the year.

At the 2023 annual general meeting of the
Company, the external auditors and all directors
were attended to answer the questions from the
shareholders. The Chairman of the meeting has
explained the detailed procedures for conducting a

poll, and answered questions from shareholders.

The Chairman of the meeting exercised his power
under the Company’s Articles of Association to put
each resolution set out in the notice to be voted by
way of a poll. Representatives of the Share Registrar
of the Company were appointed as scrutineers to
monitor and count the poll votes cast at the 2023
annual general meeting. Since the Company’s 2009
annual general meeting, all the resolutions put to
vote at the Company’s general meetings were taken
by poll. Poll results were posted on the websites of

the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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5. COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms Ho Sau Fun Connie, is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities
are efficiently and effectively conducted. These
objectives are achieved through adherence to proper
Board procedures and the timely preparation and
dissemination of meeting agendas and papers to the
Directors. Minutes of all meeting of the Board and the
Board committees are prepared and maintained by
the Company Secretary to record in sufficient details
the matters considered and decisions reached by the
Board or the Board Committee. All minutes are sent to
the Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that
the Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory
and corporate governance developments relating to the
Group and that it takes these into consideration when

making decisions for the Group.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible
for seeking to ensure the Group’s compliance with
all obligations under the Listing Rules and The Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases,
including the preparation, publication and dispatch of
annual reports and interim reports within the time limits
set out in the Listing Rules and the timely dissemination

of the same to the Shareholders.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the
Directors on their obligations for disclosures of interests
and dealings in the Group’s securities, connected
transactions and price-sensitive information and ensures
that the standard and disclosures required by the Listing
Rules are observed and, where required, reflected in the

annual report of the Company.
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The appointment and removal of the Company is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company. All members of
the Board have access to the advice and service of the

Company Secretary.

Ms. Ho Sau Fun Connie was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company in February 1996 and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. Ms. Ho
Sau Fun Connie has confirmed, following specific
enquiry made by the Company that she has complied
with all the qualifications, experience and training

requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below are procedures by which Shareholders
may: (1) calling for extraordinary general meeting;
(2) putting forward enquiries to the Board and (3)
putting forward proposals at general meetings. These
procedures are generally governed by the provisions of
the Company’s Articles of Association and applicable
laws, rules and regulations, which prevail over what is

stated in this section in case of inconsistencies.
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Calling for Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “CQO”), registered
shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least
5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having a right to vote at general meetings may
request to call an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”) of the Company. The request (a) must
state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting, (b) must be signed by
the requisitionist(s), and (c) must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company (the
“Registered Office”) at Suite 4901, 49/F., Central
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for the attention of the Company Secretary. If the
resolution is to be proposed as a special resolution,
the request should include the text of the resolution
and specify the intention to propose the resolution
as a special resolution. The request may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one

or more requisitionist(s).

The Directors must call an EGM within 21 days
from the date of the deposit of the valid request.
Such meeting should be held on a date not more
than 28 days after the date of the notice convening
the meeting. If the Directors fail to call the EGM
as aforesaid, the requisitionist(s), or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves call the
EGM. The EGM must be called for a date not more
than 3 months after the date of the deposit of the
request. Any reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) by reason of the failure of the
Directors duly to call an EGM shall be reimbursed

to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the
Board through the Company Secretary who will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling. The
contact details of the Company Secretary are as

follows:

The Company Secretary

Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited
Suite 4901, 49/F., Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: info@cheuknang.com.hk or
connieho@cheuknang.com.hk

Tel No.: (852) 2526 7799

Fax No.: (852) 2521 7728

Shareholders can also contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investors Services Limited, the share registrar
of the Company, if they have any enquiries about

their shareholdings.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at

General Meetings by Shareholders

Circulation of shareholders’ statement

Under the CO, registered shareholder(s) of the
Company representing at least 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders who have a
relevant right to vote, or at least 50 shareholders
who have a relevant right to vote may request
the Company to circulate to shareholders of the
Company entitled to receive notice of a general
meeting a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution or other business to be dealt with at that

meeting.

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR

77



78

TERERHRE
Corporate Governance Report

ERE2F@QEHEZFARE
(b) R X RE M =5 - WA AR
ARRAME - (BELK TER
2Bt E - R(d)ENEZFERN
SR AHEL7HAIREARLDA -

HEZFABENSEBARARRE
BERE  AMERERNAERK
NRAEHRELENZFE  EARQF]
ABEHREBENRE @ BEMEAR
BRAUE 2 XX - RIE R IR &
WERBERZFEAXMN - BRI
EREMAAREZFAXN  BAR
NERAREETHE7EARAR
AR — R R AR
NAREHRRRAEMELEZE
R BRIEAR DB ZITIRGE ©

BEHRFRBAFRAERER
RIBATHES - (hEBAERERES
FAEECRRBFRE ERAESR
RAZBRRBBRARERD2.5%
ZARNFEFRRR KA EEZEE
AzRRBAFREG FRBRRE
Z 508 RE - A ERKARFM
ERWEBRRBFRGBEZAR
AIREBEHBRIASG LR IAE
RzimE e

The request (a) must be signed by the
requisitionist(s), (b) must be deposited at the
Registered Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary, (c) must identify the statement to
be circulated, and (d) must be received by the
Company at least 7 days before the meeting to

which it relates.

The expenses of circulating shareholders’ statement
need not be paid by the requisitionist(s) if the
meeting to which the requests relate is an annual
general meeting of the Company; and requests
sufficient to require the Company to circulate
the statement are received in time to enable the
Company to send a copy of the statement at
the same time as it gives notice of the meeting.
Otherwise, such expenses must be paid by the
requisitionist(s); and there is deposited with or
tendered to the Company, not later than 7 days
before the meeting, a sum reasonable sufficient
to meet such expenses in doing do, unless the

Company resolves otherwise.

Circulation of resolution for annual general meeting
Under the CO, registered shareholder(s) of the
Company representing at least 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the members who have a right
to vote on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate, or at least
50 shareholders who have a right to vote on the
resolution at the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate, may request the Company
to give, to shareholders of the Company entitled
to receive notice of the annual general meeting,
notice of a resolution that is intended to be moved

at that meeting.
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The request (a) must be signed by the
requisitionist(s), (b) must be deposited at the
Registered Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary, (c) must identify the resolution of which
notice is to be given, and (d) must be received
by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before
the annual general meeting to which the requests
relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is

given of that meeting.

The Company must send a copy of the notice of a
resolution at the Company’s own expense to each
shareholder entitled to receive notice of the annual

general meeting.

Nomination of a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 107 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, a shareholder can propose a person
for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting by giving the Company notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected at least seven days
before the date of the general meeting. The period
for lodgment of such notices shall commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of

such general meeting.
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Circulation of Written Resolution

Under the CO, registered shareholder(s) of the
Company representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders entitled to
vote on the resolution, may request the Company
to circulate a proposed written resolution to its
shareholders. The requisitionist(s) may also request
the Company to circulate with the proposed written
resolution a statement of not more than 1,000

words in respect of the resolution.

The request (a) must be signed by the
requisitionist(s), (b) must be deposited at the
Registered Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary, and (c) must identify the resolution and

any statement to be circulated.

The Company must send a copy of the proposed
written resolution and statement (if any) at the
Company’s own expense to every shareholder not
more than 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the valid request. The Company must ensure
that the copy of proposed written resolution is
accompanied by guidance as to how to signify
agreement to the resolution and the day by which

the resolution must be passed.

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS’ AND
OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES

During the year, the Company has arranged for the
renewal of an insurance policy on directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
the Directors and officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the

Group.
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8.

EERERHRE
Corporate Governance Report

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees paid or payable to external
auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited, was approximately HK$780,000 for statutory
audit services rendered to the Group. The Group
has also engaged external auditor to perform non-
audit services and the fee paid was approximately
HK$150,000.

The Group also appointed other external auditors
for the statutory audit purposes of certain overseas
subsidiaries and their remuneration for audit services

rendered was approximately HK$84,000.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Environmental Policy

Our commitment to protect the environment is well
reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in all business practices. The
Group has introduced a green policy to enhance the
awareness of environmental protection among staff with
the aims of saving energy, fully utilizing resources and

recycling wastes in daily office operation.

For the past years, the Group had undertaken initiatives
to reduce paper usage including usage of electronic
devices, and encouraging the use of websites and
online version of corporate communications. To reduce
the power consumption, lighting and equipment will be
turned off when not in use. Our Group is using office
equipment carries Energy Label issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department which save the

energy in the offices.
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10.

Community Involvement

We encourage our employees to spend more time with
their families and engage in volunteer work in their free
time. The focus areas of contribution have been poverty
alleviation, education, environmental recycling, and the
arts. The senior management of the Group endeavours
to lead the way through example by regularly
contributing time, supplies, and financial resources to

charitable work.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognizes that our employees,
customers and business associates are keys to our
sustainability journey. We strive to achieve corporate
sustainability through engaging our employees,
providing quality services for our customers,
collaborating with business partners and supporting our
community. The Company provides a fair workplace,
promoting non-discrimination and diversity to our staff,
together with competitive remuneration and benefits, as
well as a range of opportunities for career advancement
based on employees’ merits and performance. The
Company provides subsidy to staff for trainings to keep
them abreast of the latest developments in the market

and industry.
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BOARD STATEMENT
On behalf of the Group, our Board of Directors (the
“Board”) is pleased to present the 2023/24 ESG Report
of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited,

performance in the areas of sustainable, operational

in reporting our

responsibility, environmental protection, employee care and
community for the financial year from 1 July 2023 to 30
June 2024.

With the rising challenges of the current macroeconomic
situation, and the increased market competition in the
post pandemic era, our stakeholders are more concerned
than ever about our ESG performance and growth. The
Board endeavours to support the Group’s commitment in
incorporating sustainable development into our business,
and have overall responsibility for formulating strategies,
monitoring and managing ESG-related risks, as well as
ensuring the effectiveness of ESG risk management and
internal control systems. The management is responsible for
the implementation of ESG initiatives and the measurements
of the corresponding sustainability performance, while
the Board takes responsibility for reviewing, examining
and approving the Group’s ESG report to ensure its
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and alliance
with our vision. The Board will continuously review its
business strategy and its internal sustainability policy, and
communicate the Group’s annual sustainability performance

in a responsible manner to ensure that its environmental and

social impacts are reviewed and minimized.
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We hold value to all stakeholders’ interests, and formulate
relevant strategies and other plans for sustainable
development based on our stakeholders’ views and
expectations. We continue to identify key sustainability
topics to both the Group and its stakeholders based on the
ESG Reporting Guide and existing communication channels.
Subsequently, we assess the materiality matrix by ranking
the key topics according to its total scores through our
quantitative analysis and the results are reviewed by the

Board.

Based on the set goals and targets, the Group will continue
its effort in collecting opinions from all stakeholders, keep
improving its ESG reporting and promote ESG development,
and ultimately build a more sustainable business and create

long-term value for the Group and the community.

ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT
Objective

Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries (“Cheuk

Nang”, “the Group”, “We") is pleased to present the ESG
report (the “Report”), which summarized the ESG initiatives
and accomplishments of the Group during the Reporting
Year, in order to allow our stakeholders to understand the
progress and direction of the sustainable development of the

Group.

Reporting Scope and Boundaries

This report covers the period from 1 July 2023 to 30 June
2024 (the “Reporting Year”, “FY2023/24"”), which is in
conformity with the Group’s financial year. This report
focuses on the Group’s management approach, performance
and measures in respect of the environmental, social and
governance aspects. The reporting scope covered our major
business operations, including our property development
and investment, and provision of property management and
related services located in the Hong Kong Head Office for

the Reporting Year.
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REIRIE HENEARSAHHEMAZEIE The source of data in preparing the ESG report is primarily
FTEXBAAIBELRM  LARHBTEEX based on the internal policies and documents, as well as
EREMEREOEN - e @ #E 5= information provided by various key stakeholders. Cheuk
HEWAREEE He@EEKREA=MH Nang will continue to optimise its data collection and
M2 EEWRENMERSE  WESLSEAHE reporting system over the three aspects: environmental
EHE RaNERE2E@2&2®EME - management, social responsibility and governance, and

gradually expand the disclosure scope to improve the

quality and comprehensiveness of the report in the long

term.

BE ¥R R A Reporting Principles
KREDREBETEHASRXHFIABR AR This Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
(f B2 FT ) 7 %im%ﬁﬂ'JWﬁCZﬁﬁﬁZ(i& Guide contained in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing
HERERAMERESDREE  §EHF the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
]I?BZ EEAEEIRE 4 & REAME 2 Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), for the purpose of
BEAREFENBERENIEE  UKHEFHARE identifying and making disclosure of the material matters
ErEEMmAEERRENRBEITLEEE - and key performance indicators in relation to the Group’s
ABRECHR -_ZE-_MFENLA - +PHBELKLE ESG and promoting the full implementation of sustainable
FeEMH  ERLHE - development and social responsibilities by the Group. The
report was reviewed, confirmed and approved by the Board
on 24 September 2024.

RBENNPEFTAEITETHEAERE | The disclosure in this report complies with the “comply
FoBBETIEEM] - [21] - [F#&I KX or explain” requirements by following the reporting
[—H M WERERE - BERFIYZEE principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and
RFRBAIERE L OJE - MBELRE X - “consistency”. Please refer to the table below for our

understanding and response to such reporting principles.
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BE2%

Materiality

g1t

Quantitative

F &

Balance

— 3t

Consistency

BRERBSEFTET @%ﬂﬁi\%&,ﬁ\ﬂﬁﬁ
MEELZEEXENRE HELREREH-

The Report should contain the ESG
issues determined by the board that are
sufficiently important to investors and other

stakeholders.

HERAAAENAREEREYIER &
* RE HENEABRLEE RGNS
ARG K RE - BCBEREMSHAA - B
HAMEFE THEEENELTRELR
IR -
The Report should disclose key performance
indicators in ways that can be measured so
that the effectiveness of ESG policies and
management systems can be evaluated and
validated. Quantitative information should
be accompanied by a narrative, explaining
its purpose, impacts and giving comparative
data where appropriate.
BEERENR T EHE2REMANKE - B
AREE MR E M EREEERRIH B
EE AR ZHRBA -
The Report should provide an unbiased
picture of our performance. The Report
should avoid selections, omissions,
or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or
judgment by the Report reader.
BEBERA—BOEBERA IS SRE &
EREGBEBERRAEFARENLE -
The Report should use consistent
methodologies to allow for meaningful

comparisons of ESG data over time.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4

RPEFNHEBE AT HMIPEEA
SEHREENRLT  YOETEEM
aFfh o ARBRIE NS e

We communicated with our
stakeholders to understand their
concerns relating to sustainability
issues and conducted materiality
assessment to identify the material
topics.

BRPIEAEBO XX - BB MG ER
PR EARENIER  ELLERNULT
EoBEEEYUAREATNEEN - £
N TEEESE -

We disclosed key performance
indicators, quantitative information
and the methodology from the
Group’s documents, data and
statistics. The Board is responsible

for the authenticity, accuracy and
completeness of the content of this
report.

BB BRRBBERNRE AWEK T
RRBRR o R TR E e

We aimed to keep balanced and
unbiased manner by disclosing both
achievements and challenges in this

report.

BAER—BONTTE  BREMSA L
1 SEPTEITEVEAI BN R R -
We adopted consistent methodologies
to ensure the comparability of the

information and with explanations for

any changes made.
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EREMGIAERMRENERE - TRET
SREMHEMNNEZRNENRNERET -
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EP - EPRBRR
- EmLBBEE
- RBEEEREFRLER
Customers - Customer service hotline
- Products and service quality
- Opinions through email and

telephone calls

E& - 88

Stakeholder Engagement

Cheuk Nang believes understanding and taking actions
to tackle key stakeholders’ concerns and expectations is
the goal to achieve sustainable development. The Group
actively communicates with key stakeholders through
different communication channels in order to ensure
comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders could be
effectively and timely addressed. The following table shows
the expectations and concerns of the major stakeholders
as identified by Cheuk Nang, and the corresponding

management responses.

- BfE - BRETAVEL HUREERPHZREN: R
- BERBRER - BERHBERBRER BERREFREE

- Integrity - Ensuring contractual obligations are in

- High quality services and place to protect customers’ benefits and

Employees

i1 P RAEDS
RERREE?
7588

Conferences

Training, seminars and briefing

sessions

Occupational health and
safety

Equal Opportunities

products rights; and
- Maximizing customers’ satisfaction by
providing high quality services and
products.
- AXER® - IEBFRERERZ
- BEEER: SEFANIERS
- FRERE EBER2ERBEEREFEINRED : R
- BI#m ERETANEEMRES L -
- Humanity Paying attention to occupational health

Health and safety

- Career development

Labor rights

and safety;

Creating a comfortable working
environment;

Encouraging employees to participate in
continuous education and professional
training to enhance competency; and
Ensuring contractual obligations to protect

labor rights.
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k] BERE HERRE ERERR
Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations and concerns  Management Feedback
R ERRPHRE REDH BEBRBFAERRFRAGEHER
kTN MR ARkmER
BRRBH M L TRERETHRE R
BERRER REARBHAHETHOM -
Shareholders Annual and interim reports Return on investment Ensuring transparency and efficient
Annual general meetings Interest protection communications through annual general
Announcements in HKEx Information transparency meetings;
Operating risks Publishing annual and interim reports; and
management Publishing regular announcements in
HKEX.
R N3 BTEREERA BEAERBEARRANEZRE R
RREHA BiTARAL BERH  ANERHE -
EERESE AIEAR

The Government

Official letters
Public consultations

Publicity and Notifications

Compliance with
applicable laws and
regulations

Fulfill tax obligation

Cooperation for mutual

Upholding integrity and operating business
in compliance with laws and regulations;
and

Paying tax on time in return contributing to

the society.

benefits
i,/ Raw EESE EAs ERETANER R
KA ERNRERE A EEETHER FRERE
Suppliers/ Business meetings Integrity Ensuring contractual obligations are in
Constructors Performance assessment Transparent procurement place; and
process Performing supplier/contractor selection
with due care.
HE HERERER Ha2a SRMET2ANGEED R
LA BITERRERR  HOER  EREAREKE
ERRE o MBERPHRENTE

The Community

Community investment and

donation

Involvement in society
Energy saving

Resources conversation

Encouraging staff to participate in
charitable events; and

Implementing eco-friendly measures to
reduce, reuse and recycle resources to

minimize environmental impact.
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A, IR Al: R
Environmental Emissions
A2: ERGEMR

Use of Resources
A3: RIFBRRANE IR
The Environment
Resources
A4: RIREME
Climate Change

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Cheuk Nang values the opinion given by stakeholders.
Taking the stakeholders’ expectations into consideration,
we analysed the importance of various ESG issues.
Factors such as business strategy objectives and policies,
industry standards, legal and regulatory responsibilities,
environmental protection, use of resources, quality control
and employee protection, etc. were considered in order to

identify the impact of the business operations.

The procedures for the materiality assessment are as follow:

Step 1:
topics listed in the ESG Reporting Guide and the latest

Identification — With reference to the sustainability

sustainability trends in the industry, 16 ESG issues were
identified where they posed higher importance to both

stakeholders and our business operation:

1 A R R
Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions
2 EEEIR
Resources saving
3 BEROARENRETE
and Natural Minimizing the Group’s environmental
impact
4 RIxBEEE

Climate-related issues
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BE #HEBRERE@ B #HEBRERER
ESG Aspects . ESG Issues
B. H& B1: Ef® 5 REEAKEE
Social Employment Employee’s hiring and retention
6 ’E®=F
Employee’s welfare
B2: ERERE 7 BXREREZE
Health and Safety Occupational health and safety
B3: R K&HH 8 |EE#ER
Development and Training Employee’s development
B4: 4 TR 9  EETREHIZET
Labour Standards Prevention of forced and child labour
B5: {ft i E 1% 10 BELFHHEEBNIER
Supply Chain Management Process of supplier selection and
assessment
B6: EmE T 1 REFEFLE
Product Responsibility Protection of customers privacy

12 RRIEIER
Handling of complaints
13 REMEEE

Protection of intellectual property

rights
14 ERE8REE
Product quality and responsibility

B7: R&ES 15 REF[ERRAERE
Anti-corruption Anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering
B8: @K E 16 tHEEE
Community Investment Community investment
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Step 2: Prioritisation — To determine the materiality of the
ESG issues, we have assessed and scored the relevance/
importance of each of the ESG issues based on the views of
our senior management and key stakeholders on a scale of
0 to 10 (0 is irrelevant and 10 is crucial). The vertical axis
of the below materiality matrix shows the result of external
assessment (impact on stakeholders) and the horizontal axis
presents the internal assessment result (impact on business).
The ESG issues that fall within top right-hand quadrant are

of greatest importance.

ERMIER
Materiality Matrix

7
1
15
3 2
14
10
11 6
5 12
13
4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

REPET G (HRBE 2 E)

al assessment (Impact on business)
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1 AR E R B

2 EE &R

3 BERIAEENRETE
4 RIRAEHEEE

5 EERERAKEE

6 BERF

7 i ey

8 BEBER

9 B IEE T KRogh|ss T
10 PR AT R A AR T
11 RERPILE

12 BRIRIR R

13 R PR NG5 2

14 EnEElkEMF

15 RESRRERE

16 HEEE

E3L  EA-REEHHEMEFMHERE

BENEH £4 ﬁ&:éx$EMErw
RBENTEEGHEITEFMARE M

A BB

BREPRH (N EESYHEABRRSEELS—
FTHFE - WHABEAR ARLREFE-

HARTAEZERNSAXZHTERARRM

B RERBLOHRENTIMEZE  BXK
RHAIFEZRRNEE  AEEBEZERA

HERERS THEBEBEMAENRAEE
TER B — RYIRIREB MG -

1 Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions

2 Resources saving

3 Minimizing the Group’s environmental impact
4 Climate-related issues

5 Employee’s hiring and retention

6 Employee’s welfare

7 Occupational health and safety

8 Employee’s development

9 Prevention of forced and child labour

10 Process of supplier selection and assessment
11 Protection of customers privacy

12 Handling of complaints

13 Protection of intellectual property rights

14 Product quality and responsibility

15 Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering
16 Community investment

Step 3: Application — To address the most mattered issues to
us as well as our stakeholders, Cheuk Nang’s responses to
these important issues have been elaborated in more details

in the following sections of this report.

A. Environmental

Cheuk Nang understands that business operation will exert
certain impacts on the surrounding environment, and it is
our responsibility to adopt environment-friendly practices
across business development in order to minimize impacts
on the environment. In order to achieve the goal to alleviate
adverse impacts on the environment and pursuing long-term
sustainable developments, the Group actively integrates
green protection concepts and implemented a series of
environmental protection measures into our projects and

daily office operations.
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Similar to last year, Cheuk Nang had limited number of
ongoing construction projects during the Reporting Year,
and the business operation were mainly focused on property
leasing and provision of property management services that

mainly operated in an office setting.

A1: Emissions
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

Fuel consumption by motor vehicles and flights taken
for business trips are the main sources of air emissions
in our operation. With the aim to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions, our vehicles are required to take regular
maintenance to ensure fuel efficiency, while we also
encourage employees to utilize video and phone meeting
equipment to reduce face-to-face meetings. Not only do
these practices bring cost-saving benefit to the Group, it also
contributes in lowering the carbon footprint and emission

reduction of the Group.

Another main source of GHG emissions from our operation
comes from the electricity consumption in our office. The
Group have educated and encouraged our staff to commit
on good energy-saving practices by providing continuous

training and affixing energy saving reminders.

We commit to comply with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance in Hong Kong to strengthen pollution control and
protect the environment. During the Reporting Year, Cheuk
Nang generated 83.90 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions, produced 6.27 kg of nitrogen oxides, 0.37 kg of
sulphur oxides and 0.46 kg of particulate matter. This year,
the total greenhouse gas emission was slightly increased
by 1% comparing with the last reporting year, which was
mainly due to the use of vehicles and business air travels

within our daily operations.
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The Group have set the target in FY2021/22 to reduce GHG
Emissions by at least 5% by 2026. In order to achieve the
target, the Group has been actively choosing clean and
efficient energy and is committed to downsizing energy
consumption to reduce direct and indirect GHG emissions.
While our GHG Emissions have increase this year due to
our increase in operations, we have a reduction of 11%
on the Intensity of greenhouse gas emission comparing to
FY2021/22. Looking ahead, we will continue to assess our
GHG emissions and influence on our stakeholders and our
business respectively, and adjust our emission targets if

applicable.

Wastes

During the Reporting Year, Cheuk Nang had limited
construction works in Hong Kong and they were mainly
outsourced to external contractors. Most of the hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes in construction sites have
been handled and disposed by third-party contractors in
accordance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong
Kong, hence there is limited information available regarding
the construction waste. For the daily operation in office
setting, Cheuk Nang mainly generated recyclable wastes
— papers and domestic garbage, which are handled by the

property management service provider.

To minimize the waste of papers and domestic garbage,
the Group applies the concept of “4R” (i.e. Reduce, Reuse,
Replace and Recycle approach) by taking a step forward as

below:

o Adopt electronic means of communications (such as
email, mobile and website) and electronic filing of

documents as far as possible;

J Use duplex printing for documents and adjusting the

print area before printing;
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Reuse waste paper for printing draft documents;

Collect used paper for recycling;

o Evaluate the usage of material to avoid overstock; and

o Provide guidance and instruction to employees on
source separation of waste.
During the Reporting Year, the Group consumed 0.70
tons of paper, which accounts for an increase of 17%
when compared to the previous year. In order to protect
the natural environment and prevent waste of resources,
the Group aims to reduce waste of paper by at least 5%
by 2026. We have adopted green office management on
our entire business operations to further reduce waste
generation in the daily operations. The Group will continue
to encourage the staff to use electronic documents rather
than paper copies; and use double sided printing method.
Recycling boxes near office photocopiers are also placed to
collect paper that can be reused (i.e. those printed on only

one side).

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR

95



96

RIE-HERERERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A2: ERERA

BEIR ~ KR EALH#E
BENREMEECANEIEZER EXE
RARERAERE PIOEM - ITEH R
BB o HPIEBREKE T — RS gE 45 i -
NERERNSBER Sl A=ER
BERBFE24E20KE - RATHKED
MRER - WERATBRERASERMNETRER
e 2EERAE - A RERERETE AR D
BERBEHENR ML RARE BRI TN
EMRX ZMFAEERKRERRRER
FEREEEXNNGEEXNEBEHERME -
WEIBRERMDERBEENBZE - RAR
EFE  AEENHAEER16.20K T -
BB/ Z=FERI8%  EHBE
ERZER T "FHERERRD &
D5%H) B AR °

MRHKE Y EEERGHERmES
LB R EAEAR A= EERKNER -
BEWNIL > FREBREREEERMAK
LA ST R #) /K B o b Hh - 3 AP O AE
RIGARMEIKER NEBRIEEET
BRERDKKRE -RIMEHA - A&H
ESKBUKIR X B HE - 5 — 5 HE
ERVMELRY HRERNBEBEBE
EBRRETESREE BN AREFEER
KMAHEREL TEM -

A2: Use of Resources
Energy, water and other consumption

Electricity is the main resource used in our operation, which
is consumed by various office equipment, e.g. computers,
printers and light bulbs. We have proactively taken a
series of energy-saving measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, such as to keep the office temperature at 24
to 26 degrees Celsius, turning off unnecessary lighting,
and deploying energy-efficient devices which carry energy
efficiency label. Cheuk Nang understands that reducing
energy consumption not only cut greenhouse gas emissions
but also reduces unnecessary expense for the Group, we
plan to replace lighting or equipment with automatic low
power mode or energy-saving mode with the objective
of minimizing energy consumption in the future. During
the Reporting Year, the Group consumed 16.20 MWh of
electricity, which was reduced by 8% compared to 2022/23,
and are therefore on track to meet the target of reducing

energy consumption by at least 5% by 2026.

As the water supply is controlled by the property
management service provider, information on the
consumption of water incurred from our daily office
operation is currently unavailable. Nevertheless, Cheuk
Nang have encouraged its employees to minimize
their water usage in order to build awareness of water
conservation. Water-saving signs were also put up within
the office premises in order to promote and remind our
employees to reduce water wastage. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not encounter any issues in sourcing
water. On the other hand, since packaging is not involved in
the usual course of Cheuk Nang’s business operations as a
property developer, the use of packaging material during the

Reporting Year is not applicable.
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A3: Environment and Nature Resources

As disclosed above, since the major environmental impact
of the Group are mainly contributed by the use of mobile
vehicles, usage of electricity and the consumption of
paper in our daily office operations, our environmental
impacts regarding the business operation in Hong Kong are
limited. However, Cheuk Nang is aware of the importance
in protecting the environment for the well-being of the
society and the future generations, and are committed to
further alleviate the adverse impact on the environment
in the future by adopting more resource-saving and
environmentally-friendly measure whenever possible, and
enhance the environmental awareness of our staff and
business partners, and contribute to the collective goal of

sustainable development.

A4: Climate Change

As climate change is becoming a more prevalent issue
in recent years, countries have been cooperating to
implement sustainable development in different industries
in responding to public demand. Meanwhile, there is
also an increase in effort from companies with its energy
Cheuk

Nang understands that various risks of climate change

conservation and emission reduction measures.

may potentially have a financial impact on our business
operations, hence we took effort in identifying the
environmental impacts attributable to its business activities,
and have carefully managed our operation in order to
minimize these impacts where possible. Furthermore, we
are hoping to incorporate more sustainable development
elements and actions to our business operations to prepare
us from issues that may arise from climate change. In
FY2021/22, we established our reduction target by reducing
our GHG emissions, waste and energy consumption by at
least 5% in the next 5 years based on FY2021/22 levels for
GHG Emissions, waste and energy consumption, and are
currently on track to achieve the targets. Looking forward,
we will continue to disclose our progress in achieving the
targets annually, and will continuously assess and update

our sustainability targets if necessary.
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Other than reducing the environmental impact caused
by the Group’s business operations, Cheuk Nang have
identified the physical and transition risks caused by climate
change that may have material impact on the Group’s

business.

Physical Risks

We believe that extreme weather changes brought about
by climate change will be one of the unavoidable climate
risks for business activities, and extreme weather events
such as large-scale wildfires, earthquakes and typhoons
will bring dangers to the living environment and affect our
properties and operations, which ultimately result in loss of
revenue. In response to these physical risks, the Group has
internal guidelines in place for employees and departments
to respond to major disasters and in cases of emergency,
which will be regularly reviewed and improved to reduce

the climate risk to the business operations.

Transition Risks

As the market is aiming towards a low-carbon and more
climate-friendly future, regulators are and will continue
to tighten environmental regulations and climate-related
legislations, where companies are required to follow
increasingly stringent disclosure for sustainability reporting,
and are required to assert more control to their emissions.
Moreover, investors, customers and other stakeholders are
becoming more aware of the sustainability performance
from corporations and their commitment to conduct green
businesses. The Group recognises the potential risks such
as losing market competitiveness and potential reputational
risks and legal risks when failing to respond to such

changes.
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In order to deal with these transition risks, the Group
closely monitors the changes in the business environment
and relevant laws and regulations, and have taken account
into the recommendations of Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) to enhance the
governance processes and integrate the consideration of the
environmental and climate-related risks and opportunities

into our future risk assessment.

B. Social

Acknowledging the significance of developing a mutually
beneficial community for sustainability and prosperity,
Cheuk Nang ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of
operations. The Group will continue to devote to the society

through improving our contribution and services.

B1: Employment

Employees are the foundation of our long-term business
success. Cheuk Nang is dedicated to build a respectful and
harmonious workplace in order to enhance the working

incentives and motivations of our staff.

The Group attracts and retains talents with competitive
remuneration packages, generous welfare and benefits. The
Group also understands and respects different cultures.
We adhere to the principle of equal employment so that
employees can enjoy fair and reasonable employment
and competitive opportunities. When arranging jobs and
repositioning, Cheuk Nang provides equal opportunity to all
employees regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, nationality,
native place, race, religion, political affiliation, sexual
orientation, marital status and other aspects of diversity and
treat different backgrounds or identities differently. We also
promote and make salary adjustment by a fair and non-

discriminatory evaluation procedure.
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The Group provides employees with competitive
compensation, holiday benefits and discretionary bonus.
All of our staff are entitled to the medical benefits and a
5.5 working days arrangement, MPF schemes, retirement
benefits, annual leaves, marriage leave, maternity leave
and other leaves in line with the Employment Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Minimum Wage Ordinance and Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong. To
understand our areas of improvement, we try to address
the concern or complaints from our staff. As stated
in the Group’s policy “Code of Conduct”, complaints
could be sent directly to the Executive Chairman, and
all the feedback and complaints will be handled with
confidentiality. For leaving staff, we organise an exit
interview with them in order to listen to their opinions and
feedbacks towards Cheuk Nang. Dismissal of employees is
executed in compliance with the Employment Ordinance of

Hong Kong and/or other relevant local laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Year, Cheuk Nang stringently complies
with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong,

including but not limited to:

o Employment Ordinance;

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

o Minimum Wage Ordinance;

o Employee’s Compensation Ordinance;

° Sex Discrimination Ordinances;

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance;

J Family Status Discrimination Ordinance;

° Race Discrimination Ordinance;

o The Hong Kong Bill of Rights Ordinance;
° Inland Revenue Ordinance; and

° Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
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B2: Health and safety

Cheuk Nang cares about employees’ talent and places
their health and safety at the top position. We strictly
comply with the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance at all times and take necessary safety measures
in construction sites to prevent occupational hazards,
including precautionary tools against extreme summer heat
and winter coldness, noise cancelling earplugs, insulated
boots and gloves, and antistatic clothing. In addition,
Cheuk Nang periodically inspects the fire extinguishers
and other fire prevention equipment at sites to ensure their
effectiveness. Every case of injury or accident and potential
danger must be reported, and remediation action shall be
taken to improve the safety of workplaces. There was no
reported case for work-related fatalities and lost days due to
work injury in the financial year of 2021/22, 2022/23 and
2023/24.

To ensure a hygienic working environment, the Group
periodically engages professional service providers to carry
out air-conditioning system cleaning, pest control and
carpet disinfection treatment in the office for the killing of
viruses and bacteria. We also provide first-aid kits as well
as medical insurance to all staff as safety measures. Cheuk
Nang also encourages staff to join the fire drill organised
by the property management service provider to train their
readiness in responding to fire emergencies. The Group has
also set up guidance for work arrangements in emergencies,
such as typhoons, rainstorm warnings, strikes, protests and

other circumstances.
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B3: Development and training

The Group understands the need for staff training to carry
out their duties at a high standard and for their own career
development. To support the development of employees
and maintain their competitiveness, we provide on-the-
job training to employees. The training covers a range of
topics that not only include technical skills relevant to
their positions, but also on health and safety and codes of
conduct. Besides, the Group also encourages employees to
attend external training programs held by the government
or relevant recognised institutes, such as Vocation Training
Council and Occupational Safety and Health Council,
to enhance their work-related skills, maintain up-to-date

knowledge, and share experiences among other expertise.

B4: Labour standards

Human rights are considered to be a fundamental right,
and we fully agree that hiring child labour and forced
labour violates the fundamental human rights protocol
of international labour conventions. Thus, Cheuk Nang
places great emphasis on fairness and strictly abide by the
Employment Ordinance and relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. Cheuk Nang reviews the identity documents
and conducts background checks relating to candidates
prior to signing an employment contract to prevent having
an employment relationship with a person under 15. Also,
the Group strictly follows our employment contracts and
will not force our staff to work against their will or under
any kind of threat. We offer compensation of leave to staff
who works overtime and they are free to resign upon notice

to the Group.
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B5: Supply chain management

As a property developer, Cheuk Nang engages contractors
to carry out the construction work and purchase some of
the materials and consumables ourselves. We promote fair
and open competition, and aims at developing long-term
relationship with suppliers and contractors based on mutual
trust as stated in the Group’s policy “Code of conduct”.
To ensure our contractors and suppliers share the same
business philosophy in running the business with a fair and
integrity manner, suppliers and contractors are required
to pass through strict assessment procedures or tendering
procedures before engaging in business activities with
Cheuk Nang.

In addition to the financial and quality aspects, suppliers’
and contractors’ attitudes toward the environment and the
society will also be a part of the assessment criteria. The
Group will not consider suppliers or contractors who have
been in bribery cases or have incurred incidents related
to material safety or environmental incidents. The Group
performs on-going and regular reviews on the contractors’
works to ensure the quality of the construction works are
within the Group’s standard to lower the environmental and
social risks. During the Reporting Year, the Group engaged
4 contractors and 10 suppliers in Hong Kong respectively.
In the future, the Group will consider giving priorities to
suppliers and contractors with Environmental Management

System Certificates when feasible.

Besides, the Group will adopt initiatives, to enhance the
development of “green supply chain”. Our suppliers are
also encouraged to adopt the best environmental and social
practices and to disseminate the pursuit of sustainability
into the core business, through develop energy-saving and

consumption-reducing policies.
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B6: Product responsibility

Assuring the quality and safety of our products are the
topmost important. Cheuk Nang cares about customers
and set high standards to ensure the architectural quality
and commercial values of the properties. Product quality
is controlled throughout the construction processes and
ongoing management and maintenance. We perform tight
selection procedures of materials, suppliers and contractors
at the beginning stages of the projects. We pay full attention
to monitoring the work performed by the contractors and
take detailed acceptance procedures upon completion of
the project to ensure all our requirements have been strictly
followed. After taking a series of quality audits to ensure our
products were safe and up to standard, we did not record
any product recall concerning the products safety during the

Reporting Year.

In view of the matters of public concern over data privacy,
all the personal information received from the Group
regarding our business operations has been handled with
due care and in accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and similar regulations to fulfil key stakeholders’
expectations on information security and confidentiality.
As emphasized in the policy “Code of Conduct”, it is the
responsibility of each director and employee to provide
adequate safeguards to prevent the personal data of
customers, business partners, shareholders and customers to
be abused or misused. To preserve the confidentiality of the
data, only authorised persons have access to such personal

data.

The Group respects all intellectual property rights. To
avoid infringing intellectual property rights and to comply
with relevant licensing terms, the Group has prohibited
employees from using a pirate version of software as well as
duplicating, installing or using the software in violation of

its copyright or license terms.
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In case of any complaints related to product quality, data
Cheuk Nang will

strictly follow the complaints handling procedures as stated

privacy or intellectual property rights,

in the policy “Code of Conduct” to ensure the complaints

will be investigated and handled with due care.

B7: Anti-Corruption

All employees, including directors, shall uphold the code
of ethics, advocate fair competition and act against bribery
according to the Group’s policy “Code of Conduct” and
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap.21) of Hong Kong.
The Group takes zero-tolerance towards all kinds of illegal
activities, such as corruption, bribery, money laundering,
forgery, embezzlement and collusion case. The Group
has set up a clear reporting channel for all staff to report
any violation noted from an individual or its departments.
The Group is committed to protect the whistle-blower and
keep his identity confidential. In addition, all staff shall
not accept or request any personal benefit or advantage
in connection with his or her duties and with the business
of the Group. Anyone who has conflicts of interest must

declare and obtain prior written approval of the Group.

In case of any violation of laws or “Code of Conduct”
established by the Group, Cheuk Nang adopts disciplinary
actions with no mercy and hesitation. During the Reporting
Year, there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices
that was brought against Cheuk Nang or its employees,
and we strictly complied with the Prevention of Bribery

Ordinance.

Cheuk Nang provides anti-corruption training to Directors
and employees through e-training, articles and video in
order to strengthen the integrity awareness and professional
ethics of all employees, so as to create a fair and honest
Due to limited resources of the
Cheuk Nang did not

maintain training record in the anti-corruption training by

working environment.

Human Resources Department,

employees during the Reporting Year.
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B8: HEKRE

M P& EFTE L B+ (2 1E HH B R = M
METEPEHLEEMFE - FEHEE HLEZR
B A] R4t & R E T R IEE [0 3 o [F K
BT EITHRA-—EBR2EETIREA
@R MBUYRENEEAER - KK - £
REHEES KR EERIREERE - B
MIAEH2EMEES  KMEMERE
EETAE - WE(REM MR -

B8: Community investment

It is the primary corporate social responsibility of us to
contribute to our community where we operate. Cheuk
Nang believes that community involvement could bring a
positive return to both society and the business. Meanwhile,
we also encourage our staff to participate in voluntary
and charitable services with their families to build friendly
community relations. In the future, Cheuk Nang will
continue to seek opportunities to support community
programmes actively. We also proactively participate in
community activities to create a caring atmosphere in
the neighbourhood and strive to promote harmony and

prosperity in the community.
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REHEREE PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY'
BiE Environmental
Al = BER AEW (INOx]) Fr(FRD) 6.27 7.00
AT: Emissions? Nitrogen oxides (“NOX") Kilogram (“kg")
HEit (1sox]) Tr(Frl) 0.37 0.38
Sulphur oxides (“SOX") Kilogram (“kg")
RH ([PMm]) Fr(Fr1) 0.46 0.52
Particulate matter (“PM”) Kilogram (“kg")
Al2 RERE BE1-EEHEHR
A1.2: Greenhouse gas’ Scope 1 - Direct emissions
B “EfbiE S HR (A E) 67.05 67.86
Motor vehicles Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)
ER-SREEBYREAS ZELREEBHH AMTE) 67.05 67.86

Total direct carbon dioxide Carbon dioxide equivalent

emission (in tonnes)
“EREEENR 2.92 2.83
(L\WiztE) BEEEY

Intensity of direct carbon dioxide | Carbon dioxide equivalent

equivalent emission

EE_SBEERFREE

equivalent emission emission (in tonnes)/Total number

of Employee

BRIERAEA DR AEBRFHEKMBE R AR/ NERER2MEN -

All figures have been rounded up to 2 decimal places, unless otherwise specified.

BRIDIRBEHB AR A TIEOCEEERE A8 RERRE) N —  REERABISRERES I AR
REBREBEREIEZERENN S - F WA REN EHAR —eREFEER | (https://ecib.emsd.gov.hk/index.
php/en/energy-utilisation-index-en/transport-sector-en)st & ©

The emission is calculated based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by HKEx and “Energy Utilisation Index — Transport Sector” latest published in
April 2022 by Electrical and Mechanical Services Department of HKSAR (https://ecib.emsd.gov.hk/index.php/en/
energy-utilisation-index-en/transport-sector-en).

BEREBHERIDRBEATERRS AT ENCNAIEERE  HERERABEIN[MER—
¥l 5T E -

The greenhouse gas emission is calculated based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report” Appendix 2: Reporting

CIRIB AR A BUBIRE TR

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by HKEXx.
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HE2-BEEN

Scope 2 - Indirect emissions
BMENES
Acquired Electricity

BE_GItREEFRMAE
Total indirect carbon dioxide
equivalent emission

BE-_EtRERBINEE

Intensity of indirect carbon
dioxide equivalent emission

BE3-HiHH

Scope 3 - Other emissions

EHEREENAR

Paper waste disposed at landfills

EREBMERT
Business air travel by employees

Ht—StHREEHHEE
Total other carbon dioxide
equivalent emission

Htt—StmERFNEE

Intensity of other carbon dioxide
equivalent emission

BEREHFRAE

Total greenhouse gas emission

BEREHFRAE

Total greenhouse gas emission
BERBHREE

Intensity of greenhouse gas
emission

“SHEE MM AR E)
Carbon dioxide equivalent emission
(in tonnes)

“EEBERSER (CAMGE)
Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)
—EtmERHR

(AMEE) EEAY

Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)/Total number
of Employee

ZACHE B (AR E)
Carbon dioxide equivalent emission
(in tonnes)
“ERE BRI (AN E)
Carbon dioxide equivalent emission
(in tonnes)
“EEBERGR (A E)
Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)
ZELBREERR(AMEHE)/
EEAY

Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)/Total number
of Employee

“ELREEHR AEHE)
Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)
ZELBRERHR(AMHE)/
EEAY

Carbon dioxide equivalent
emission (in tonnes)/Total number
of Employee
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RE-HERERHRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A13: BERED FELRERRNAE | s
Al1.3: Total hazardous waste produced | Tonnes Nil Nil
Hazardous waste* FELRERRNEE W/ EEAH i #
Intensity of hazardous waste Tonnes/Total number of Employee Nil Nil
produced
Al4: BEERYP "R I 0.70 0.60
Al.4: Papers Tonnes
Non-hazardous waste® EEREEY) i = i
Domestic wastes Tonnes Nil Nil
FEERERRNAE L 0.70 0.60
Total non-hazardous waste Tonnes
produced
FELBEERRNEE B/ EEAH 0.03 0.02
Intensity of non-hazardous waste | Tonnes/Total number of Employee
produced
A2.1: BERS EREREER
A2.1: Energy® Direct energy consumption
BT KR 244.30 247.26
Unleaded petrol MWh
ERERAEER KR 244.30 247.26
Total direct energy consumption | MWh
ERRRRERE kEE/ EEAH 10.62 10.30

Intensity of direct energy
consumption

REMBNEEREERENOEE= S ALEEELEE - Flt -

The hazardous and non-hazardous wastes in construction sites have been handled and disposed by third-party

MWh/Total number of Employee

contractors, so this KPI is not applicable to our business.
REeRBANEEERERNEENEREY -

Only includes waste directly controlled and generated by the Group.

ZEARERIEREL NERRERMNER -

RRRFEENREBEATEIZMTIENNEERRE LS RERREINME - - RIFERERIEEERE
SIIETE - BRARRAZEHF(EERRA/BENE ) UEBREMNCLEEBNRNEFIREREEEE

ERABR-_ZF_—FRHOENEEFTE -

The energy consumption is calculated based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by HKEx. For Energy indirect emissions (main sources from
purchased electricity), the emissions factors for Hong Kong-based operations is calculated based on the emission

intensity published by the Hong Kong Electric Company Limited in 2021.
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—EC-= —E-C

BE BREARER “HEE —=FE
Aspects KPIs 2023/24 2022/23

BEEREE

Indirect energy consumption

RENEN KRB 16.20 16.89

Acquired Electricity MWh

GELA 3 KR 16.20 16.89

Total indirect energy consumption MWh

MRERERTE kEE/ERAR 0.70 0.70

Intensity of indirect energy MWh/Total number of Employee

consumption

AR EREER

Total energy consumption

BERERE REH 260.51 264.15

Total energy consumption MWh

EREERE kEE/EEAR 11.33 11.01

Intensity of energy consumption  MWh/Total number of Employee
A2.2 : FEKET 2SS 7K . &
A2.2: Total water consumption Cubic metre Nil Nil
Water consumption’ EARE UK/ BEAY 4 %

Intensity of water consumption | Cubic metre/Total number of Nil Nil

Employee

7 BERHUKTIHYMEEERGHEERES - Bt -

ZEARARERL TERARRMINERS -

As our water supply is controlled by the property management service provider, this KPI is not applicable to our

business.
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Aspects
B1.1: EE#E
B1.1: Total workforce

|
RE-HERERRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Social
KPIs 2023/24 2022/23
RERERE D
By employment type
s EEZE 23 24
Full time No. of employee
Part time No. of employee Nil Nil
Rit B85
By geographical region
BB EE#AE 23 24
Hong Kong No. of employee
gk by
By gender
S EEHH 10 11
Male No. of employee
i EEHA 13 13
Female No. of employee
BERED
By age
308 AT EEZHE 0 1
Below 30 No. of employee
31E405% EEHH 4 2
31-40 No. of employee
41E505% EEHHA 4 5
41-50 No. of employee
50554 £ EEHH 15 16
Over 50 No. of employee
RESERFE D
By employee category
BREEANER EEHE 5 6
Senior management No. of employee
FAREEAR BEHHE 4 3
Middle management No. of employee
—REKE BEHHE 14 15

General staff

No. of employee
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B

Aspects
B1.2 : BERKE

B1.2: Employee turnover

RERERE S
By employment type

—E-=
“HEE
2023/24

-
—=H5E
2022/23

i

Full time

%o

17

25

i3

Part time

Yo

R EE D
By geographical region

BB
Hong Kong

Yo

17

25

BHERE D
By gender

St

Male

%o

10

36

7

Female

Yo

23

15

BERE S
By age

30BR AT
Below 30

Yo

312405%
31-40

%o

41E505%
41-50

Yo

25

20

S50 A
Over 50

Yo

20

31

B2.1 : AT{EREMILT-M A

Bt e

B2.1: Number and rate of

work-related fatalities®

THEMEBZ2ET
Work-related fatalities

RE#H

No. of employee

Nil

Nil

TEEBZET
Work-related fatalities

%o

Nil

Nil

B2.2 : ATIBEARTIFRES
B2.2: Lost days due to work

injury®

ETEBERTIERH
Lost days due to work

injury

B &
Days

Nil

Nil

8 ORZT-— Z_HRFEEAN WERIRTREIEMERNTIERRNRSEESR -

There was no reported case for work-related fatalities and lost days due to work injury in the financial year of

2021/22.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED s (%) HMR~2AF ¢ Annual Report 2024 44




|
RE-HERERRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

[EmE —E-= —EF-=
—HEE —=FE
Aspects 2023/24 2022/23
B3.1: ZIlREA DL RERERE S
B3.1: Percentage of By employment type
employees trained )7 % 22 13
Full time
e % i i
Part time Nil Nil
RESERE D
By employee category
SREBAER % 80 67
Senior management
hREBAR % 20 33
Middle management
—MREE % i =
General staff Nil Nil
B3.2 : XM TFHEY EBREETKZIINF R 33 11.67
B3.2: Average training hours | ¥FEL
completed Average training Hours
hours completed per
employee
RERERED
By employment type
i iSE 24 33 11.67
Full time Hours
Part time Hours Nil Nil
rRESERE D
By employee category
SREEBAE R B4 8.00 2.50
Senior management Hours
hREEAE B 25 1.25 1.67
Middle management Hours
—REE iSE & E
General staff Hours Nil Nil
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B BARERIER

—E-=
“HEE

—=E—=
—=FE

Aspects KPIs 2023/24 2022/23
B5.1 : fHEEKFAZAHE RUEHD
B5.1: Number of suppliers By geographical region
and contractor BB AP S =1 14 14
A
Hong Kong No. of supplier
and contractor
B6.1: CEXCEXEmMEH ALTE2REEEHMA % 5= =
FTRZEEEFEAMADK BRNEERDEXE
MBS n AR B
B6.1: Percentage of total Total products sold Nil Nil
products sold or shipped or shipped subject to
subject to recalls for safety recalls for safety and
and health reasons health reasons
B6.2 : EIERINE MY REBANEMNRF KA i i
BERBE
B6.2: Number of products Products related No. of complaint Nil Nil
related complaints received | complaints received
B7.1: EFGEHIARERMHAE NERBAHEITAS =FBHE i i
HEBRHDIDEEK
BSARRMNEE K
=MER
B7.1: Number of concluded ' 'Number of concluded No. of case Nil Nil
legal cases legal cases regarding
corrupt practices
brought against the
issuer or its employees
during the reporting
period and the
outcomes of the cases
B8.1%B8.2 : LEIRE EXRRER
B8.1 & B8.2: Community Donation on focus area
investment HERE ETT L L
Community investment HKD Nil Nil
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BMIXPMC(RE - HEREARABRELSIDAS HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Aspects
Al BERR

AT: Emissions

—REER

AEENER fHd HEZE

General

disclosures

Corresponding

and KPIs Description section

—RRIEE BRBERIMBEREBHN - /KR LB A1 BERY)
S BEREBERRYNELESEN
(@ HBEX: K
by BETHBTABEARZENHBEEIRNK

R
BB HY o

General Information on: A1: Emissions

disclosure (a)  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

AT.1 PR R SR AR B BE DB - RIRBIBERHE
The types of emissions and respective Performance Data
emissions data. Summary

Al1.2 BERBAFNE CAMGE) R (ER)Z RRBERE
JZ o
Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) Performance Data
and, where appropriate, intensity. Summary

A1.3 FMELEREEEMAE (UNEE) R(E RRBERE
R -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)  Performance Data
and, where appropriate, intensity. Summary

Al.4 FEAEEZEEYRE (AMHE) R (E XREBERE

R -
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

Performance Data

Summary
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Aspects

—RBEER

FAEEMER it

General
disclosures
and KPIs

Description

HEZHE

Corresponding

section

Al1.5 RV EBE R E B R PTISRR - AT )
Description of measures to mitigate AT: Emissions
emissions and results achieved.
A1.6 Ml EEEERBEERYNIE  BEE A1 BERY
EEWNEENMTERR -
Description of how hazardous and non- A1: Emissions
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.
A2 - BIRER | —REE BERERER(BIERR  KEREMERME) A2 - BIRER
HYBUR ©
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, A2: Use of Resources
Resources disclosure including energy, water and other raw
materials.
A2.1 REPAESNERR AEZERERE (A RREBERE
TETREE) MBE -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption  Performance Data
by type in total (kWh in “000s) and intensity. Summary
A2.2 RFEKERTE - “KEABERE
Water consumption in total and intensity. Performance Data
Summary
A2.3 el BE R 2 B 2z At 8 PR AS AR - A2 : BIREA
Description of energy use efficiency A2: Use of Resources
initiatives and results achieved.
A2.4 O SRBUE R KR LR BEMIMRE - ARIE A2 BIRER
THRKB &S B RASKR -
Description of whether there is any issue in | A2: Use of Resources
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
A2.5 X EFATABEMENRE (UEFE) & (10 A2 - BRER

ER)BEEEMGE -
Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with

reference to per unit produced.

A2: Use of Resources
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HEZHE

Corresponding

Aspects and KPIs Description section
A3 IRERRR  —REE WRBEITAHRREMRABEREKEATE A3 REMRKAEBR
BR MY BUR ©
A3: The General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s A3: The Environment
Environment disclosure significant impacts on the environment and | and Natural Resources
and Natural natural resources.
Resources A3.1 HEREBHEHRBERRABERNERTE A3 RERRAER
MEKBMEEABEZENITTH -
Description of the significant impacts of A3: The Environment
activities on the environment and natural and Natural Resources
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
A4 EIRE(E  —RIRE BRINEHOKRRAIESHBTAEETE A4 RIREL
MEARIKMERETHIEE -
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of | A4: Climate Change
Change disclosure significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
A4.1 HACERAIEEUBRTAELERENEKR A4 RIRE(L

RIRMEBEEE LEHTH -

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, and the actions taken to

manage them.

A4: Climate Change
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—REER
ARENRER f#il HEZHE
General
disclosures Corresponding
Aspects and KPlIs Description section
B1: (Bf& — R E BRI LR BB RE - TERE - R B1: &%
H - FERE 2Tt REBEBAREMBEFS
KaFa
@ BEX: Rk
(b) BEBTHBETABEAZENHEBEIZR
4l
BB HY o
B1: Employment General Information on: B1: Employment
Disclosure (a)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,

anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

B1.1 RIER - RERL - FieAR RtRESDNE REBIEHE
B -
Total workforce by gender, employment Performance Data
type, age group and geographical region. Summary

B1.2 BT FRANLKMWEESNEERERL RBABIERE
= o

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Performance Data

and geographical region. Summary
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—RBEER

FAEEMER it

General

disclosures

and KPIs

Description

HEZHE

Corresponding

section

B2 f@FEELTE —REE FRARHRZE2TIHERELMMREREB2RBE B2 @FHELE
HEREr
@ BX Rk
by BFHBETABERZENHEBAEREN
aatl
B ERY o
B2: Health and | General Information on: B2: Health and Safety
Safety Disclosure (a) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
B2.1 ETEREMETH ABILLE - REHERHE
Number and rate of work-related fatalities. | Performance Data
Summary
B2.2 EIGEATIERSE - RIRBER R
Lost days due to work injury. Performance Data
Summary
B2.3 R PR B R R R 256G LAKRE B2 @FHEZE
BAETT MEER A -
Description of occupational health and B2: Health and Safety
safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.
B3 : R LIEI —ARIEEE ERARAERERET TEBRENMBRIREEN B3 R NE
R - WA EIES -
B3: Development General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge B3: Development and
and Training Disclosure and skills for discharging duties at work. Training
Description of training activities.
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—REER
FAEEMER it HESH
General
disclosures Corresponding
Aspects and KPIs Description section
B3.1 BURIREEER (SR EEE THREE RRBERZ
B)alomEillEEE T -
The percentage of employees trained by Performance Data

gender and employee category (e.g. senior | Summary

management, middle management).

B3.2 R kEEEMNE D BREETKEI RRBERZE
B S 457055 B o
The average training hours completed per Performance Data

employee by gender and employee category. Summary

B4 : BITHER  —RIEE BRI IEE TskoaH4 TH B4 : &5 TH#R)
(@ BER: K
(b) HETHBEITABEARTZENMHBERR
A1
B EHL o
B4: Labour General Information on: B4: Labour standards
Standards Disclosure (a)  the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced

labour.
B4.1 R B ESINEEARRET MRS B4 : 5 T#R|
BT
Description of measures to review B4: Labour standards

employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

B4.2 M EBRREZRBREERBBERAMRE B4 : 5 T#R|
B8R

Description of steps taken to eliminate such |B4: Labour standards

practices when discovered.
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Aspects
B5 : eSS E IR
B5: Supply Chain

Management

—REER
BRENER
General
disclosures
and KPIs
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Description

HEZHE

Corresponding

section

— R ERHEHENREREERABRBE - B5 : fHAE§EE 2
General Policies on managing environmental and B5: Supply chain
Disclosure social risks of the supply chain. management
B5.1 miwEE DM HEREE - RABIERE
Number of suppliers by geographical region. Performance Data
Summary
B5.2 Mt BRI AHERNED - MERITTHERBIE BS : fEREEIR
PIBHERER - ANMBEERITRERTE -
Description of practices relating to engaging B5: Supply chain
suppliers, number of suppliers where the management
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.
B5.3 BB R R EERMNIRERMEE® Bs - HHEEEE
RERRIEG - ARERRITRERT X -
Description of practices used to identify B5: Supply chain
environmental and social risks along the management
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
B5.4 Ml ERERERREESAREER LR BS : fEREIRE

BEED] - ARMBRBAAITRERTT A -
Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

B5: Supply chain

management
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Aspects

B6: EmEMT

i

B6: Product
Responsibility

—RBEER

FAEEMER it

General
disclosures
and KPIs
— MR R

General

Disclosure

Description

BRAFTRBEERMRFNEREZ 2

BERILBEEURBRITED

@ BX Rk

(b)y ETHETABEAZENHEBERN
A

HE R} -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

HEZHE

Corresponding

section
B6 : EmE T

B6: Product

responsibility

B6.1

EEICERERABTRLTZHEZFIER
MmZARKE B 5L -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons.

RABIERE

Performance Data

Summary

B6.2

RERREMMREHRFEE AREEH TS
o

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt

with.

RABIERE

Performance Data

Summary

B6.3

el R E R RIEAMBEEGBNED -
Description of practices relating to observing

and protecting intellectual property rights.

B6 : Em AT
B6: Product

responsibility
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—RBEER
FAEEMER it

General

HEZHE

disclosures

Corresponding

Aspects and KPIs Description section
B6.4 i E SRR REMBKERF - B6 : EmAT
Description of quality assurance process and B6: Product
recall procedures. responsibility
B6.5 M EEERRERLEBEE - UKIEHE Be: EmEE
MITRERTA -
Description of consumer data protection and B6: Product
privacy policies, how they are implemented | responsibility
and monitored.
B7 : REIS —RRIEE AR ILAE R MEFRARER B7 : RE)S
(@ HBEX: K
(b)y BTFHBETABERZENHEBEEREN
B
B7: Anti- General Information on: B7: Anti-Corruption
corruption Disclosure (@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.
B7.1 RERPAHETAREEERHICES RABERE
MBS RMEMFNEE MFRER -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding Performance Data
corrupt practices brought against the issuer | Summary
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.
B7.2 By e e R B WEF - ARMEBENITR B7: REF

ERTE-
Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are

implemented and monitored.

B7: Anti-Corruption
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RE-HERERRE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

—RFEER
FERENEE Wit HEZH
General

disclosures Corresponding

Aspects and KPIs Description section
B7.3 MilMEER B TRHEMNREISE - B7 : R&J5

BMEEEITAERE
EHIEIIEE - W e
AR s T %
B A MR IR E#L -
Description of anti-corruption training B7: Anti-Corruption
provided to directors and staff
We are in the process
of revising our training
protocol of the Anti-
corruption and will
disclose this KPI
information in future
reporting.

B8 : tEIE  —REE BRNMBRSERTREEMEHBEFTEN B8 : HREE
HEREEB RS E B R EBUR

B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to B8: Community

Investment Disclosure understand the needs of the communities investment
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

B8.1 BIEREE(HE RESEE HITHE B HERKRE
kR Xk 85) -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, ' B8: Community

i

environmental concerns, labour needs, investment
health, culture, sport).
B8.2 EHEIGRFABAER(MMEENERE) - RXBEEEBERE

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time)  Performance Data

to the focus area. Summary
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EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

The Directors submit to the shareholders their report
together with the audited financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries
comprise property development, investment and
management in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic

of China and Malaysia.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to

the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 11
to 19 of this Annual Report. Description of possible risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 60
to 68. Also, the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group can be found in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. There is no important
event affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 30 June, 2024. An analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Five Years’
Summary on page 2 of this Annual Report. In addition,
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group are contained in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 81 to 82.
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Report of the Directors

%ﬁ&ﬂﬁ%\ RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

AREEHZ T _WFENA=THIEFE 2 The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024
¥E N H Zﬁﬁ‘%ﬂﬁ/ﬁui§lJﬁA%146i3oo and the financial position of the Group at that date are set
B2iraMB®mERA - out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to

300.

RHIAR B FRR2 258l (ZFE =-=% : 1.75 An interim dividend of HK2.25 cents (2023: HK1.75 cents)
(L) - 428014,685,0008 7CE N = ZF =P per share, totaling HK$14,685,000 was paid on 17 April

EEHthEI/)E%;%O 2024.

EEoHEHKE R EFAL.00%811 The Directors resolved to recommend the payment of a final
T = 3.008M) FR T — W& dividend of HK4.00 cents (2023: HK3.00 cents) per share
+—AZ+ N\BAEBRELMAZSLZME -  payable to those shareholders whose names appeared in
BREIKEZPEAKRESEMN2.258 1 (== the register of members as at the close of business on 28
T=F 0 1.7581l) - KEEAHLREAE  November 2024, which together with the interim dividend
6258 (ZZT =4 : 4.757%1l) - of HK2.25 cents (2023: HK1.75 cents) per share, makes a

total distribution of HK6.25 cents (2023: HK4.75 cents) per

share this year.

2024.

REHERDIREZREFBEHNY KK  Particulars of dividends proposed and paid during the year
MEETT © are set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

ki RESERVES

KRB M AEEBRAFEANZFEEEF Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
BDRIFIR B FS SRR M 5T 52978 25153 E  during the year are set out in Note 29 and pages 153 to 154

EE1548 K o respectively to the financial statements.

B DONATIONS

EEE-_ZT_WNFA=THIEFE & There is no charitable donation made by the Group during
EETETMEZSER - the year ended 30 June 2024.
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EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in investment properties and
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in

Notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Details of the Group’s interest in properties are set out on

pages 301 to 304.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital are set out in

Note 29 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2024, the reserves of the Company available
for distribution amounted to HK$176,676,000 (2023:
HK$251,686,000).

BONDS
Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in Note 17 to

the financial statements.

CAPITALISED INTEREST

The amounts of interest capitalized by the Group during the

year are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30

June 2024 are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

RITERREMEER
AREER-_ZF_=FR"A=THZHRTE
REEMEENT

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The amounts of bank loans and other borrowings of the

Group at 30 June 2024 were as follows:

£H
Group
BT T
HK$'000
IRITER Bank loans 1,131,508
BEER Advances from a director 211,617
1,343,125
BRI Repayment analysis:
RITE K Bank loans
— DR —%F — within one year 1,131,508
—HEE_F — in the second year -
—EFE=ZEFLF BIEEEME) — in the third to fifth years inclusive -
1,131,508
BEFRN Advances from a director
— B B TR KR - no fixed repayment terms 211,617

AEBBEREENEKRARB20.1% (=
T =4 :15.8%)  LNIBTERLEME
EBRNEBEEEFEFE - RITERKE
ERREEE 2 N FEIBELE DR R84.2%
(ZZE-=% :83.3%) X15.8% (T - =
F16.7%) °

BHE_T_MFRA=+H AEBEKRH
2B RBITFER RITERREME
ERBRATMER  ARBMETT -

1,343,125

The Group’s debt to equity ratio was approximately 20.1%
(2023: 15.8%) expressed as a percentage of bank loans and
other borrowings over net assets of the Group. The ratio of
bank loans and advances from a director over the Group’s
financial debts is 84.2% (2023: 83.3%) and 15.8% (2023:
16.7%) respectively.

Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances, bank loans
and other borrowings were denominated in Ringgit
Malaysia, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar as at 30 June
2024.
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EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is set out on page 2.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil (Chairman)
Ms. Chao Gigi (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Chao Howard

Ms. Ho Sau Fun Connie

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lee Ding Yue Joseph

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ting Woo Shou Kenneth
(resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Lam Ka Wai Graham

Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold

Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David Chris
(appointed on 17 June 2024)

Mr. Lam Ka Wai Graham, Mr. Lee Ding Yue Joseph and Ms.
Chao Gigi will retire at the forthcoming Annual General

Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David Chris was appointed as director
of the Company during the year, according to Articles 94 of
the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee has to retire,

being eligible, offered himself for re-election.
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EFARBEAHRER  HHEZEHEL - EHX
ZRE - AFFLLERERERET/AN
REAIMBRRIZERE -EFANMNEEARR
HH ARFMBAR 2 EMESNT

APt
EE2 L

EEREEEEAERAAESR
AEBEEFRSEEEABZEEMAR
MEAFEFRAEETRSREEABGBNT]

— 8

ESERESTRAEROERIK

P REERG KR
R-T-mMERNA=ZTA - RIBES RS

SRPIEIS2EAF 7R Bt 2 428 -
ARFZEERESTRAEBEKELETA
AEZIEHFRZ TFAUEAARRRHELRM
MEEB AR (£ 5 M E KRG
([SFO ) EXVEMHIEN EEBLEANF R
MARNBREZAT) AT

During the year and up to the date of this report, Messrs
Chao Sze Tsung Cecil, Chao Gigi, Ho Sau Fun Connie
and Chao Howard are also directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries. Other directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report were as

follows:

Ms. Hui Wai Man
Ms. Haw Suat Tin

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biography of Directors and senior management are set
out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive in the shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,

were as follows:
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Report of the Directors

(i) AF (i) Company
A B A & A 25 = S
Name Equity Personal interest Corporate interests
HH =gk
Chao Sze-Tsung Cecil Ordinary Shares 12,573,397 453,408,112
FRE Egalie 1,765,767 -
Lee Ding Yue, Joseph Ordinary Shares

e - HEBEEN ERARE DEE#ER]
ARR 2 EEBRRMABR QA R
FEHBRRQRFTE 2D

(i) MHERQF

Note: The shareholdings disclosed by Dr. Chao Sze-Tsung Cecil
under the heading “Corporate Interests” in the above
represents the shares held by Yan Yin Company Limited
and Szehope Securities Company Limited, substantial

shareholders of the Company.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Bl A B 2= EEERS

MEARERE B= BR 25 Personal Corporate
Name of Subsidiaries Directors Equity Interests Interests
Ace Cosmos Finance Limited — ZF 83 gLk - 192/%
Lee Ding Yue, Joseph Shares 192 shares

(1.92%)

ARABLERTARBES ZRSHTHA
B HBMBASEMARBARFTRN

=R HHE %’%/\—r]ﬁﬂ%&ﬁzﬁ T@ZEM\T
NAZ B B Rk B BIRIE R 55 M ]
= f%ﬁﬂ%%zﬂxﬁﬁzﬁ’é%ﬁﬁﬂﬁWﬂﬁ‘iﬁ?ﬂ:ﬁ
NAEFEFR 5T RIFRMA QT N

The Company did not grant to the Directors, Chief Executive
or their associates any right to subscribe for shares in the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interest or short position in the shares
of the Company or its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023 that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.
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RAFERN » AR7A - HEBAR - AERN
J& A R E B R A 2 B A 0] 15 3 A AN
REEFABEANRFHEMA A 2D
HEHFLREFFR A -

RIBSFOERB2REBREERR

RZZF_MFERA=+H JFHFEHERK
PIZE336MKFIF M B 2408k - BRIA L
KEZ2EERGRRITRABREIN
ARRARAREFEMALHEARFD %
TRABD 2RI A E 2 T 2RSS -

.
DN

EEGNES

ROASEF [ R 6 R A S R R AE (T
MEARE WBAR  RASRKBAF
REBRRRAMBTLARDRNEB BB
BERAKR S FHAEENRE FE -

ERENDBRIGRE
READAMBLAHENRAAATNES
B MANHRE AE - BRBAQARERR
EHRABHRATZARKERE -

BrEERE
RRABARNWEELEERIRTE -

At no time during the year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

INTEREST DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 30 June 2024, the register of interests in shares
maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that
the Company had not been notified of any substantial
shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital, other than those of the Directors and

Chief Executive as disclosed above.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There are no contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company, as at the date of this report, it is confirmed that
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float

under the Listing Rule

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Articles of Association of the Company.
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EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

STAFF
As at 30 June 2024,

remuneration packages are normally reviewed annually. The

the Group employed 47 staff. Staff

Group also provides other staff benefits, which include year
end double pay and contributions to defined contribution

retirement schemes.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 31
to the financial statements and in the above under Directors’

interests in contracts.

SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or existed during

the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest suppliers and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for 62.8% and 22.2%

respectively of the Group’s total purchases.

During the year, the five largest customers and the largest
customer of the Group accounted for 37.1% and 9.6%

respectively of the Group’s total turnover.

Save as aforesaid, at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors,
their associates, or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests in the

Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Director has interest in any business which is,
either directly or indirectly, competing with the business of

the Group.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Group has received, from each of the independent
non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Group
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

There is no continuing connected transaction which is
required to comply with the requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the years ended 30 June 2024 and
30 June 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its Directors’ and senior management arising
from corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by
section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance”) when the Report of the Board of the Directors
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with

section 391(1)(a) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s shares

during the year.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2024 were audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited, who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company will

be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Cecil Sze-Tsung Chao

Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 September 2024
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o Grant Thornton
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To the members of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 146
to 300, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 30 June 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the Companies Ordinance.
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BIAZBEHRES
Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Notes 2.5, 4.1 and 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had investment properties
measured at fair value amounted to approximately
HK$5,365,067,000 and a decrease in fair value of
investment properties of approximately HK$154,070,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss for the year then ended.

The estimate of fair values of the Group’s investment
properties were assessed by the Group based on
independent valuations performed by qualified external
valuers, in which significant judgements and estimation,
including valuation methodologies and key assumptions, are

used.

We focused on this area because the significant estimates
and judgement involved in determining the property
valuations warrants specific audit focus and attention on this

area.
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BIAZBEHRES
Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures in relation to the investment

properties included:

reviewed the valuation reports of the investment
properties to discuss with the management and valuers
to assess the methodologies and key assumptions

adopted in the valuation;

— assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and
read their terms of engagement and evaluated the
objectivity, independence and competence of the

valuers; and

— evaluated the methodologies used and the key
assumptions, such as capitalisation rate, market rent
and developer’s profit margin, adopted in the valuation
models based on market data, entity-specific historical
information, and the nature and composition of the

Group’s investment properties.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

Assessment of the net realisable value of properties held for

sale

Refer to Notes 2.9, 4.1 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had properties held for sale
amounting to approximately HK$2,980,122,000.

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion
and costs to be incurred in selling the property. The
net realisable value was determined by the Group with
reference to the valuation performed by independent
qualified external valuers. Given the significant judgements
and estimates used in assessing the net realisable value
of properties held for sale, such assessment is considered

significant to our audit.

Management concluded no impairment on the properties
held for sale was recognised for the year ended 30 June
2024.

We focused on this area because the significant estimates and
judgement involved in determining the property valuations

warrants specific audit focus and attention on this area.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



BASEF ST =18 ()
KA E O AEE%EE

BB FEMENERTEF B

— AHEEERES - WEEREEMGEME
Talam - A TR GEFERANITA
MERER

— FHEGHEMMERMBERME - WHE
i FIEVBE AR 1 - RE M ERD R Z 8
M OBIEMEES K

— FHEFTER B ITDEARER TS8R -
BHEBRELEEALRAERREMNE
BV 1 AR A R i (B AR AL AR R A O R 2
B MEFEMENGETEE -

Hfth & ¥

EEEHAMELEE - A8 ET
HRFRANZHES  BEFREEAH
BHRERBRPORBAERS -

BPHGEEMBHREANBRL TREEA
EE  BHPNAHZFEMERBEREM
R EERE 4w o

BAERMBEAEVBERRNERT - RAD
EERHMEEMES  ELHBES  EE
HEERGHEA M B RRARMESR
AABEPATENBEAFEEREBNE
UFEFEERERRANBER o R EM
ERTHIHE  IREMBLSEMBEER
EEXRERRL  RMAFEREXEE -
EETE RFPLBEMAKRE -

BIAZBEHRES
Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures in relation to properties held for sale
included:

— reviewed the valuation report to discuss with
management and the valuers to understand the
methodologies and assumptions adopted in the
valuation of the properties;

— assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and
read their terms of engagement and evaluated the
objectivity, independence and competence of the
valuers; and

— evaluated the methodologies used and the key
assumptions, such as estimated selling price of
properties held for sale, adopted in the valuation
models based on market data, entity-specific historical
information, and the nature and composition of the
Group’s properties held for sale.

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in the
annual report of the Company, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are
responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.
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BIAZBEHRES
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.
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BIAZBEHRES
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

24 September 2024
Han Pui Yu

Practising Certificate No.: P0O7101

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR

145



146

RERmR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

HtiF
Notes
B A Revenue 5
BEKA Direct costs
ER Gross profit
H b g A Other income 7
WEWMENARBEZEE Changes in fair value of
investment properties 14
BARBEFABRZ Changes in fair value of financial
TREEAABED assets at fair value through
poE) profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
BAnEBEEGTAEM Net expected credit loss (“ECL")
2EKEZEREERN of financial assets at fair value
RHEREX through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”)
THER Administrative expenses
B 7% B AR Finance costs 8
BRBLAT (B518) & A (Loss)/Profit before income tax 9
FTSB B (2 ) Income tax credit/(expense) 10
rEERF Profit for the year
THATEIERFE Profit/(loss) for the year
wF O (EE) ¢ attributable to:
ZAN/NCIES TN Owners of the Company
JF 1 AR HE = Non-controlling interests
AT HFEAFMEAREE Earnings per share for profit
B ZERAER attributable to the owners of
the Company during the year
FH K Basic 12
g Diluted 12

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4

—E-NFE —E-=F
2024 2023
FHBxT FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
188,042 45,156
(81,246) (17,404)
106,796 27,752
22,132 15,949
(154,070) 145,091
6,000 2,353
(4,975) (14,210)
(56,570) (69,637)
(53,831) (18,105)
(134,518) 89,193
305,522 (36,153)
171,004 53,040
171,678 21,202
(674) 31,838
171,004 53,040
HK$0.263% 7t HK$0.037% 7T
HK$0.267% 7T HK$0.037% 7T
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Ht2EZH -
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HEAEHIEE

BRARBEFSAREMER

Warp 2z 2 BMEE
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MBEHRELEZIER
JE5 18

HERE A EHDRE
BaErIER -
AR RET
NREEE

H At 2 W e #5010 AE RE Y
FTS

AREFHEMEm L
B MERTEIA

REERERE (XH)

TIALEBEXRFERZE
Wi (R #%E:
ZAN/NCIESEDN
FRIER R

N EENES (YK F)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive expense
for the year, net of tax

Items that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of financial

assets at FVTOCI (recycling)

Exchange loss on translation of
financial statements of foreign
operations

Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of land and
buildings held for own use

Income tax relating to components of

other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive expense

for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/(expense)

for the year

Total comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

HMETHEWEE
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

—E-EF T =4F
2024 2023
FHE T FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
171,004 53,040
(11,972) (1,943)
(15,126) (115,012)
593 2,763
(98) (456)
(26,603) (114,648)
144,401 (61,608)
145,075 (93,446)
(674) 31,838
144,401 (61,608)

RERBE TAAAFA AFIBEHNIRIE Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company are set out

BEEE11AR o

in Note 11.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZF_MEA=+H AS AT 30 JUNE 2024

—ESE-NE —E =%
2024 2023
ik FE T FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
EERAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
IRBEE Non-current assets
TE Y Investment properties 14 5,365,067 6,870,006
L E TN L Property, plant and equipment 15 190,569 44,240
HiIEmHEE Other non-current asset 16 950 950
HEHthe & E Other financial assets 17 49,248 65,472
EETIAE E Deferred tax assets 27 15,001 17,813
5,620,835 6,998,481
RBEE Current assets
TZRPEFEME Properties under development
for sale 19 1,394,106 1,540,561
EERKZFEDE Completed properties for sale 19 1,586,016 359,440
HEthSmEE Other financial assets 17 628 3,642
BARBESABERZ Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 20 57,216 48,216
FEWE 5 BRI K& Trade and other receivables
H Ath & Ui BR 7K 21 21,095 27,248
RITEHETFLRR® Bank balances and cash 22 881,792 323,525
3,940,853 2,302,632
RBAE Current liabilities
E b FE S BRK Other payables 23 146,092 152,768
AHAaE Contract liabilities 24 12,785 138,682
JE {F S 2 AR AR BR K IR Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders 25 239,990 239,990
FE R E R R RIE Amounts due to related
companies 25 4,645 1,627
BEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 26 1,131,508 233,733
EEIK Advance from a director 31(a) 211,617 172,716
HERE Lease liabilities 28 1,290 2,167
FEAT B I8 Tax payable 215,495 20,090
1,963,422 961,773
REEEFHE Net current assets 1,977,431 1,340,859
BEERRBAEE Total assets less current
liabilities 7,598,266 8,339,340
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZFE_ME,A=+H AS AT 30 JUNE 2024

—F-lmF —E_=F
2024 2023
H it FET TET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
BEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 26 - 630,000
HEaE Lease liabilities 28 744 789
RIETRIEE & Deferred tax liabilities 27 704,926 926,091
705,670 1,556,880
EEFE Net assets 6,892,596 6,782,460
xS EQUITY
I Share capital 29 2,468,985 2,468,985
5 Reserves 4,215,383 4,104,573
AT HFEAEMEER  Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 6,684,368 6,573,558
FERER Non-controlling interests 208,228 208,902
EEBE Total equity 6,892,596 6,782,460
ii-Nig ] HAZ
Chao Sze-Tsung Cecil Chao Gigi
BE EFE
Director Director
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GeEHEREXR
Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

EEEBHZRSTE
BB (A51R) 2 7
e

MR BERERBINE

EREEENE
BB UA
M B YA
LRI

BREMEAABEIEZD
HEREMEERE

BORAABESAREBEZAEK
mZ T REEER

BARBESARMEEKEZ
TREEMNBEHEREBESX

b 3¢ 2= HE

RBE BB 2
@BuF (B
FEmERL, S M)

B 5 I8 R B R H i B IR

Ho A &5 BR R OB ) /48 00

BHRAERD

BARRABENARBREZ
TREE-FLTREAS

REFDABA RS
B B #5 A AR
NEBREDR, (ER)

AEETETESL " (B F)
B FHEE

Cash flows from operating
activities
(Loss)/Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets
Dividend income
Interest income
Finance costs
Changes in fair value of
investment properties
Loss on disposal of investment
properties
Loss on redemption of financial
assets at FVTOCI
ECL of financial assets at FVTOCI

Change in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL
Exchange difference

Operating profit/(loss) before
working capital changes
Decrease/(Increase) in properties
held for sale
Decrease in trade and
other receivables
(Decrease)/Increase in other
payables
Decrease in contract liabilities
Purchase of financial assets at
FVTPL — unlisted investment fund

Cash used in operations
Finance costs paid
Tax refunded/(paid)

Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities
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—BomEFE —FT-=fF
2024 2023
TR TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(134,518) 89,193
619 587
3,171 3,009
(4,425) (2,927)
(15,829) (11,531)
53,831 18,105
154,070 (145,091)
5,949 -

- 2,830

4,975 14,210
(6,000) (2,353)
23,751 21,535
85,594 (12,433)
9,245 (4,312)
5,652 837
(7,446) 17,493
(125,897) (16,002)
(3,000) (1,007)
(35,852) (15,424)
(39,970) (36,402)
282,476 (16,217)
206,654 (68,043)




BEHEREXR
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

—EomE —EF-=F

2024 2023
liigza THET TET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
REZBZHERE Cash flows from investing activities
& B A Dividend received 4,425 2,927
MBI A Interest received 16,330 10,565
BEMZE  HMEREZE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (582) (551)
Additions of investment
E WY ZEIE N properties 14 (7,326) (9,387)
HEREYERWR Proceed from disposal of
investment properties 74,109 -
EERRITEFENR Release of pledged bank balances - 911
Wk B HEZE - #23 Proceed from disposal of
Kt property, plant and equipment 30 3
BRZ AR EEA Redemption of financial assets at
BErmEkas s efEE FVTOCI 2,291 85,753
BARARBEA Purchase of financial assets at
Hit 2wz & mEE FVTOCI - (18,126)
REZETEE HL FE Net cash generated from investing
activities 89,277 72,095
METBH2RERE Cash flows from financing activities
EENEES) Dividends paid (34,265) (24,475)
FIRITER R HEMER New bank and other loans raised 32 398,000 432,291
RITEER Repayment of bank loan 32 (132,000) (434,823)
HAth B FE K Repayment of other loan 32 - (10,896)
Increase in advances from a
EINEEBR director 32 38,901 29,510
8 3& A B = FRIE N Increase in amount due to related
companies 32 3,018 158
TNHEEBENERER Payment of capital element of
lease liabilities 32 (2,326) (2,219)
B B 78 Ak AR Finance costs paid 32 (48) (44)
XN EEBRAE Interest paid for the advances
from a director 32 (13,043) (9,985)
BETEEL (BF)ZHEE Netcash from/(used in) financing
JHEE activities 258,237 (20,483)

Annual Report 2024 4:4f « CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =& (£8) AR A 151



152

HERERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

RERBEEEEBYZ
#gm, ORd) B8
FONzRERREFEY

EXEDOFE  FERS

FRZBEEZRREEEY

BRITEERRAEEEY
BT

EHEAMBIRRABMEKRENZ
RITHEENMRE

o ERTTE X

Net increase/(decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes, on cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at end

of year

Analysis of the balances of cash

and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash as stated
in consolidated statement of

financial position
Less: Bank overdrafts
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—E-UE IE B
2024 2023
FH&T FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
554,168 (16,431)
322,792 364,661
2,324 (25,438)
879,284 322,792
881,792 323,525
(2,508) (733)
879,284 322,792




TROCELA-ARE Balance at 1 July 2022
FEE Profit for the year
EREMZERH Other comprehensive expense for the year:
REBNEELRIERR Exchange loss on translation of financial
ELVELER statements of foreign operations

BRREEAENZELES 2 Change in fair value of financial assets at
SREELLERTY (B0F)  FVTOC (recycling)
THRETERRA Surplus on revaluation of land and
building
AHZEUEEETRNASEH  Income tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income

EREARLAE Total comprehensive expense for the year

BRERBAM-Z-Z 2022 final dividend approved and paid
RERE (W) (Note 11)

BREREAN-F-=% 2023 interim dividend approved and paid
RERE (W) (Note 11)

“ECCERRCHRER Balance at 30 June 2023

GEEEREXR
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ARAREAREER
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

BAAE

B AR

L

tHEE
B BERE  DREHER (B REER BF  FERER Y 51

Financial assets

at fair value

through other

Property  comprehensive Non-
Share Exchange revaluation reserve Retained controlling
Capital reserve* reserve* (recycling)* profits* Total interests  Total equity
TER TEL TER TEn TR TERL TEn TR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000
(H29a)
(Note 29(a))

2,468,985 (296,995) 30,348 (17,759) 4,506,900 6,691,479 177,064 6,808,543
- - - - 21,202 21,202 31,838 53,040
- (115,012) - - - (115,012) - (115,012)
- - - (1,943) - (1,943) - (1,943)
- - 2,763 - - 2,763 - 2,763
- - (456) - - (456) - (456)
- (115,012) 2,307 (1,943) 21,202 (93,446) 31,838 (61,608)
- - - - (13,054) (13,054] - (13,054)
- - - - (11,421) (11,421) - (11,421)
2,468,985 (412,007) 32,655 (19,702) 4,503,627 6,573,558 208,902 6,782,460
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ZECCELR-RER

E3epall
EnEREhE
ARENEBERIHER
ErZENBER

Balance at 1 July 2023

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Exchange loss on translation of financial
statements of foreign operations

ERABHAZM2ENE 228 Change in fair value of financial assets

HELABENEY (BN

THRETERRS

R ERERESRNAER

FRe2EUELR

EHEREEMN-F-ZF

RERE (Hit1)

EHERCAN-S-MF
ERE Wit)

ZRIRERAZTRER

at FVTOC! (recycling)

Surplus on revaluation of land and
building

Income tax relating to components of
other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the year

2023 final dividend approved and paid
(Note 11)

2024 interim dividend approved and paid
(Note 11)

Balance at 30 June 2024

ARAREARERR
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

A

Bt AR

L

EREE
Ba BERE DEEUERE (B REER BE  FERES Y 5+

Financial assets

at fair value

through other

Property  comprehensive Non-
Share Exchange revaluation reserve Retained controlling
Capital reserve* reserve* (recycling)* profits* Total interests ~ Total equity
TEn TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hit29)
(Note 29(a))

2,468,985 (412,007) 32,655 (19,702) 4,503,027 6,573,558 208,902 6,782,460
- : - - 171,678 171,678 (674) 171,004
- (15,126) - - - (15,126) - (15,126)
- - - (11,972 - (11,972) - (11,97
- - 593 - - 593 - 593
= = (98) = = (98) = (98)
- (15,126) 495 (11,972) 171,678 145,075 (674) 144,401
- - - - (19,580) (19,580) - (19,580)
- - - - (14,685) (14,685) - (14,685)
2,468,985 (427,133) 33,150 (31,674) 4,641,040 6,684,368 208,228 6,892,596

L RSEHREREREEAEEMNSEA BRI
= PN 5 [ R #84,215,383,00078 7T (=
T — =4F : 4,104,573,000787C) °

*

These reserve accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of
approximately HK$4,215,383,000 (2023: HK$4,104,573,000)

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—REH

SR (EE)ARARUTARRA]) T5—
HEFBEMKRILZBREERR K
A A) 2w AR B 9 BE 5 AR A SR AE A
BERh > MEZEXWH ST B RPE
ARKME (THE]) - K27FZ M
REBBMAERZAERAR LT -

RRABREWMBRAR (SHEIAEE])
H—ABEMN L2 ERRBMABR
AR (IMADZER - RBER - EF
RSB 2 SAAER R R IR IRAA

V

REBZEIBXRBEEH/YMEZREM
RERBEHYEEELEBRBERS -

HE_Z-_UWESA=tTBULEEEZ
sk EEEeRN ST -_WFENA
“+ BT -

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION
Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a

limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is
disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the
annual report and, its principal place of business is
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
controlled by Yan Yin Company Limited (“Yan Yin”), a
limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in
Hong Kong. At the reporting date, the directors consider
the ultimate parent company of the Group is also Yan
Yin.

The Group is principally engaged in property
development and investment and provision of property

management and related services.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2024 were approved for issue by the
board of directors on 24 September 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EAETBERRBE

2.1 fRHIEE

HNE146 B EF3008 2 F E4r
EUBBRRDBREEGHMAE
([BEEGMAG) BH2EE
MBmEER ([EEMEHREE
A1) - ke eEmEEAER
ZEBMBHREER EEEIE
Al ((HEgT£R]) kZEEBELSE
BERKAZETRAIMGER -

EIS TR MR o) NS RN NN S
PIZRE - TRERFEEBHER
ZAHBRAREZ EMARANERZ
WEME -

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements
on pages 146 to 300 have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1 wmEIEE (&)

REGBVBHRERFRAEKRS
HERBMERFMELZRFEERRE
P o BRENFTRT HAEIER] 2 BB T
s 2RI S S AN SR BB F5 R 2
T8 (WA ERMFE3R HEE -

e £ B S 9 3R R PR R S P AN E A
B i THIAE P A A BB
EB I -

- mEmE

- BRARBENABRZOBE
DA EES A2 E
TEREE R

- THREBFOBEEYE S
N o

B B RN T8 B
%\)io

The material accounting policies that have been
consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are

disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared on the historical cost basis, except for:

— investment properties;

— financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL");

— financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI!”); and

— land and building classified under property,

plant and equipment.

which are stated at their fair values. The
measurement bases are fully described in the

accounting policies below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.1 wmEIEE(HF)

FEE BN HR BER B IS R 08 )
GEH AR RBR - BERFMETD
REEEEHBMEFRITH IR
ERARAE L - EERERR
R gEZEGEFAERAEA - BN
RS2 EHE SRR REM 8
SBER AT HEMBREAMEBE
AZ BRBERMFE4KE -

RZE-_WNFASA=+H ~EE
ART ZEARNERNE EEK
£1,131,508,0007% 7t + i 4~ 5 B
B ER 1T 45 88 )L 3R € /2881,792,000
BT -EEDANMBERSES HERE
TZEARReREFAFEAD
HEREEAMRETEBRR(EZEF
BBELHEMF42) L EEFA
REB A ESHOFRBITRIE L
465,103,000/ 7T © L) - AR E
TRERTHREFN S _MNF
+— AR BEERAE  A&H
HERMINERCEIERITHR
YFRAMR - BANERE A5 e S A B HARS
B ARITEE N ESEMEEIN
BRMENENE - NEEBATIE
EPIRIRITERBOFE -

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings repayable within twelve months
of HK$1,131,508,000 while the Group’s bank
balances and cash was HK$881,792,000. The
directors have evaluated the relevant available
information and key assumptions (see Note 4.2
for more details) used in the cash flow projections
for the twelve months since the reporting date and
considered utilising remaining banking facilities
of approximately HK$465,103,000 available to
Group. In addition, although certain existing
banking facilities will expire in November 2024,
the directors consider that there are good track
records and good relationships with banks, and
the Group will be able to renew existing banking
facilities upon expiry or to obtain other additional
borrowing facilities as necessary. The Group is

currently in the progress of renewing of bank loans.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1 wmEIEE (&)

Bt - R sE33.3F74 - EER
A ZERD BRI ARERRE A
NI E FTIRTTRLE &9 A BB DA I
REBHOANBHBER  A5EE
B &8 E & K m B R R B B
MBEHEKR - EFERE - TFEA8E
HAEERBELERENELEERS
BEERTEEM - Bt - 4565
BHRERERBLENER LRR
EI’\] °

AEREEEEASBEREERS BB
BHEGAVBHRRTETHAE &
BEEBERCEEAIZRFE I
AR BEE L MR — T B E M
B ARKIFRBEEMIERE
BESRESBRRBEENRS
BfE -  ZERENTEL RRRAE
meaMBmmARLE -

Therefore, as stated in Note 33.3, the directors are
of the opinion that, taking into account the present
available borrowing facilities and possibility of
successful renewal of banking facilities and internal
financial resources of the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligation as they fall due for the foreseeable
future. The directors consider there are no material
uncertainty exist that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements

have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business
as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made in the consolidated financial statements
to write down the values of the assets to their
net realisable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect
of such adjustments has not been reflected in the

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.2 ImEERE

MAEVBREREIERR T REN B
NBHEEFNA=1THZH®ER
;E °

MEARRAEEZEGNER - K
SHEEH —EAEE  ETHEEN
EAHERNE - AT ACH2 N T
PSR EH D - Iﬁ%ﬁﬁ
ﬁmamm%ﬂ@ B o £

Emﬁ%ﬁ%

AN B B EBIEFIERESHER
Al Z WA R H & AL E B IS ®
R BEIAREE N BEGZHE
RAEAIZ BRI -

REURE MR - SEAQA

MRS - EHEkAREHR W= RER
% ﬁ% EEANQRIMEEHE
ZAREBRBENGERE RFRD -

MiEAEETENAEE 2 AEH#E
TTRERIE - M B A RBIEHRE +
ERNSECRMERELAE -
VAREAR B 7N &R B IR AN B0 & 5T IBUR

ﬁo

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries made up to 30 June each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power over
the entity, only substantive rights relating to the
entity (held by the Group and other parties) are

considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment from the Group’s
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statement of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the

accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

2.2 GERE(E)

SRR RTBNARRINE
EAREMBARNER - MAS
B B SRR A AR B
FYARMERSR - BERAEEERAOY
HTETHMBEEENMNENEL
HNEBEEXBEH  NEEAE
BUAQARBERZNBERRATHA
FEEM G B R & B AR FFE
P e

o

Bk

FEIEHIE S A OFR AR R 42
@A EFIR - BEERARRM
BEENREDH - FEBRBERER
SEXETOED  FRAFER
AR RA N AR & UL et AR BR A FR 1R IR
RzBEOR - DRlfEAHIERR
ME A RERFIIR

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group
has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net

identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from the equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income respectively for
the year between non-controlling interests and the

owners of the Company.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EXETTHERE (&)

W)

2.3

REEE (H)
EARRRBMBHRET - MERFIA
PRASB EAEDRE LR - BRIEZ M
BRARBIIARTEIFLENEE
EFHESET - KAEBRERER
BEMKA -

ARABFEMBRARNEEREAE
HE B W MR B ST HE
WUHE T 2 A el 2 1R U EI 9 P B A
BHEARRBIHIBa PR -

SRR
MFBERABITER - HIFASAR
AlZREE -

A ARE R ZERMEHRRAR
TOMERZ SRR 5 H 2 M5 ER
TEBZMENERZIEERE - 1©
BER MINEFHEZEREBEN
BERGEEHERBE - GH IR
REMREERBENBREEREE
NMEEELE L ENER - 13
R R PR -

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or
included in a disposal group. Cost also includes

direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s

profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), which is also the

functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of
the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.3 HEEBRE

AR BERE B ASNEEHE R IE
ERHBUARBEREE BNER
TEXRBHBE  WIERAAEE
BaEr— 8o WmE o LAINEE LK
AAENFEEUEERTETE
e (AHEERAR S AMEXRK
) EEBHENAABAEK
sk BRFTARRR - ZWaEsig
ROERRBEBO BT AR - 8
FFEBMRBENAARBENSHE
KA E M AR A Y T HERRRT - & A
SHBERNEMNEL D LEER
iR & Wzt P HERR -

—

EHRAVBHRERT - FIARINEE
B 18] 1) B 75 3 3% JR AN DA B A £ [ 51
BREBTENERI®R  EXLBA
BTt - BEMRBBDIRMRE B HN
WHERME RETT - WAFER
KR ZENERFTERBIT - 3
FEFE ZRBRIERBHIERT - K
RBEMENFYERTERE
T WREFELANTINEZEEBEAE
Hitt 2w et o iR - WD
[ERHEETERRE -

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transactions date).
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all
individual financial statements of foreign
operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into Hong Kong dollars.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates at the
reporting date. Income and expenses have been
converted into the Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates,
or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate
significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately

in the exchange reserve in equity.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.3

2.4

ShEEBRE ()
i EEIER (AHERAKER
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BOHE)ME  AXBEMENAR
ERAEREZRYBNRAEEEH
DIERL o URTR BN IFEE
smAVEME R Z YD R IHER
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BERE (Bl RREESIE) - BIR
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RIFRTE LM EARA) R - B
BENBAREEEENTEETT
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SN - BRI AR X REHT &M
REtREEKL (E) 5K -

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation),
all of the accumulated exchange differences in
respect of that operation attributable to the Group
are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange
differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they
are not reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of
control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit

or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of
right-of-use assets as described in Note 2.13) are
initially recognised at acquisition cost (including
any cost directly attributable to bringing the
assets to the location and condition necessary for
them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by the Group’s management). Except
for land and building held for administrative
purpose as described below, they are subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 W) HBERKRE (E) 2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

ATTER 3 B V5 B R M) 3K A
NABERERFITEMRERE
EEE (WE2.17) (0HE) I8 -
EE 1 B R E 2w W T
R Wrt AR [ EE G
] - IMRSEAE A BT ERE
A EAERESRERRE - AEHIE
BT AR - HRE0 AR H A
E2EW R - | N EGEF
HEFH S SORE DRI IR TR - R
TREEZEEMBENREETOE
o] E 2 SR A A2 18 25 P WE SR O (B A]
R ENEERN  CAEMES
e o

FERRBEEZEKRAEZEEZ HEHE
A AIERFH MR ERE
HEMER RFHRE R MEER A
BARORRTIRITE - EBFITERT
T~

T REF 2%
R RIEREFIERE 10%
YRE MR 20%

Land and building held for administrative
purpose are stated at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
(Note 2.17), if any. Any revaluation surplus is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
credited to “property revaluation reserve” in equity.
To the extent that any revaluation decrease or
impairment loss has previously been recognised in
profit or loss, a revaluation increase is credited to
profit or loss with the remaining part of the increase
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Downward revaluations are recognised upon
appraisal or impairment testing, with the decrease
being charged to other comprehensive income
to the extent of any revaluation surplus in equity
relating to this asset and any remaining decrease

recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or
revalued amounts less their residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-

line method, at the following rates per annum:

Land and building 2%
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10%
Motor vehicles and accessories 20%
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use

assets is set out in Note 2.13.

The asset’s residual values, depreciation methods
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation
surplus remaining in equity is transferred to
retained profits upon disposal of land and building

and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs, such as
repairs and maintenance, are charged to profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see Note 2.13) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for
currently undetermined future use and property that
is being constructed or developed for future use as

investment property.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.5

2.6

REWE (&)

REVMEBIED BRI R R RET
BRFEREMEZZETNREY
X -REMEDINGEERRAAE
BEEFBHRARETIE - ED
FEORABETHE RN
METEREERAER ZINER
ELERMKEE - HRMEBZE
EEERRNES A ERF2MSIE

EHEAREEESANHERE
VISR 1% T 5| B 28 85 1E AT 3 A R B
B H) B i &R P R -

HMERBEE
HiIERBEEREMES - UG
& PTEF IR A ETT VA TER -
HERF R ERERY - &7
BEHFNEEHRE B ETRENR
(RFtaE2.17) - BENETHEIE - t
EEERSAHEERSHETE
L NEEERAZGA AL #
BREGXE - ARTE - RIERS
AR ERBERERNE (LR
ARRGHEEITEETRIE

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

2.6

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties include completed properties
and investment properties under development for
continued future use as investment properties.
Investment properties are measured at cost on
initial recognition and subsequently at fair value.
Fair value is determined by external professional
valuers, with sufficient experience with respect
to both the location and nature of the investment
property. The carrying amounts recognised at
the reporting date reflect the prevailing market

conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise.

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents club debenture.
Club debenture acquired is measured on the initial
recognition at cost and its useful life is assessed
to be indefinite. The club debenture is tested for
impairment (see Note 2.17) at each reporting
date and not to be amortised. Its useful life is
also reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for

on a prospective basis.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or

expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial

assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component and are
measured at the transaction price in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (“HKFRS 15”7), all financial assets
are initially measured at fair value, in case of a
financial asset not at FVTPL, plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the profit or

loss.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

Financial assets are classified into the following

categories:

amortised cost

- FVTPL; or

- FVTOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the

financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the

financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs or other income, except for
ECL of trade receivables which is presented within

administrative expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are
not designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and

collect its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The
Group’s trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash fall into this category of financial

instruments.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.7 @@ T A ()

THEE (&)
EHEENEATE (H)

EFRE (&)
BAABEFAEMEEKER

TREE - @ YF

IMRKENARRESREERRER
EMAMBNXN  WEZRERE—
BEBEIPRE  AZEKEL
MEMEBEBWESRESREM
HERERE - RFEZEBNEM
2EW PR - EEREREE
EE - FLE WA (ERERMEE
FE) RIMNEBSERERIN - 2 1E
ERZNER  HibzmEiams R
BHSHRENtEET B O =8 -

PR E
BRAEZFRED R RRAAEER
ANBHZEMEE  RIFZRAR
BTRUAFEEEENH /M
B YHAEVRERZRER &
NARPEERHIEE /B AAEER
AE M2 W (KA B Y - itk
REEEEXETANER FET
W BEREERENAEHITANA
B8 IR E &R AT ©

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt investments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTOVCI — recycling

If the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collection
of contractual cash flows and sale, subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of ECL, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to

profit or loss.

Equity investment

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition
of the investment, the Group elects to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling). Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but only be made if the investment meets the

definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
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2. EXETTHERE (&) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
27 @ T A (&) 2.7 Financial instruments (Continued)
ERMEE (&) Financial assets (Continued)
CHEENEETE () Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
BEERE (&) Debt investments (Continued)
R E () Equity investment (Continued)
B RS YOI BB R T SR Dividends from these investments in equity
ZEEa T ARENRENBERES instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
R -KREBEEEATH[EAM the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
WAL - established. Dividends are included in the “other

income” in profit or loss.

TRAasE Financial liabilities
ETHEENS BT E Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

AEBNTRABBRERBERM The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-
Bx  HEBE HMWEMNEKS ﬁcﬂ bearing borrowings, lease liabilities, other payables
REE F BN I8 (B IEE N IEEE R and advances from related parties (including
BERHFRIR ~ BN RE QR8I FRIA amounts due to non-controlling shareholders,
MEERK) - amounts due to related companies and advance

from a director).

cRmaE(FHEABERINIEAR Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities)
BEETYIRTE - WEBARKR are initially measured at fair value, and, where
BRGKPNETAERRRALEE applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the

FABRZERAE - Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method except for derivatives
and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which
are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or

losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges that are reported in

profit or loss are included within finance cost.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in
Note 2.13.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings

using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.8

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)

Other payables and advances from related parties

Other payables and advances from related parties
are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)’s
impairment requirements use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans
and other debt-type financial assets measured at
amortised cost and FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at
FVTPL.

The Group considers a broader range of
information when assessing credit risk and
measuring ECL, including past events, current
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts
that affect the expected collectability of the future
cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage
1”); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2”).

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



GEMFREMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
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“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting

date.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the

Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over

the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering
the potential for default at any point during the life
of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics

and the days past due.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables, debt investment at FVTOCI and bank
balances and cash equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default

occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or

effort.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if

available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default

swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
regulatory, business, financial, economic
conditions, or technological environment that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration

in the operating results of the debtor.

[rrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default,
the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to

fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group); or (ii) the financial asset is 90
days past due for bank balances and cash and debt
investment at FVTOCI; or (iii) the financial asset is

365 days past due for other receivables.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, debt investment at FVTOCI and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost are set
out in Note 33.2.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

2.9

Financial guarantee contracts

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to

receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale include completed
properties for sale and properties under
development for sale and are stated at the lower of

cost and net realisable value.

(i) Properties under development for sale

The cost of properties under development
for sale comprises specifically identified
cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and
supplies, wages and other direct expenses,
an appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised (see Note 2.19).
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of completion

and costs to be incurred in selling the property.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Properties held for sale (Continued)

(ii) Completed properties for sale

In the case of completed properties developed
by the Group, cost is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs
for that development project, attributable to
the unsold properties. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less costs

to be incurred in selling the property.

The cost of completed properties for sale
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and

condition.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks. For the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow
presentation, cash and cash equivalents include
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

2.11 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be

recognised.
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2. EXEIBRERBE (K 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Q11 EHNEE (E) 2.11 Contract liabilities (Continued)
HREEFNE—GR  JHFEFS For a single contract with the customer, either
REERFEREE -HRZHE a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
A BeREBNEREEMER presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets

BEAIALOFRRT R - and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are

not presented on a net basis.

LN HMBRREN 2.12 Financial guarantees issued by the Company
MBBEREHNRERBEEEAKRE A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
REB TR Z IGRNER S 3R - 2% requires the issuer (or guarantor) to make specified
TARERAEXNIECEETH payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
BAUNBEEMEREBERZEL - because a specified debtors fails to make payment

when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.
BASEE M IERERE - BRD Where the Company issues a financial guarantee,
R A BERYE [ E i FE 8RR the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised
‘:F'TJEE RIBIERA - @ BBERHOA as deferred income within “other payables”. The
REBEEREEFE ILAMERNSE fair value of financial guarantees is determined
E R R R ERATFE ZENN R ZE based on the present value of the difference in cash
MRS REZRNBEETEN X flows between the contractual payments required
EEBMENGE = TER under the debt instruments and the payments
TR o BB EREREITHN that would be required without the guarantee, or
B REREBEAEEEANZER the estimated amount that would be payable to
BENBER T IAER o ARk E a third party for assessing the obligations. Where
WHBNKE - RIBNSHXEN T’ consideration is received or receivable for the
RAEANIR FE Y A B FE 1R 55 P B ER o issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is

recognised in accordance with the Company’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on

initial recognition of any deferred income.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Financial guarantees issued by the Company
(Continued)

Subsequently, financial guarantees are measured at
the higher of the amount determined in accordance
with ECL under HKFRS 9 as set out in Note 2.8
and the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income

recognised over the guarantee period.

2.13 Leases
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease.
A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of
a contract, that conveys the right to use an
identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration’.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key

evaluations which are whether:

— the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made

available to the Group;

— the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract;

and
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2,134 (&) 2.13 Leases (Continued)
(a) HEZEZRAEBZAHEA (a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(#4&) (Continued)
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— the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period
of use. The Group assesses whether it
has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the

period of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a

lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which is made up of the
initial measurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset at the end of the lease,
and any lease payments made in advance of
the lease commencement date (net of any

incentives received).
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.13 Leases (Continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a

lessee (Continued)

Except for those right-of-use assets meeting
the definition of investment properties and
those relating to a class of property, plant and
equipment to which revaluation model was
applied, the Group depreciates the right-of-
use assets on a straight-line basis from the
lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset
or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at
the end of the lease term. The Group also
assess the right-of-use asset for impairment
when such indicator exists. Those right-of-
use assets meeting the definition of investment
properties or relating to a class of property,
plant and equipment to which revaluation
model was applied are subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s

accounting policies.

At the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability at the present
value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group’s incremental

borrowing rate.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2,134 (&) 2.13 Leases (Continued)
(a) HEZEZRAEBZAHEA (a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(#4&) (Continued)
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Measurement and recognition of leases as a

lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement
of the lease liability are made up of fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payment) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also included the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in

in-substance fixed payments.

For lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the

effective date of modification.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.13 Leases (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a

lessee (Continued)

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is

already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-
term leases using the practical expedients.
Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these
lease are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term

of 12 months or less.

Right-of-use assets are presented included
in property, plant and equipment of the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as

either operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset,
and classified as an operating lease if it does

not.

The Group also earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment properties.
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the lease.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Provisions and contingent liabilities
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle

the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date

and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is recognised at the amount of consideration
of shares issued, after deducting any transaction
costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they
are incremental costs directly attributable to the

equity transaction.
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2. EXAEHHERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 U 2 52 2.16 Revenue recognition
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Revenue arises from the sale of properties held
for sale, rental income under operating leases and

estate management income.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the

Group follows a 5-step process:

1. ldentifying the contract with a customer.

2. ldentifying the performance obligations.

3. Determining the transaction price.

4. Allocating the transaction price to the

performance obligations.

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance

obligation(s) are satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time
or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies
performance obligations by transferring the

promised goods or services to its customers.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)
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Further details of the Group’s revenue and other

income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) YWERHFE (i)

Sales of properties
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(iii) WEEZ KA
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(ii)

Revenue from sales of properties recognised
when (or as) the control of the property is
transferred at a point in time. Revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the

consideration is probable.

Deposits received from customers prior to
delivery of the properties to the customers are

contract liabilities.

For contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property or service exceeds one
year, the transaction price is adjusted for the

effects of a significant financing component.

Rental income

Accounting policies for rental income are set
out in Note 2.13(b).

(iii) Estate management income

Revenue is recognised in the period when

services are rendered.

Annual Report 2024 £ ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 (%) ARAR

189



190

o & BB SRR R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. EXETTHERE (&)

2.16 Wz 32 (&)
(iv) FIE LA
) S ASR B B BRI R IR B
EILL P EEERER - HRNIREBE
FRENREEK AT ENS
BMEE (EHWRF)  BERMNXE
NEEZREAEE - IR
BERBENREERKATE
MWERMEE  BRMEEUH
HEAE & (B0 TR HA(E A
BREMNEERE) °

v) BERKA
FE AT PR HE A B A
R S RRMER

217 FEEMEERERIE
W - MR RERE - EMIEREE

B R AN R BB TSRO R AR 8B
RAINEmBIERERR - EF
BR%BEZREERETER
W AL EEESFEITRIER

Az ©

E-BEEEZEREESNEE K
R - VBB B G RN i 3R R 5
AR AIRESBEARBT N
AABEMEEKAEFEREER
E2BEE AR AEER - &
SRR MEBLRAN AR ER
BRHRE  URRBEMSEHE
BRNREMEREEFARR 2T
fl °

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Interest income

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of ECL

allowance) of the asset.

(v) Dividend income

Revenue from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ right to receive payment is
established.

2.17 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, other non-current
asset and interests in subsidiaries in the statement
of financial position of the Company are subject
to impairment testing. All such assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the

asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of

money and the risk specific to the asset.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
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For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Impairment losses is charged pro rata to the assets
in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value

in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through several defined contribution plans. In
addition, the employees employed under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled
to long service payment (“LSP”) if the eligibility

criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong
Kong for all of its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Moreover,
as required by law, companies in Malaysia
make contributions to the national pension
scheme, the Employee Provident Fund (“EPF”).
Contributions are made based on a percentage

of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries that
operate in the PRC are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. This subsidiary is
required to contribute 10% of its payroll costs

to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as employees render services
during the year. The Group’s obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage

contributions payable.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefits (Continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that
an employee will receive on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances is
defined by reference to the employee’s length
of service and corresponding salary. The legal
obligations for any benefits remains with the

Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position is
the present value of the LSP obligation at the

reporting date.

Management estimates the LSP obligations
annually. This is based on the discount rate,
the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the
expected investment return on offsetable
MPF accrued benefits. Discount factors are
determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid and have terms
to maturity approximating the terms of the

related defined benefit liability.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefits (Continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as

follows:

e service cost (including current and past
service cost, and gains and losses on

curtailments and settlements);

e net interest expense or income; and

° remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit
plan is included in employee benefits expense.
Employee contributions, all of which are
independent of the number of years of service,

are treated as a reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit
liability is included in employee benefits

expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements
of the net defined benefit liability, comprising
actuarial gains and losses, are included in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified

to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EXETTHERE (&)

218 EERA (&)

HHIETHEA
BTZEFROENEZE TRER
TR - REEHRESHHESR
A RIS M E LN FBRGTRIER
57 EEE o

AEMERSIFRESHFRYE

RS R -

2.19 B E R A

BE  RENEECATEGRERN
BEMELSNBEERA (FIR LR
ERENRRIREEFONEMRE
WeaE 1& 158 S K M EH X A
EFERHAZMAFNHEATIA
EXE - fEREER—REER
B EREE T MEERERE
WA®E - HMEERAREELR T
4o

EERANEREREREESH
BEBERANMETHZEEFE
BEMBRHHEMTREBREARN
EREEREERAN—BD - &
HWRAEREERETAEREHE
EFRONARB EFRAESTAE
BIEHEBREEKRANERL -

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by

employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised

until the time of leave.

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment
income earned on the temporary investment
of the specific borrowing, for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying assets
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing

costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are
being incurred and activities that are necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its

intended use or sale are complete.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Government grants

2.21

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “other income” in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of

tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability
method on temporary differences at the reporting
date between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, tax losses
available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit, including existing taxable
temporary differences, will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, unused

tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For investment property measured using the fair
value model in accordance with the accounting
policy above, the measurement of the related
deferred tax liability or asset reflects the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amount
of the investment property entirely through sale,
unless the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,

rather than through sale.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies the requirements in HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” (“HKAS 12”) to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to the lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred

tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
the liability is settled or the asset realised, provided
they are enacted or substantively enacted at the

reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss, or in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the average tax rates that are
expected to apply to the taxable income of the
periods in which the temporary differences are

expected to reverse.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)
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Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are

presented in net if, and only if:

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to

set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred

tax liabilities in net if, and only if:

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax

liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the

same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(it) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be

settled or recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the chief operating decision makers for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service

lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

Property sales;

—  Property rentals;

Estate management; and

—  Others — securities trading

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried

out at arm’s length prices.
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2. EREBHBERE(E) 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 7 EBEWE (&) 2.22 Segment reporting (Continued)
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The measurement policies the Group uses
for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) are the same
as those used in its financial statements prepared
under HKFRSs, except that finance costs, corporate
income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not included in arriving at

the operating results of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but bank balances
and cash, deferred tax assets and corporate
assets, which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment are not
allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to

the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment and are not
allocated to a segment. These include tax payable,

deferred tax liabilities and certain borrowings.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segments.
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2. EXERBERBE (A 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
223B@ES 2.23 Related parties
ARG BHRRME - — TSR For the purpose of these consolidated financial
REREBERRH  fWa statements, a party is considered to be related to
the Group if:
@ —EAXZANBREIHN (a) the party is a person or a close member of that

KEMKBEARNEEFRH 1R person’s family and if that person:

N

(i) B A H R AR E (i) has control or joint control of the Group;

;
(i) HANEBMEEAZEN (i) has significant influence over the Group;
% or
(ii) BAREBHANEBET AR A (iii) is a member of the key management
MEEZERAEBHKE - personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group.
(b) BEFFE NIMEM—IEES B (b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
Hrg— 5% : conditions applies:
(i ZEBEAEERR % (i) the entity and the Group are members of
EpKE the same group;

(ii) —1lfﬂf§537: %‘%ﬁ ok (i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
IEEPE(KR—F of the other entity (or an associate or joint
ﬁﬁ%ﬂ’]’i.ﬁk,\m ey venture of a member of a group of which

QZ/E.\ BE) the other entity is a member);
(i) EREFTRRA—F=FH (iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
BERE: of the same third party;
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following

conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate

of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group
and the sponsoring employers are also

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.

Close family members of a person are those
family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 July 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, which are effective for the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the annual period

beginning on 1 July 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
related amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting

Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single

Transaction

The adoption of the new and amended HKFRSs had
no material impact on how the results and financial
position of the Group for the current and prior periods

have been prepared and presented.
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HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated

financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs

have been published but are not yet effective, and have

not been adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendment to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
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Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lack of exchangeability?

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures*

Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause*

Annual improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards -
Volume 113
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

5 Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning on or after the effective date
of the pronouncement. Information on new and mended
HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the
Group’s accounting policies is provided below. Other
new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify
how to classify debt and other liabilities as current or

non-current which are summarised as follows:

e It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity
has a right (instead of unconditional right as stated
before the amendments) to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months from the
reporting date. This right has to be existed at the
reporting date, regardless of whether the lender

tests for compliance at the date or at a later date;

e Any expectations about events after the reporting
period do not impact the assessment made at
the reporting date as to the classification of the

liability; and
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HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

e “Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to
the counterparty that results in the extinguishment
of the liability. The transfer could be of cash,
other economic resources (e.g. goods or services),
or entity’s own equity instruments. Thus, if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as
liability under HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation” (“HKAS 32”), the transfer of equity
instruments by exercising the conversion option
constitute settlement of liability for the purpose of
current or non-current classification of liabilities.
One exception to the definition is that if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as
equity in accordance with HKAS 32, the transfer
of equity instruments by exercising the conversion
option does not constitute settlement of liability
and would be disregarded when determining

whether the liability is current or non-current.

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that only
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
which an entity must comply with on or before the
reporting date (even if the covenant is only assessed
after the reporting date) affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Those covenants to
be complied with after the reporting date do not affect

such classification at the reporting date.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity to
provide additional disclosure when a liability arising
from a loan agreement is classified as non-current
and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent
on compliance with future covenants within twelve

months.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments to the annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, in which
both amendments are to be applied as a package and

apply retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.

Based on the assessment completed up to date,
the Group has identified the interest-bearing bank

borrowings which may be affected by the amendments:
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024, bank loans of HK$499,000,000
which contain repayable on demand clause, were
drawn under one-year revolving loan facilities were
classified as current liabilities, both of the facilities will
be renewed in July and November 2024. According to
the terms in those revolving loan facilities, the Group
has the right to roll over the loan for another year
subject to the fulfilment of the net assets value and the
bank borrowings to net assets ratio at the maturity date.
Under the 2020 amendments and 2022 amendments,
those loans would be classified as non-current as seen
from 30 June 2024, as covenants to be fulfilled after the
reporting date would not affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current and hence the Group
has the right to roll over the loan and defer settlement
of the loan for at least twelve months after the reporting

date under the one-year revolving loan facilities.
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HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” (“HKFRS 18”)

In July 2024, the HKICPA issued HKFRS 18, effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027. The new accounting standard aims to
give users of financial statements more transparent and
comparable information about an entity’s financial
performance. It will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements” but carries over many
requirements from that HKAS. In addition, there
are three sets of new requirements relating to the
structure of the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
management-defined performance measures and the

aggregation and disaggregation of financial information.

While HKFRS 18 will not change recognition criteria or
measurement basis, it might have a significant impact
on presenting information in the financial statements, in
particular the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The Group are currently assessing any impacts as well
as data readiness before developing a more detailed

implementation plan.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The Amendment
Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset LSP in respect of an employee’s service from
the Transition Date (the “Abolition”). In addition,
the last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date is used to calculate the portion of the
LSP in respect of the employment period before the

Transition Date.

Prior to 1 July 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” (“HKAS 19”) (the “Practical Expedient”) to
account for the offsetable MPF benefits as deemed
employee contributions to reduce the current service
costs in the period in which the related services were

rendered.
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
(Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” (“the Guidance”) that
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting
mechanism and the impact arising from the abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of
the offsetting mechanism, the Group has applied the
above HKICPA guidance and changed its accounting
policy in connection with its LSP liability, which
should result in a catch-up profit or loss adjustment
in June 2022 for the service cost up to that date and
consequential impacts on current service cost, interest
expense and remeasurement effects from changes in
actuarial assumptions for the rest of the year ended,
with the corresponding adjustment to the comparative
carrying amount of the LSP liability. However, since the
amount of the catch-up profit or loss adjustment was
immaterial, the Group did not restate the comparative
figure for consolidated financial statements.

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have
a material impact on the Group’s profit or loss for the
year ended 30 June 2023 and the Group’s and the
Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and
2024.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year

are discussed below:
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BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices
in an active market for similar property in similar
location and condition and subject to lease and
other contracts. In making its judgement, the Group
considers information from a variety of sources

including:

(i) the floor areas of the properties with respect
to the consideration from the independent and

identified buyer;

(ii) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different lease or other contracts),

adjusted to reflect those differences;

(iii) recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since the
date of the transactions that occurred at those

prices; and

(iv) discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and using discount rate that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty

in the amount and timing of the cash flows.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of properties (Continued)

The Group'’s properties have been valued individually,
on market value basis, which conforms to The
Hong Kong Institute of Survey Valuation Standards.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
management of the Group has considered the highest
and best use of the properties. The carrying amount of
the investment properties and land and buildings as at
30 June 2024 are approximately HK$5,365,067,000
and HK$186,254,000 respectively (2023:
HK$6,870,006,000 and HK$38,866,000 respectively).
Details of the fair value information are set out in
Notes 14 and 15.

Allowance for properties under development and

completed properties for sale

In determining whether allowances should be made
for the Group’s properties under development for
sale, the Group takes into consideration the current
market environment and the estimated market
value (i.e. the estimated selling price less estimated
costs of selling expenses less estimated costs to
completion of the properties). An allowance is
made if the estimated market value is less than
the carrying amount. If the actual market value
on properties under development for sale is less
than expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in the
budgeted development cost, material provision for
impairment losses may result. The carrying amount
of the properties under development for sale as at
30 June 2024 is approximately HK$1,394,106,000
(2023: HK$1,540,561,000). No impairment loss on
properties under development for sale have been
written down to net realisable value during the year
ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).
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4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
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Allowance for properties under development and
completed properties for sale (Continued)

Management exercises its judgement in making
allowance for completed properties for sale with
reference to the existing market environment
and the estimated market value of the properties,
i.e. the estimated selling price less estimated
costs of selling expenses. A specific allowance
for completed properties for sale is made if the
estimate market value of the property is lower
than its carrying amount. If the actual market
values of the completed properties for sale are
less than expected, as a result of change in market
condition, material provision for impairment losses
may result. The carrying amount of the completed
properties as at 30 June 2024 is approximately
HK$1,586,016,000 (2023: HK$359,440,000). No
completed properties for sale have been written
down to net realisable value during the year ended
30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).

Going concern basis for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

As disclosed in Note 2.1, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. The appropriateness of the going concern
basis is assessed after taking into consideration of
all relevant available information about the future
of the Group, including the proposed measures
as described in Note 2.1 and the cash flow
projections for the next twelve months from the
date of 30 June 2024. Such projections about the
future inherently involve uncertainties in the sale
prices of the properties and the renewal of banking
facilities. The directors have reviewed the relevant
available information and key assumptions used
in the cash flow projections for the twelve months
after the reporting date, and have concluded that
the use of going concern basis for preparation of
the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2024 remains proper.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Critical accounting judgements

Accounting for taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong, the PRC, Malaysia and Macau. There
are transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Significant
management judgement is required in determining
the provision of income taxes. Where the final tax
outcome is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities in

the period in which such determination is made.

In measuring the Group’s deferred tax on
investment properties measured at fair value,
management of the Group have determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of these
investment properties measured using the fair value
model were recovered entirely through sales was
not rebutted. Deferred tax has been provided at tax
rates that are expected to apply upon sales of the
investment properties held by the subsidiaries of
the Group in Hong Kong, Macau, Malaysia and the
PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

4. ERGF TR HE (&) 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

4.2 EXEEEE (&)

B E = (&)
EHEORENE REVELIR
BENZEEERELERIE - ML
EREVMERTHER L HIZEN
REMGH  THIBEHRNER
ERBEEEEBZZEMERRS
BB AMUBCER LGOI 2 RE - &
IBEeRIRZENETNEHEGT
B BEEETUHKRNERBEL
AR EERAREEYMEER
B2 H o BARE TS 45 R Pl Be B %
VN SEIE EEER B
2B b T TS A B S AR B E LKA A
FHEA PR 1SIH & A AN A R 4R -

ZEUFERA=FTH - BEW
¥ AnBEEHINELNERE
#704,926,0008 0 (ZE =4 :
926,091,000/ JT) B 1£ A~ & B &
E_ZT_NFEXNAZTHIENEGS
B RARPHER - SEHNRREM
FE27F o

Accounting for taxation (Continued)

For the properties in the PRC, the tax expenses on
changes in fair value of investment properties and
properties sales are recognised taking into account
the Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) and Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”) payable upon sales of those
properties in the PRC. The LAT is determined
based on management’s best estimates according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations and provided at ranges
of progressive rates of the appreciation value,
with certain allowable deductions including land
costs, borrowing costs and the relevant property
development expenditures. The final tax outcome
could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and these differences will impact
the income tax expenses and tax provision in
periods in which such taxes have been finalised
with local tax authorities. As at 30 June 2024,
deferred tax liabilities in relation to the fair value
changes of investment properties of approximately
HK$704,926,000 (2023: HK$926,091,000) have
been recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024,

as set out in Note 27.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

4. EREEH{EETR H E (8) 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

4.2 EXEEMEE (&)
FEH e EE (&)
BE —HABETNEEBRNELR

THE E42,678,0008 L (T ==
¢-45M9MN%HQEEQN%I
RZZTZMNFA=1+HMGREE
BARRMERPHER - FBEEHW
F27H c BEMBEEENERFE
KEREHR BHARRFEEARKRIF
EHERRNEER - MEEENE
BRARRFER AL - EARIELE
WMEEEZERRE OB Se

ZHERER P ER o

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

Accounting for taxation (Continued)

In addition, deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$42,678,000 (2023: HK$45,349,000) in relation
to tax losses have been recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2024, as detailed in Note 27. The
recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than expected, a material
reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which

would be recognised in profit or loss for the period

5. WA

AEBZETEXBRESETERERE
HHFEIREE RAFEER RKREX
EEFEBERITEER ZWALT :

in which such a reversal takes place.

5. REVENUE

the year is as follows:

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1
to these consolidated financial statements. Revenue

from the Group’s principal activities recognised during

—EBEoNE —ZT-=fF

2024 2023

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

YIS E Property sales 155,629 -
MEHEE Property rentals 31,794 40,997
Y EE IR Estate management 619 4,159
188,042 45,156
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GEMFREMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

5. REVENUE (Continued)

HEFEITESRNKADME Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
AEBWUATEEZEE RGN TISH The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods
FriE A B R i m A AR TS S WA and services at a point in time in the following major
product lines and geographical market:
BE-S-MEAAZTALEE
Year ended 30 June 2024
MEHE NEHEE NEREE B
Property Property Estate
sales rentals management Total
TERT TER TR FERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
vig:i| Segments
& 15 1 15 Geographical markets
H PRC 53,654 - - 53,654
E Hong Kong 101,975 31,032 619 133,626
SRA S Malaysia - 762 - 762
155,629 31,794 619 188,042
REFREMBHREER Timing of revenue recognition
ERREIREF under HKFRS 15 from external
Y ON: T customers
£ X (AR R 2 At a point in time 155,629 - - 155,629
FEEERAOED Over time - - 619 619
WA ERBHBIWE Revenue not in the scope of
EREISHNBEER HKFRS 15 - 31,794 = 31,794
155,629 31,794 619 188,042
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

5. WA (&) 5. REVENUE (Continued)
REFHITESRANKADHE (&) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)
BE_Z-_-F A=THLEFE
Year ended 30 June 2023

MEHE NERE NEEE BE
Property Property Estate
sales rentals  management Total
TRT TET TR THET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2 Segments
&M% Geographical markets
F PRC - 3,154 2,836 5,990
£ Hong Kong - 37,031 1,323 38,354
SARAE Malaysia - 812 - 812
- 40,997 4,159 45,156
REEBMEHEEREL Timing of revenue recognition
BERRBIREF under HKFRS 15 from external
BRRANER customers
BEEEROED Over time - - 4,159 4,159
WATEE BT HRERLD  Revenue not in the scope of
FISHAEEN HKFRS 15 - 40,997 - 40,997
- 40,997 4,159 45,156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

7 EBE 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
ARAEE (BETEEEARAN)ED The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
REE 7 EESEE FFRMIFE2.22 © operating decision makers, have identified the Group’s
Ty = Ay o R B o T N bR O U B reportable segments as further described in Note 2.22.
DEREEXEREMIEL RN These reportable segments are monitored and strategic
SRTE ° decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment
operating results:
—EZMEF 2024
NEEE NEAE NEEE Rt 4
Property Property Estate
sales rentals management Others Total
TiEn TiEn TER TiEn iR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Revenue
SMRE P From external customers 155,629 31,794 619 = 188,042
A% Inter-segment revenue - 840 49,252 - 50,092
EREDHUA Reportable segment revenue 155,629 32,634 49,871 = 238,134
&S KRN Reportable segment profit/(loss) 71,231 (156,436) 5,747 22,589 (56,869)
EftEH: Other information:
nE BERBENE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 27 462 130 - 619
FRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - 777 2,394 - 3,171
MER(EE) /T Income tax (crediti/expense (325,405) 20,284 - = (305,121)
RENZLABERYD Decrease in fair value of
investment properties - 154,070 - - 154,070
BRALEEIARRL Increase in fair value of financial
CREELAEEEM assets at FVTPL - - - (6,000) (6,000)
EREIHER Reportable segment assets 3,779,612 4,584,165 3,847 57,216 8,424,840
EfREIHEE Reportable segment liabilities 132,033 262,555 4,801 6,157 405,546
ERFERDIBEE Additions to non-current segment
(ERIARERHE assets (other than financial
Baoh) instruments and deferred tax

assets) during the year 29 7,620 1,663 - 9,312
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

6. DEER (&)
—E-=F

BHREDBUA
ERER(6R) &

EtEs

NE BRRRENE
ERREENE
M
REMELAEEEM

BRABEHARSEY

RN
EREEDABERMN

ERESBEE

EREIHEE

ERERBIBEE

(ERITAREREHR
BR5M) 5B
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

2023
NEHEE NERE NEER At s
Property Property Estate
sales rentals  management Others Total
THEL TET TET TAER TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue
From external customers - 40,997 4,159 - 45,156
Inter-segment revenue - 840 23,074 - 23,914
Reportable segment revenue - 41,837 27,233 - 69,070
Reportable segment (loss)/profit (9,937) 140,100 194 3,527 133,884
Other information:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 12 491 84 - 587
Depreciation of right-of-use assets - 737 2,272 - 3,009
Income tax expense 33,662 2,352 - - 36,014
Increase in fair value of
investment properties - (145,091) - - (145,091)
Increase in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL - - - (2,353) (2,353)
Reportable segment assets 2,700,275 6,094,605 7,749 48,216 8,850,845
Reportable segment liabilities 252,184 272,839 5,089 5,911 536,023
Additions to non-current segment
assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax
assets) during the year 124 9,542 272 - 9,938




2EHER (&)

REEZEED W BMERNEEZ =
B BB FHREMETFRRDOT

AJA
A3

SEKRBAT (BE) 8 F
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o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The totals presented for the Group’s reportable

segments reconcile to the Group’s key financial figures

as presented in the consolidated financial statements as

follows:

Reportable segment revenue

Elimination of inter segment revenue

Revenue of the Group

Reportable segment (loss)/profit
Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Finance costs

(Loss)/Profit before income tax

of the Group

—F-NMFE ZT-=F
2024 2023
FTERT FTAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
238,134 69,070
(50,092) (23,914)
188,042 45,156
(56,869) 133,884
17,698 13,022
(41,516) (39,608)
(53,831) (18,105)
(134,518) 89,193
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6. DEEHR (F)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reportable segment assets
Bank balances and cash
Other corporate assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets of the Group

Reportable segment liabilities
Tax payable

Interest-bearing borrowings
Other corporate liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities of the Group

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4

—E-E —E-=4
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
8,424,840 8,850,845
881,792 323,525
240,055 108,930
15,001 17,813
9,561,688 9,301,113
405,546 536,023
215,495 20,090
1,131,508 863,733
211,617 172,716
704,926 926,091
2,669,092 2,518,653
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 EE R () 6.
AREENINKEFPREMFRDEE
(2T A NMEERIEEERIN) AL
@I SWT

EF(EEM) Hong Kong (domicile)

e PRC
B P Macau
5 R EE a8 Malaysia

PR IR AL B BRI AR S R A
EYMNLE - FFRBEE (SR TAM
BT IRE ERIN) 2 R AZ B EFT

RRABR/REERAT  REB 2T 8
EEMRSEENTE -

AREBMFRAPAEE —SILEFHR
ZDWATEZEI0% A L -

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group’s revenues from external customers and its
non-current assets (other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) are divided into the following

geographical areas:

HREFF W ERBEE
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
—ENE —To=fF ZEB-WNE —_T_=4F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FHET TETT FHET FHETT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

133,626 38,354 3,250,960 3,327,054
53,654 5,990 453,328 1,747,187
- ~ 1,448,441 1,445,126

762 812 403,857 395,829
188,042 45,156 5,556,586 6,915,196

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the
goods delivered. The geographical location of the non-
current assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) is based on the physical location of

the assets.

The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal place of the Group’s operation is Hong
Kong and the PRC.

No revenue from transaction with single external
customer is amounted to 10% or more for the Group’s

revenue for the year.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

7. Hfbg A - FEE

7. OTHER INCOME

—BNME —T-=F
2024 2023
FHET TET
HK$’000 HK$000

IR EREWA Dividend income from listed equity
investments 4,425 2,927
MBI A Interest income 15,829 11,531
BT HE B (K at) Government grants (Note) - 601
IR A Sundry income 1,878 890
22,132 15,949
Ma: BE_ZEZ_=Z=FXA=1+THILF Note: During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group

[E @ RNREBWREBBUT R ZE
MEES THRMRETEFESD
432,000 TTHE X - BEER
MEMEARLEREMB IR MU
BETAEWHEMNET - IRIEME
BHEFR  NREBETEMEHAATEE
B UWHMBEARINEET

o

il

X

received funding support amounting to approximately
HK$432,000 from the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong
Kong Government. The purpose of the funding was to
provide financial support to enterprises to retain their
employees who would otherwise be made redundant.
Under the terms of the grant, the Group was required
not to make redundancies during the subsidy period
and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the

employees.
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o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

8. FINANCE COSTS

—F-MNFE —T-=F
2024 2023
FTHERT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Interest charges on:
Bank loans and overdrafts
(Note 26) 38,577 26,845
Advance from a director
(Note 31(a)) 13,043 9,985
Bond - 129
Other incidental borrowing costs 2,163 2,197
Finance charges on lease liabilities 48 44
Total finance costs 53,831 39,200
Less:Interest capitalised into
— Properties under development
for sale (Note) = (21,095)
53,831 18,105

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised to
properties under development for sale at a rate from
2.021% to 3.948% for the year ended 30 June 2023.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

9. BRBiAT (EE) R
FRACAT (B51R) ik M AE 40

BRTRZIEA

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

charging the following:

(Loss)/Profit before income tax is arrived at after

—ECoOmFE —T-=F
2024 2023
TERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EIXRA(BREEMNE) Staff costs (include directors’
emoluments)
& IEREMBR Salaries, wages and other benefits 23,571 24,385
E RRR KRR A E B K Contribution to defined contribution
(B15t@)) plans (Note (a)) 713 776
24,284 25,161
% B A B & Auditors’ remuneration
VNS Current year 864 729
EFYHEZKAER S H Cost of stock properties recognised
as expenses 52,532 -
VI B NRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 619 587
EREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3,171 3,009
KEWMEEFEHESRAD Direct outgoings in respect of
BEKAR investment properties that generate
rental income 15,431 14,081
KEWERGEEEHT WA Direct outgoings in respect of
CONEREFIRN investment properties that did not
generate rental income 184 987
ME X B 1R R R Net exchange loss 534 17,747
HEER : Lease charges:
FEEHE Short-term leases 143 185
BRI AL EBEFAEMET  Loss on redemption of financial
Waz e EEEE assets at FVTOCI - 2,830
HEREMEEIR Loss on disposal of investment
properties 5,949 -
B Note:
(@) RZE_MWER_FT_=FA=+ (@) As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, there was a sum of

B AEERERBESTE LK
15277%21000;‘%7_5 o=
E/\H +E|
i&‘m $%l/xﬁf§ﬁﬁ/xuﬁzﬁwﬁx

HEJE'EPE’J*”

R ARIR B K F -

level of contributions.
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30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group did not utilise any

amount in the forfeited account to reduce the existing
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10.Fr8 %t (E#H) X H
MAAEEEARRBE-S_MF
R-E-ZFANAZ+ELFEES
P AR BUE R - SRR BLE R IR
WEFESORERE WY BERES
B Rk P R LB B RIS -

RBFERMERGED  FRTFRARHN
R E2% (ZEZ=4F : 25%) °

T IR E R A BB AR BB Y BB
WORBIEMOWMEGE - THIRERE
ATHER R ERGERMHN - WHEHRT
LA EHE ©

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

10.INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided in the
consolidated financial statements as the respective
group companies did not have assessable profit in Hong
Kong for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 or
the assessable profit was set-off against tax loss brought

forward from previous years.

Under The New Law and Implementation Regulations,
the tax rate of PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2023: 25%).

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain

allowable deductions.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

10.FREH (E#) X H ()

BINE R 2 HIBTIIRBEF A 2 BFHE

BREH -

HEA B8
H B 1 TS R
- AFEEHA
- BT FERERE
(Htat(a)

i+ i 3B E R
B ¥=SiE ki

IE FEF |
KEEFE (Mit27)

FREH (E8) X HAE

10.INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

(Continued)

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on

the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates

of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the

Group operates.

Current tax
PRC EIT
— Charge for the year
— Over-provision in respect of

prior years (Note (a))

PRC LAT
Withholding tax on dividend

Deferred tax
Current year (Note 27)

Total income tax (credit)/expense
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—E_ME —EFT-=

2024 2023
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
7,484 6
(353,163) -
(345,679) 6
55,244 17,890
20,436 -
(269,999) 17,896
(35,523) 18,257
(305,522) 36,153




o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

10.FRB8H (E#) X H (&) 10.INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
(Continued)
BME(EE) YTHEEEEAMENS Reconciliation between tax (credit)/expense and
(B8R SRR accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

—EDWFE —T_o=%F

2024 2023
TET TET
HK$’000 HK$000
BELRT (EB) %A (Loss)/Profit before income tax (134,518) 89,193
HEBMERHEE16.5%TE Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of
T =F 16.5%) ZHIE 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (22,195) 14,717
TR B2 BT & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 9,372 22,663
HAERG WS 2 B E Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (19,917) (40,021)
Tax effect of differences in overseas
EINEERZR 2 R & tax rates 9,856 (5,143)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not
REERU BB G E recognised 1,340 28,867
RIFFERARE ARG E B Tax effect of utilisation of
2R E unrecognised tax losses (6,495) (2,820)
BEFEBREEE Over-provision in respect
of prior years (353,163) -
AR TG E LAT 55,244 17,890
A B8 0 Withholding tax on dividend 20,436 2
RS (E#) X H Income tax (credit)/expense (305,522) 36,153
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

10.FREH (E#) X H ()

Bt -

(a)

—EZ—FNA AAR—MER
BEMBARMEREWERZE ORI A
PR R ([HEERI]) W EIH R B
2SR H AR AR BUR I 55 4 22 7 8
RETHRGEE  E_ T - —F+tA -
BERNERTHEEEFE i
BRGHAN T S R FT A &) LB E R ©

BIFFEBEBRE2016F £8157
CRAR E HhEE P 35 1D S 0 I8 - s 38 (B AL
BRECEMSHABBMBENRSE) (A
TEWI815EAE]) - ELHFAERNR
B EREEEH - BF4EE5!
EMESHRELHRERE  BEE—F
HEFEEEEMEBEEMREEEN
ZHOTCEMSHEBEEEEBEENE
GEREECRNIEIRE $158

RTBHABERE BE_T-Z
FRA=THLEFE #HERILE
HEWE  EmELEREESE  Hitir
R A FE ER B IR SRR 8 1 IR (E
oo AREERYZE EHNEBAE
FRERENEBAN g ER - U
AMFEFELHEEMBHNER -
BAE81SE AL - HERIIBFBREL
A FEERMNNDEMEH R BE
BRIh - 5 RS BB R R R E R
RIE ) AR %328,900,0007T (FHE R
#J351,700,000/8 L) ° Z K BE R =
T_=FLAxEKE -

10.INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
(Continued)

Note:

(a)

In September 2021, Power Wide Property Development
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Power Wide SZ”), the
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
received a request from the local tax bureau to conduct
the land appreciation tax clearance on its real estate
development project located in Shenzhen, PRC. In July
2022, Power Wide SZ completed the tax clearance
procedure and duly paid the final assessed land

appreciation tax.

In accordance with the State Taxation Administration
Announcement 2016 No. 81 on issues related to
the refund of enterprise income tax arising from the
settlement of land appreciation tax by real estate
development enterprises (hereinafter as “No. 81
Announcement”), whereby after an enterprise conducts
the settlement of land appreciation tax on a development
project, any loss occurs after the final settlement and
payment of enterprise income tax in the current year and
there being no further sale of properties and no other
subsequent development projects, the enterprise income
tax overpaid for the project during its project life can be

refunded.

Due to the COVID impact, Power Wide SZ has no sale
of property which resulted in a tax loss for the year
ended 30 June 2022, thereby did not have sufficient
assessable income to offset the land appreciation tax.
As Power Wide SZ did not have sufficient assessable
income to offset the land appreciation tax paid, an
overpaid of enterprise income tax in previous years was
noted. In accordance with No. 81 Announcement, Power
Wide SZ applied for the enterprise income tax paid in
previous years to be refunded, the tax refund application
was successful and the local tax bureau had agreed to
refund approximately RMB328.9 million (equivalents to
approximately HK$351.7 million) to Power Wide SZ. The

amount was fully received in July 2023.
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1. K2 11.DIVIDENDS
(@ TFRE (a) Dividends attributable to the year
ZEDWFE —_T_=F
2024 2023
FTET TETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
hHARR B A E B A Interim dividend of HK2.25
225BM(ZE =% : cents (2023: HK1.75 cents)
1.75%84L) per ordinary share 14,685 11,421
R KRR EFSREEM Proposed final dividend of HK4.0
408 (=4 : cents (2023: HK3.0 cents)
3.0/8 1) (K1at) per ordinary share (Note) 26,107 19,580
40,792 31,001
B1EE - Note:
AIRE B2 23 2 REAR B Rk R IR The final dividend proposed after the reporting date has
SHERAEE - not been recognised as a liability at the reporting date.
(b) ERERERZNNEERRE (b) Dividends attributable to the previous financial
ERE year, approved and paid during the year
—E-OmNFE —T-=F
2024 2023
FTET TATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFFBRFERPRE Final dividend in respect of the
FIEE@EAE3.0E L previous financial year, of
(=T = —4F :2.08101) HK3.0 cents (2022: HK2.0 cents)
per ordinary share 19,580 13,054
—BNME —T-Z=F
2024 2023
FTERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
i B Dividends:
Re Cash 19,580 13,054
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12.8RER

BREXRLEH#HEFERNIIA TSR

REAE

2R

RERZFHEANRIGEFIA
AEESREANCHERTN

g 4=

BT T B T8
Nt EEBRERET

TECNFENM T =FREE
o —ZE-pFEA=+BM=

FRA=ZTHEHEFIRANLELRER

EFHER

= —

= —

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

share is based on the following data:

The calculation of the basic and diluted

earnings per

Earnings
—EomE @ —ZT_-=F
2024 2023
TR TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Profit attributable to the owners
of the Company for the purpose
of calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share 171,678 21,202
Number of shares
—EomE T -=F
2024 2023
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes
of basic earnings per share 652,676,781 652,676,781

TiE

and 2023.
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FHNTES:

*

B
BARF* (#iziv)
THE
FIEE (B itiii)

T8z

WY IENITES

o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

13.DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

13.1 Directors’ emoluments

2024

Executive directors:

Chao Sze Tsung Cecil (Note i)
Ho Sau Fun Connie

Chao Gigi

Chao Howard (Note ii)

Non-executive directors:

Lam Ka Wai Graham*
Sun Dai Hoe Harold* (Note iv)
Ting Woo Shou Kenneth*

Lee Tsung Hei David Chris*
(Note iii)
Lee Ding Yue Joseph

*

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received or

receivable by the directors of the Company are as

follows:
Hin Al
st BINEE
EEXMe & BEEE H® k)

Employer’s

contribution

Other  to defined

benefits - contribution
Fees Salaries  allowance plans Total
TERn TR TERT TERT TR
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000

- 9,493 - - 9,493
71 1,137 3 18 1,229
71 2,053 70 18 2,212
71 412 20 17 520

171 - - - 171
71 - = - 71
47 - - - 47

3 - - - 3

71 - - - 71
576 13,095 93 53 13,817

Independent non-executive directors
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

13.EENEHNEBEBAEMS (&) 13.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
131EEZBE (8) 13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
H itz
mfhEt RIREE
EEME ¥e HeEE B ok
Employer’s
contribution
Other  to defined
benefits - contribution
Fees Salaries  allowance plans Total
TR TR THT TR TR
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—T-=F 2023
HTES Executive directors:
B g (4riti) Chao Sze Tsung Cecil (Note i) - 9,310 - - 9,310
EEaS Ho Sau Fun Connie 70 1,134 - 18 1,222
SEEERZZ==F YungPhilip
= ARBEE) (resigned on 6 March 2023) 47 602 - 11 660
HAZ Chao Gigi 70 1,748 156 18 1,992
FMITES Non-executive directors:
Bk (W22l Chao Howard (Note i) 70 384 29 18 501
MER B Lam Ka Wai Graham* 168 - - - 168
TR (M itiv) Sun Dai Hoe Harold* (Note iv) 70 - - - 70
TFE Ting Woo Shou Kenneth* 70 - - - 70
xRz Lee Ding Yue Joseph 70 - - - 70
635 13,178 185 65 14,063
* O BUFRITES *  Independent non-executive directors
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

13.BEERENREEAEIMNS (&) 13.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

131ESHE (F)
et -

()

(iii)

BHEELEETRA/ARNRBITRAE
HOoHEELAWEOMSBEEE
RITBAARFTIRE RSO E -

HAEEEREREARRNITE
F-RZITEZWMF-_A=+NA
HER e

EFE O RZ_WFRA+TLEHR
AR o

BRI EIERT ABLIERNTT
EFE RZEZ=F=ZA=TN
B -

B TR CNFERCEC=FXNA=T

H k%
U &

BEIEEFHEXRERER

o

(Cont

inued)

13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil is also the Chief Executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for services rendered by him as

Chief Executive.

Mr. Chao Howard was re-designated as executive
director of the Company with effect from 29
February 2024.

Mr. Lee Tsung Hei David Chris was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 17 June 2024.

Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 29 March 2023.

No director has waived or agreed to waive any

emolument in respect of the years ended 30 June 2024
and 2023.
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13.EERSNEBAEMS (&) 13.

B2EEFMZENCAL
BE_ZT_MFEA=+THILSF
B hfiskeFMALtzd  HAf
M (ZFEZ=%F : Of) BAEH
LEZ -SHRTHEEHFMATH 6L
BE_ZT_WWFEA=THILFE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

13.2 Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 30 June 2024, four (2023: four)
directors of the Group is among the five highest
paid individuals whose emoluments are included
above. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect

of the remaining one (2023: one) highest paid

EXfMEesFBIOT individual is as follows:
—ECOFE —ZEFE=F
2024 2023
TET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e Salaries 577 564
R FRET &) Contribution to defined
contribution plans 18 18
595 582

e 2 BRI -

The emoluments fell within the following band:

A
Number of individuals
ZEREINME T _=F
2024 2023
B <& 48 B
500,001 7L £1,000,000/C HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 1 1

RREFEEAR  BEAEENRES
FMALNME - ERIMAZAN
AR B F kBB (E -

No emolument was paid to the directors and the
highest paid individual as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss

of office during both years.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the

14.EYHE
EEEY P2 RESA MR

RIEBA T - consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:
2024 2023
FE T FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BAREE At fair value
REtA—BZEREE Carrying amount at 1 July 6,870,006 6,739,921
E 5, = %8 Exchange differences (41,199) (24,393)
- Additions:
—FE1& 2 B — subsequent expenditure 7,326 9,387
H e Disposal (80,058) -
BB EYE - MR RRE Transfer to property, plant and
equipment (147,572) -
BREEEKTENME Transfer to completed properties
for sale (1,089,366) -
N EBEHRE Change in fair value (154,070) 145,091
RAA=1THEAE Carrying amount at 30 June 5,365,067 6,870,006
B &t Notes:
) BERBREME HMILBRELR a) The transfer to property, plant and equipment amounted
147,572,000 70 - HEEFGEEMA to HK$147,572,000 was related to the land and buildings
T RMEERM - held for own use by the directors.
by BEBABZRKGFEYHE,089,366,000/ b) The transfer to completed properties for sale amounted to

THEMNPENEESREVERES

mEkB&EER -

HK$1,089,366,000 was related to the change of intention

and use of residential investment properties located in

PRC.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

14. 1 EYME ()
Bzt - (4)

)

R-ZZE-_MENA=+H " HAEE
BRI E W) 3 S K8 H1,448,441,00078 7T
—EF =4 :1,455,126,000%8 7T) LA
RERPYMESEER412,162,00078 7T
—ET = =14 :397,949,000/8 7t ) 178
MTHEENEGR EFERAE &
SEEREZE  BRHEEMER%
T At Pl EEEASEEEE =
E-MFNA=Z+TERNFBERETT
FEAFE BT IKBRERZ
T_NF-—ARKEMRE REEE
REMLIHhRASEE  BEFRE LT
N e AEBMEHEMER =T
“HE=ZARtEIEBERERE
BRFABNERAEBEFIREIER
BE - ITHIKBER-_ZE_MFEN
A+mBENA-_+ \BHEHAEE
RUWEES  URPI L mFMAm ™
HEWERARER - HEHREHE
A — A o

AETASBEREMERREBHER
B{E 4% A2,546,738,000% 7T (2023
F :2,737,895,0007 70 ) MK FIRTT
TEE M ER (FH5E37) -

REMEZIREBEEEE

(@)

ARAEEERE

TRINRAKEREMEN R EH
FRAREREEFEERABZAAN
BE IREBEFSVHHREEDE
BRIAABEAEI(EFBMH
HREERNFBRDAAEZ =
NABERINED - AABEZE
FEERAERTD 2B ABIEEER
BRMNES2EUMmMELATOHR

— E—REE: UE-—RBWAE
SAEZAREE - BABRRE
EXRBENAERREERTS
PHRBERETE

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

c)

The land lease renewal contract related to investment
properties amounted to HK$1,448,441,000 (2023:
HK$1,455,126,000) and properties under development
amounted to HK$412,162,000 (2023: HK$397,949,000)
are yet to be obtained as at 30 June 2024. The directors
are of the opinion that the Group is entitled to lawfully
and validly occupy and use the land, and therefore the
aforesaid matter did not have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2024. The
Direccdo dos Servicos de Solos e Construcdo Urbana
(DSSCU) has issued a proposal at the end of January 2024
consenting to the change of land use as applied by the
Group with the exception of two pieces of land in Macau.
Objection has been made by the Group’s local lawyer to
the DSSCU in March 2024 but the Macau Government
requested the Group to re-submit the development
proposal. DSSCU has launched an opinion collection
campaign during 14 August to 28 August 2024 to collect
opinion from the public regarding the details urban
planning of the Macau land. Subsequent to the reporting
date, no further information was available yet.

Certain investment properties of the Group with an
aggregate carrying value at the reporting date of
HK$2,546,738,000 (2023: HK$2,737,895,000) were
pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 37).

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”
("HKFRS 13”). The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.
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14. REY % ()
RENEZ A ABEBE (H)

()

RARAEEERE 7 (F)

E_RMEE AE_RBAE
AEZAREE BEBAER
ZABREHEARTEE R
WAE BEEEEHAELIF
ERATAEBRZEE - TR 8
2l UNEV-RIZ niEd -6l
B2E 2B A B

FoAAE ERTAERH
BEBEZGABUFEZAR
EE

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are

inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

—EBEDNF
2024
R 4 E=4 B
Level 1 Level 3 Total
TE T FE T FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
“EENREMEEE Recurring fair value
measurement

KEWE - Investment properties:
[ i Commercial — Hong Kong 6,500 16,000 22,500
EFE-—FF Residential — Hong Kong = 3,037,038 3,037,038
3 — R Commercial — Macau — 1,058,647 1,058,647
FE—BF Residential — Macau = 389,794 389,794
FE-—FRAR Residential — Malaysia = 403,857 403,857
- Commercial — PRC = 453,231 453,231

6,500 5,358,567 5,365,067
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14. 1 EYME () 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
BREYMEZAABEEE (F) Fair value measurement of investment properties

(Continued)
(i) AAEBEERFZE (E)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

—E=F
2023
F— F=H “aFE
Level 1 Level 3 Total
FAT FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
KEEARLEMEEE  Recurring fair value
measurement

KEWE - Investment properties:
BE-FE Commercial — Hong Kong 6,500 20,600 27,100
FTE—FB Residential — Hong Kong - 3,243,395 3,243,395
EESmb: s Commercial — Macau - 1,062,870 1,062,870
F=E—J8F Residential — Macau - 392,256 392,256
FEx-—HRAE Residential — Malaysia - 412,505 412,505
FE— Residential — PRC - 1,266,274 1,266,274
EE—FE Commercial — PRC - 465,606 465,606
6,500 6,863,506 6,870,006
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14. REY % ()
RENEZ A ABEBE (H)

()

NABEEREZ (&)
FHE_ZT-_NWFRZT_=F
AR=+tHLEFEARN F—HKME=
B mEER  KWEEBRES
SRR E=ZREL - AEBERIK
REEREATEHAARBEMR
FRPE LR AREAE RS R
R o
HZE_FRTEZ=FXA
T HIEEREMECHBLIREE
SEBMEMEITER - URES
HIEEYMHE S BB BEHEAEmMmT
BRAREITEM - MR ERA
35 RFIRPR B Y B S B
AR ARIEITEM - EHTIR
BEmisEENEREGERBNRRRE
AAEM  WSEER— 2 &k
MELUMEREIMISER S - Efh
BRNBREEERNFE 2 BmP i
R EHEREBNEEMELR
EBEN ENCERaRRENE
)EH °

AEBEEEETHRFERSEH
HYE T (R BRI E R E T A ER

RE S

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023,
there was no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2,
nor transfer into or out of Level 3. The Group's
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of
fair value hierarchy as at the reporting date in

which they occur.

Investment properties were revalued on 30 June
2024 and 2023 by independent and professional
qualified valuers. The valuation of properties in
Hong Kong was revalued by K.T. Liu Surveyors
Limited. The valuation of properties in Malaysia,
Macau and PRC were revalued by Roma Appraisals
Limited. The properties were revalued on market
value basis on their existing development stage
and usage, and by reference to recent market
transactions for similar properties in the similar
location and condition, by capitalisation of
future rental which is estimated by reference to
comparable rental as available and by determining
on redevelopment basis and by estimating the fair
value of such properties as if they were completed
in accordance with the relevant development plan
and then deducting from that amount the estimated
costs to complete the construction, financing costs
and a reasonable profit margin. The fair value gains
or losses were recognised in profit or loss for the
year. In estimating the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties, the highest and best use of

the properties is their current use.

The Group’s management has discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions when the
valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.
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14. REY = ()
RENEZ AR BEBE (H)

(i) B=ZRALIEETEBHEH

REME:

Investment properties:

RERM (1 (a)&b)
Valuation techniques
(Note (a)&(b))

EEEY WABEE(A

Commercial - Hong Kong  Income capitalisation
approach

FE-FE 5 L BUA

Residential - Hong Kong ~ Market comparison approach

BEZ
Residual approach

EER- 18

Commercial - Macau

BB

Residual approach

T - 8
Residential - Macau

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Note:

TABRENBAYE

Unobservable inputs

AR E

Capitalisation rates

mEEELT/FHR)
Market price (HK$/square feet)

NENRE UE- 58
BEM (TN /58
(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,

view and floor level of the properties

mEECEMAT/TAR)
Market price (MOP/square feet)

NENRE UE - F8-
BEM (TN /%8
(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,

view and floor level of the properties

BRAMGERAE

Estimated developer's profit margin

mEE (R TAR)
Market price (MOP/square feet)

NENRE UE RE BEH
() /%18

(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,
view and floor level of the properties

BRAMGERMNE

Estimated developer’s profit margin
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FABENBALE

Range of unobservable inputs

—B-mE
2024

BE3.75%

3.75% per annum

4,460 - 68,570

(20%) - 51.9%

14,207 - 16,420

(7.48)% - 6.93%

15%

6,549 - 7,960

(3)% -1%

15%

2023

FF35%

3.5% per annum

7,978 - 95,080

(25%) - 24.3%

13,428 - 24,000

(5%) - 5%

15%

6,598 - 7,508

(5%) - 5%

15%



14. 5 EWME (B)

REWMEZAAREBEEE (&)

(i) BE=ZRALEETTEHNEX

fr

REMF

Investment properties:

% - BRAED

Residential - Malaysia

FE-h
Residential - PRC

AE-wE

Commercial - PRC

R (4 ()s0)
Valuation techniques
(Note (a)&(b))

5 L BUA
Market comparison

approach

5 L BUA
Market comparison

approach

5 L BUA
Market comparison

approach
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Note:

FTABENBAYE

Unobservable inputs

mERHER/FIR)
Market price (RM/square feet)

NENRE E- 5B EEM
() /&fE
(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,

view and floor level of the properties

mER(ARE/FI7K)
Market price (RMB/square meter)

NENRE NE- 5B EEM
() /&8
(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,

view and floor level of the properties

mEE(ARE/FHK)
Market price (RMB/square meter)

NENRE NE- BB EEM
() /& fE
(Discount)/Premium on quality, location,

view and floor level of the properties

FABENBALE

Range of unobservable inputs

—g-m#
2024

799 - 1,071

(19.2%) - 5.4%

TEA

N/A

TER

N/A

53,636 - 59,654

(19.19%) - 6.67%

2023

688 - 1,082

(15%) - 15%

53,800 - 62,800

(15%) - 15%

53,800 - 62,800

(15%) - 15%
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14. REWZE (8)
REVEZARBEHEEE (K)

(i) BE=RALEETEHNEL (&)

Hiat - (&)

(@ EZZE-_MFR_FT=_=FH
=TH - URBEENEERED
EUARKREEHOWAERIEE
Al EhER AR B
ZHMERESTH2EREBNAE
THBEMESHHESET IR
RAHEREDSRBEEMETE
HMBUMEBRROWEE B
LA BB S sz e E =
TIAHE - AR EENFEERE
b & ZAER A o

by EZZTE-_MFER_FT=_=F"H
=THB -URES BFRARR
FREONEREEREMENR
REEESLRBAILERMENE
HHEEBEREAERERER
MG BOAEE - FHAR R B Hf
HEMLMENEE LB -
SEMEERAREERITM - 5t
2 B =BEEEEMmMES
AREBEEBNARE MARE
BERD B - LRBPIREE
REZREMENDRBEERA
MEE 2EZSWENRAE
B BEZEMECRRBERE
BEr8% T ArKZeERN
BROTACEEEMMETRA - BhE K
RMEEHFEE - R EBEE
DA A s EER A EE R T T
R -BEXNAMFIEERNSEE
BHMAE-

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(a)

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the fair values of
commercial investment properties in Hong Kong are
determined using income capitalisation approach
by capitalisation of future rental. In the valuation,
the market rentals of all lettable units are made by
reference to the rentals achieved by the Group in the
lettable units. The capitalisation rate adopted is by
reference to the yield rates observed by the valuers
for similar properties in the locality and adjusted
for the valuers’ knowledge of factors specific to the
respective properties. The fair value measurement is

negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the fair value of
commercial and residential investment properties
located in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the PRC are
determined using market comparison approach
by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square feet or square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount
mainly specific to the quality, location, view and
floor level of the properties compared to the recent
sales. The fair value increase as to premium and fair
value decrease as to discount on quality, location,
view and floor level. The fair value of commercial
and residential investment properties located in
Macau are determined using residual approach
by reference the fair value of such properties as
if they were completed in accordance with the
relevant development plan and then deducting
from that amount the estimated costs to complete
the construction, financing costs and a reasonable
profit margin. The fair value increase and fair value
decrease has a negative correlation on the change
in the estimated costs to complete the construction,

financing costs and profit margin.
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As at 1 July 2022
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences

Additions

Depreciation

Disposal

Surplus on revaluation

Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2023

Cost

Valuation

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

As at 1 July 2023
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions

Transfers

Depreciation

Disposal

Surplus on revaluation

Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2024

Cost

Valuation

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

HERFAER D HRNHE28 -

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GEMFREMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

RELHER
BFHEER EtER A REBR
ZIRAEfE BEE RYERHE NEREH ag
Land and
building Furniture,
held for own Other fittings Motor
use carried  right-of-use and office  vehicles and
at fair value assets  equipment  accessories Total
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
36,840 5,355 2,285 57 44,537
- - (10) 2) (12)
- - 289 262 551
(737) (2,272) (526) (61) (3,596)
_ - (3) - (3)
2,763 - - - 2,763
38,860 3,083 2,035 256 44,240
- 12,676 15,150 8,014 35,840
38,8606 - - - 38,8606
- (9,593) (13,115) (7,758) (30,466)
38,860 3,083 2,035 256 44,240
38,866 3,083 2,035 256 44,240
= = 2 @) )
- 1,404 342 240 1,986
147,572 - - - 147,572
(777) (2,394) (516) (103) (3,790)
= = = (30) (30)
593 - - - 593
186,254 2,093 1,863 359 190,569
- 13,932 15,494 7,880 37,306
186,254 - - - 186,254
- (11,839) (13,631) (7,521) (32,991)
186,254 2,093 1,863 359 190,569

Details of the leases are set out in Note 28.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

15. 903 ~ s Rkt (8)

BT RIEFUARANBEEREESR - H&
FEAOR ¢

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

If the land and building were stated on the historical

cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

—EWFE —_T_o=%F

2024 2023

FER FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

DN Cost 167,772 20,200
REHITE Accumulated depreciation (5,252) (4,848)
BREFE Net book amount 162,520 15,352

AEBABEZ LHREFREER 22
BR T H 5186,254,0008 0 (—Z T = =
£ 138,866,000/ ) B AAKE 2R
TEREER (MsE37) -

THREFZAREEEE

(i) RAEEBRSZ
TRIRAEE L MEFRHE
HRZREEUEERAEZARE
B WREFEVHEHREEDNFE3
AR EZ =B RAFEERRE
7 e RABESERRAMBERD
ZHABBREAUERLEEEN
MEHAT D8

All the Group’s land and building with an aggregate
carrying value at the reporting date of approximately
HK$186,254,000 (2023: HK$38,866,000) were pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (Note
37).

Fair value measurement of land and building
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s land and building measured at the
reporting date on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as

follows:
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15. 9% - s ks ()

THREFZAARBEEEE (H)

(1)

RABEEREIZ (&)

— E—RMEE: UE-RBWAE
SAEZRAAEE BARRE
EXBERFEREEETS
FHRBABRETE

— FBoMEE: UAF_REHAE
EZAREE BHGAE
ZABRUEHEARTEE R
BWAE BEEZHAEBEILIE
KATABE ST - TAl B
R ABATETSEEY
E2ZE 2@ A&

— F=RFHE:ERTABRER
BIEEZH ABUGTEZ AT
BE

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Fair value measurement of land and building
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are

inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

—EINFE T o=F
2024 2023
E=H E=
Level 3 Level 3
FE T TFET
HK$’000 HK$’000
KEMARBEEER Recurring fair value measurement
BHAEE AL ERETF © Land and building held for own use:
T -FF Residential — Hong Kong 186,254 38,866

EBREZT_NMFR-ZTZ=F
A=+THILEFERN  E—HKME=
MEWEER W BEEBRESE
SR E—RELY - AEEMK
RERRERSHEEERAREE
FARFPE LR FREHERER

Ry HERR ©

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023,
there was no transfer between Level 1 and Level
2, nor transfer into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of
fair value hierarchy as at the reporting date in

which they occur.
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15. 9% - s Rkt ()
tHREFIAAEERE (&)

R EEERFFK (E)

ZTECMFERZZEZ=FHA
— TR+ REFEHRBIRESE
SEBEEMEHEASMITER
NAETEMN  BREMSEERE
Bt WRELR — b 28 KA EELL
MEETRATISRS5HBERERN
AtkBREEMEELHAORREEE
Ak °

()

AREBEEEEFHRFERSEH
HYE T (B R BRI E R A TT R ER

BRI

(i) E=ZRAAEEGTZEHER

REFERLIWEET
5 L8R FUBRENEA
Market Comparison Unobservable input
approach
FE-&% 5 L BA
Residential - Hong Kong ~ Market comparison
approach

252

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
Fair value measurement of land and building
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

mEE BT/ FAR)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The land and building were revalued on 30 June
2024 and 2023 by independent and professional
qualified valuer, K.T. Liu Surveyors Limited on
market value basis and by reference to recent
market transactions for similar properties in the

similar location and condition.

The Group’s management has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions when the
valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Land and building held for own use:

#E

Range
—E-ME ZEC-E
2024 2023

16,134 - 21,946 18,302 - 21,930

Market price (HK$/square feet)

NEN@E E

S8 BENGTN) /EE

(7.4%) - 31.46% (4.89%)

(Discount)/premium on quality,
location, view and floor level
of the properties
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15. 9% - s ks ()
tHREFIAAREEEE (&)

(i) B=RAAEEGEHER (&)

REBBONBRREETLHRE
FHRAABEREMATSLEOX
R 2RAI LB ERTHEE
RESERER  BREMENE
B fUE SBNEERARREN
Frin-pEE  UE - RBNEE
MEARBEMNENRZE  MA
REEBD BT -

16 Rt ERBEE

BT EF AR ABOB BB B IR

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
Fair value measurement of land and building
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

The fair value of residential land and building
located in Hong Kong are determined using market
comparison approach by reference to recent sales
price of comparable properties on a price per
square feet basis, adjusted for a premium or a
discount mainly specific to the quality, location,
view and floor level of the properties compared
to the recent sales. The fair value increase as to
premium and fair value decrease as to discount on

quality, location, view and floor level.

16.OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET

—E-NE -4

2024 2023

TET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

Club debenture 950 950

Club debenture is stated at cost less accumulated

impairment losses.
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17 Htb SR EE 17.OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
HthemEEBRIEUATERE Other financial assets included the following
investments:

—BolmE —T-o=F
2024 2023
FE T TFET
HK$’000 HK$'000
IRBEE Non-current assets
BAREBEEFTFTAEMEEBEZE Financial assets at FVTOCI:
L ERMEE
KARE  EHB L™ Perpetual notes, listed in
(Ktat(a) Hong Kong (Note (a)) 19,928 26,194
AR EHEBEIET Perpetual notes, listed outside
(Kt ab)) Hong Kong (Note (b)) 20,902 19,672
&F #E#&E L™ H i) Debentures, listed in Hong Kong
(Note (c)) 2,909 2,535
& EEBEIET Debentures, listed outside
(Htit(d)) Hong Kong (Note (d)) 23,577 35,416
o REEE Less: Impairment loss (18,068) (18,345)
49,248 65,472
RBEE Current assets
BAREBEGTAEMEEMEZ Financial assets at FVTOCI:
B EEEBEIN LS Debentures, listed outside
(Htit(d)) Hong Kong (Note (d)) 20,124 17,886
R E & 1B Less: Impairment loss (19,496) (14,244)
628 3,642
49,876 69,114
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17. B mMEE () 17.OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
AL BETAEMEZAWSE ZE R The movement of gross balance of financial assets at
EEMBEEFHBERMOT FVTOCI is as follows:

E—BER Z"HEBR F=ZER we
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
THET FTHERT FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZEZZF+AH—H At 1 July 2022 152,615 - 21,488 174,103
1% 40 Addition 18,126 - - 18,126
& [El Redemption (88,583) - - (88,583)
AREBEEE Change in fair value (1,943) - - (1,943)
F-REERERE Transfer from Stage 1 to
E=PER Stage 3 (33,703) - 33,703 -
MZTE_=%F"A=+H At30June 2023 and
E—ZE-_=%tH—H 1 July 2023 46,512 - 55,191 101,703
e Redemption (250) - (2,041) (2,291)
ARBEEE Change in fair value (4,412) - (7,560)  (11,972)
M-ZT-maEXA=+H  At30 June 2024 41,850 — 45,590 87,440
BAnfBEFAEMEERZ 22 # The movements of impairment loss for financial assets
EENREEEBZEESHELAT at FVTOCI are as follows:
—BCoNME —T-Z=F
2024 2023
THERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
F=ZRER Stage 3
n+HA—H At 1 July 32,589 18,379
B FE 3R HY R B /5 18 12 i Increase in impairment loss
recognised 4,975 14,210
RANXA=+8 At 30 June 37,564 32,589
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17.H

« N

b & MEE (&)

AREBAEAWEEREE RRSREM
HESBNNEBEATRAERE &
BMEENARGRELENRERERE
REAREMAREF BN e

At -

(@)

AEEKEREE LT KERE
K& 455 500,000 TTE 4,500,000
E25x(ZF - =% :500,000EFTc=E
4,500,000%7T) ' EETEEH -
FEFFNEE 485%F 6.50% @ FHXF
Y=k (ZEZ=F : BEMNEH
4.85%%6.5% ' BFFELZF—K) o
— EFWEHA S 25 A10,000,0003
gt EETEHEE - FEAE7.75% ¢
BEEAMEENENT5.72% M EGF
MMz EEENE BEREE=Z
TEEANAZTHIEFEEANKED -

AEEFBE=ZZXRAEZER(ZT ==
FZEXAER) XaBENTF
500,000 JT * 1,000,0003% jt &
1,400,000 7T (==& — =4 : 500,000
% 7T~ 1,000,0002 7T }&%.1,400,0003
JC) c FEEBHEIN T EEE R B
B BEEE@EAMNEDR ABEF5.25%
£28.00% (Z T =4 : 5.25%%
6.25%) B¥FRE—R - —LEWME
AR 4 4% 5240,0005 7T  EEFE
HA ZEHMXR625% D REBE -
TEFARNAZTHIEFEANKERD -

AEBEE—ELIMEF(ZE=_=
F:—FLEMESH) L2285
588,611% L (ZZT = = : 620,570
EXoL) cEEA LW BIHA A2028
F1A31H8  BEEEXRAEETF6.50%
TEC=ZF 1 65%)  B¥FRE
— R -BE_E_-_—FE,<A=+H
HFE BERE %EHFNEELY
EENE  WAABEEREBRBERS
182,806,000 L e Z FTEH A&
+ % 5620,570F L (ZF - =ZF :
1,000,000 7T) - & E £/ Hi H 52028

F1A31H - ZEEAE6.50% (= F
Z=F :6.5%) M ERNTFRNEE

g o

17.OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

The Group holds investments under a business model
whose objective is to hold to collect the associated
contractual cash flows and sale; and the contractual
terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Notes:

(a)

The Group has investment in perpetual notes with
principal amounts ranging from US$500,000 to
US$4,500,000 (2023: US$500,000 to US$4,500,000)
listed in Hong Kong without fixed maturity date at fixed
rates ranging from 4.85% to 6.50% per annum, payable
semi-annually (2023: fixed rates ranging from 4.85% to
6.50% per annum, payable semi-annually). One listed
debenture with principal amount of US$10,000,000 with
no fixed maturity date at floating rate of 7.75% with reset
rate on reset date ranging from 5.72% plus mid market
swap rate per annum was redeemed during the year
ended 30 June 2023.

The Group has investments in three perpetual notes
(2023: three perpetual notes) with principal amount of
US$500,000, US$1,000,000 and US$1,400,000 (2023:
US$500,000, US$1,000,000 and US$1,400,000) listed
outside Hong Kong without fixed maturity date at a
coupon rate ranging 5.25% to 8.00% (2023: ranging from
5.25% to 8.00% per annum), payable semi-annually. One
listed debenture with principal amount of US$240,000
with no fixed maturity date at a coupon rate of 6.25%
per annum was redeemed during the year ended 30 June
2023.

The Group has investment in one listed debenture
(2023: one listed debenture) with principal amounts of
US$588,611 (2023: US$620,570) listed in Hong Kong
with maturity dates of 31 January 2028 at a fixed coupon
rates of 6.50% (2023: 6.50%) per annum, payable semi-
annually. During the year ended 30 June 2023, in
the opinion of the directors, the credit quality of this
debenture improved and a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$2,806,000 was recognised accordingly. The listed
debenture with principal amount of US$620,570 (2023:
US$1,000,000) with fixed maturity date on 31 January
2028 at a coupon rate of 6.50% (2023: 6.50%) per
annum was partially redeemed during the year.
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b MEE (&)

Biet - ()

(d)

Zli'il%ﬁ’tiﬁﬁ(f?f_i
+ %) A& EN F500,000ETE
2,553, ooo%m(fy — =% :500,000
FJLE2,790,000%k 7)) © 2 H H &
202243 238 E2027F8H198 (=
T — = 4F 2022¢3H23E|§2026¢
58178) @ & ﬁﬂ—ruﬁzﬁ
4.50%%E10.50% (Z T =~ =4 : 5.5%
i1o 50%) BH¥FIRBE —IX—E
MESF(ZE_=F: —F)4Le=2
%8 A2,190,000EX L (ZZE = = F
2,500,000% 7t) - Bl Hi H 2202748
A19B (ZZE =4 : 2024F7H20
B)  Z®AEL50% (T = =4F:
9.00%) ' HMERFARWER - EF
2hE EEHE-_E-_=FXA=1+H
1F4F € 4933,703,000/8 TEH W EE
HEEEBL EHE-_ZT_NFK
TEC=EXRA=FTHIEFEERN &
FEOTABERFE Bt HELIE
= AP HE 0 fE SR A (B B3 184,975,000
T (T = =% 14,210,000 7T) °
RZZE-_WFENA=Z+H  REEH
oL 1B 5 18 48 5837,564,000/8 7T (— &
— =4 :32,589,0008 7T) O R -
fiﬁﬂf%‘% (Z2EZ=F:—%) K
% %82,790,000% T (ZE == :
3,100,000% 7T) - & E 2 8§ A %2024
F7A20B(ZE==% : 2022511 A4
208) F EEMNEREFI.00% ' TFE
2027F8H198 (ZE Z = F : 2024
F£7H208) ’?E%‘J$TB¢§¢
4.50% (ZZE==F : I£EE9.00%) °

MERABHZE RAALEBETFAR
AREZEHREENAAEE LA
1,641,000 T (Z T == K
13,697,000/ 7T) °

>> =

B?LL’I*?R?I\ : EBEA%)E?’_/\%&IE’X =

MBI T =15 BT I%me

,;TT)‘EE’JFﬁHﬂ %BZWEIE'E%ZTEE

2y

o

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

17.OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) The Group has investments in seven (2023: seven)
listed debentures with principal amounts ranging from
US$500,000 to US$2,553,000 (2023: US$500,000 to
US$2,790,000) with fixed maturity date ranging from 23
March 2022 to 19 August 2027 (2023: 23 March 2022
to 17 May 2026) at a coupon rates ranging from 4.50%
to 10.50% (2023: 5.50% to 10.50%) per annum, payable
semi-annually. One (2023: One) listed debenture with
principal amount of US$2,190,000 (2023: US$2,500,000)
with fixed maturity date on 19 August 2027 (2023:
20 July 2024) at a coupon rate of 4.50% (2023: 9%)
per annum was partially redeemed during the year.
In the opinion of the directors, the credit quality of
debentures of approximately HK$33,703,000 deteriorated
significantly during the year ended 30 June 2023. During
the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there was
defaults of interest payments by the debenture issuer. As
a result, an additional impairment loss of HK$4,975,000
(2023: HK$14,210,000) is recognised in profit or loss
accordingly. As at 30 June 2024, accumulated ECL
amounted to HK$37,564,000 was recognised (2023:
HK$32,589,000). One (2023: One) listed debenture with
principal amount of US$2,790,000 (2023: US$3,100,000)
with fixed maturity date on 20 July 2024 (2023: 20
November 2022) at a coupon rate of 9.00% (2023:
7.25%) per annum was extended to 19 August 2027
(2023: 20 July 2024) and its coupon rate was decreased
to 4.50% (2023: increased to 9.00%) per annum.

(e) Subsequent to reporting date, the fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI increased by HK$1,641,000 (2023:
decreased by HK$13,697,000).

Except as those mentioned above, the credit risk on listed
perpetual notes is considered to be insignificant because the
issuers are assigned with high credit ratings by international
credit rating agencies.
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18. M8 1 7 18.SUBSIDIARIES
R-TE-_WNFR_FTE-_=F~A=1+ Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2024

H F2MEBRARIZEHRDT :

and 2023 are as follows:

\ BROIRAEN/
AR LS/ EUTEN
BEHE Particulars of issued
Place of incorporation ordinary share
WELR or registration/  capital/registered BREZRELA
Name operation capital  Proportion of ownership interest
B E:
Directly Indirectly
Ace Cosmos Finance Limited ARELES 10,000 EBRIZT 72.42% -
British Virgin Islands 10,000 US$1 shares (2023 72.42%) (2023:-)
(//BV'U)
AEERERAF B 2T 100% -
Bongi Development Limited Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$2 ~ (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
SENEXEEERAA B 22T 100% -
Cheuk Nang Property Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$2 ~ (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
Management Company Limited
AXRERERRBERLA B 08T 100% -
Dun Man Secretarial and Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$20  (2023: 100%)
Management Services Limited
BARERRAF R kT 100% -
Golden Scheme Investment Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$2 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
Limited
REREARAA BB 2T 100% -
Green View Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$2 ~ (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
ZERARAA B 1RATET 100% -
Kingdom Link Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 (2023: -) (2023: -)
BREXARAA R 3,000/ - 100%
300,000/ 7 (2023: -) (2023: 100%)
Lo & Son Land Investment Hong Kong 3,000 shares,
Company Limited HK$300,000
BEEXARAA B AT 100% -
Lucky Faith Properties Limited Hong Kong 2 shares, HK$2 ~ (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
Martego Sdn Bhd" SRAE 5,000,0008% - 100%
BRIMEE (2023:5)  (2023: 100%)
Malaysia 5,000,000 shares of
RM1 each
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Principal activities

REREK

Investment holding

WEEE
Property trading

VES-$E
Property management
services

WEREERYE
Provision of secretarial and
management services

WERE
Property investment

BREN HERBERER
Mortgage lending,
property investment and
development

WERE

Property investment
HERERERE

Property investment and
development

WERE

Property investment
HERERER

Property investment and
development



18.Mfi BT (&)

HELT

Name

BERRERAA]

New Grow Development Limited

WEARRA!

Pacific Charm Investment Limited

Power Tripod Limited

EEZRARDE]

Power Wide Development Limited

XERRAF
Supreme Glory Limited

AR (EM)BRAF
Top Regent (Asia) Limited
(“Top Regent”)

BARRARLA]

Yorksbon Development Limited”

KERERAF
Ever Regal Limited

SRREERAA

Cheuk Nang Construction
Company Limited

SRNEEE (M)
BRAE (HZ0)

Cheuk Nang Property
Management (Hang Zhou)
Company Limited#* (Note (i)

ARRIE
ReEtE

Place of incorporation
or registration/
operation

R
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

R
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

R
Hong Kong

B0
Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

&

Hong Kong

E

PRC

o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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18.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRIREER/
B ES
Particulars of issued
ordinary share
capital/registered
capital

AR F2ETT
2 shares, HK§2

1REET
1 share, HK$1

10,0008%
10,000/ 7T
10,000 shares

HK$10,000

AR H2ETT

2 shares, HK$2
1REVET

1 share, HK§1
1008 100 T
100 shares, HK$100

AR 2B T
2 shares, HK$2

£

1 share, HK§1
10,0008%
10,000/ 7T
10,000 shares,
HK$10,000
ARE500,0007C

RMB500,000

RAEZRELS

Proportion of ownership interest
E& 3

Directly Indirectly
100% =

(2023: 100%) (2023: -)
100% =

(2023: 100%) (2023: )
- 100%

(2023: ) (2023: 100%)
100% -

(2023: 100%) (2023: -)
100% -
(2023:-) (2023:-)

- 71.70%

(2023:-)  (2023:71.70%)

- 100%

(2023:-) (2023: 100%)
100% -
(2023: 100%) (2023: )
100% -
(2023: 100%) (2023: -)
- 100%

(2023: -) (2023: 100%)

Principal activities

WERE

Property investment

RAZR

Investment holding
WEXRREE

Property development and
trading

WERERREER
Property investment and
investment holding

WERE
Property investment

WERARER
Property investment and
development

HEREREFRESRE
Property investment and
investment in securities

and bonds

WERE

Property investment
WERR

Property development

RENZER RS

Provision of property
management services
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18.Mi B A 7] (&)

ARRIE
BENE
Place of incorporation
WEAR or registration/
Name operation
R (R D=EE PE
AR (Wit)
Power Wide (Shen Zhen) Property PRC
Management Company
Limited® (Note (i)
ANBRERS (M) P
AR (Hit)
Bongi Property Development PRC
(Hang Zhou) Company
Limited** (Note (i)
EEEHERE (R P
AR (Wit)
Power Wide Property PRC
Development (Shen Zhen)
Company Limited#* (Note (i))
R REHRT TR P
AR (Wit)
Shen Zhen Zhishen Decorative PRC

Design Engineering Company
Limited*™ (Note (i)

Hat

() ZEBR/REBETBDEAREMRINGE

(i) EERREBEAVEARAEE ZEEN
BENIEZ2MBARICHERLERA -
WHNEER B L E M E AR ZF
BEREEERBRITE -

* REBFHEERRA(FR) SFFMEBLMA
RAFIBRAER °

REBEKIZH AR 2R EFREHRS
E o RERFZE I BBARIERT ©

18.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRIREER/

BT

Particulars of issued
ordinary share

capital/registered BHEZRELA TEXH
capital  Proportion of ownership interest  Principal activities
E& [E3
Directly Indirectly
AR #500,0007T - 100% fRHEDEEZRS
(2023: -) (2023: 100%)

RMB500,000 Provision of property

management services

94,000,000% 70 - 100% HEERE
(2023:-)  (2023: 100%)
US$94,000,000 Property development
AE 494,000,000 - 100% HEZEREE
(2023:-)  (2023: 100%)

RMB494,000,000 Property investment,

development and trading

AEH5,000,0007C - 100% HEZRE
(2023: -) (2023: 100%)
RMB5,000,000 Property development
Note:
(i) The entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned

enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

Companies that Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited are
not statutory auditor.

The English translation of the name of the companies
established in the PRC is for reference only. The official
names of the companies are in Chinese.
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18.Mfi BT (&)

TRIIEHTAEEMNE R FlAce
Cosmos Finance Limited ([ Ace
CosmosE & |) (KREBE A E AR E A
FEBEANIEERER) OHMER -
TRAZVIHHEER - BIEMEREM
NSIEEE): s ¢S

Ace Cosmos £ E

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

18.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table lists out the information related to
Ace Cosmos Finance Limited and it’s subsidiary (“Ace
Cosmos Group”), the subsidiary companies of the
Group which has material non-controlling interests.
The summarised financial information presented below
represents the amounts before any inter-company

elimination.

Ace Cosmos Group

—EB-NmME —T-=F
2024 2023
FE T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEERERA DX Non-controlling interest percentage 27.58% 27.58%
FEMBEE Non-current assets 1,448,442 1,445,128
MBNE E Current assets 412,394 408,991
mERE Current liabilities (1,050,754)  (1,041,138)
EREBEE Non-current liabilities (55,087) (55,542)
EEFE Net assets 754,995 757,439
JEEAE R e AR (B Carrying amount of non-controlling
interest 208,228 208,902
WA Revenue _ o
KEE (EB) &BF (Loss)/Profit for the year (2,444) 115,439
REEZ2ME(ZH) WALLE Total comprehensive (expenses)/
income for the year (2,444) 115,439
DB T IERER 2 BT Profit allocated to non-controlling
interest (674) 31,838
EEEEM(BA) ELEHM  Cash flows (used in)/from operating
ReansE activities (14,584) 7,034
WE TS AMNBRESRE Cash flows used in investing activities (6,065) (7,330)
MELBMELENRERE Cash flows generated from financing
activity 20,614 268
WEMHFE Net cash outflows (35) (28)
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BEZ

ToMEAA=+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

19.5EWHE 19.PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
—EBCmFE —F-=F
2024 2023
FE T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERPWE Properties under development 1,394,106 1,540,561
=R /ES Completed properties 1,586,016 359,440
2,980,122 1,900,001
RESEVENLHERENEER The lease term of the land use right of the properties
RA0F E70F o held for sale ranging from 40 years to 70 years.
20 RDRABEEFAER ZE B 20.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
BE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
—E_@E —E-=F
2024 2023
FER THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEARBETABRZ Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss
REE LT ZRAEH Equity securities listed in Hong Kong
(teta) (Note (i)) 54,263 48,216
EEMIEEES (A757) %) Unlisted investment fund
(Note (i) and (ii)) 2,953 -
57,216 48,216

Bt - Note:

(i) ANEERETRAZFFLIELTRE (i) The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed
EeHRENDAABEDIRMNGE33.7 equity securities and unlisted investment fund have been
Pttt o measured as described in Note 33.7.

(i BE_Z_MFEA=+H " &%¥FL (i) The unlisted investment fund as at 30 June 2024 was
TIREESRH —REBBFEMAZ a fund managed by a financial institution incorporated
NETREBEENES BHRELHR in Hong Kong. It was mandatorily measured at fair
SRETEEREASMF BB - value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS
E U ARE BB SR EERFo5% - H 9 as contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
MENARAABEFEAEZH AR principal and interest. The fund is classified as current at
T o A S MR2024F 6 A30B DA 30 June 2024 as the investment is redeemable with 12
NBES ARREFAERSEHRI2 months after the reporting date.

fEAAAED -
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1. EWNEBESESREMEIWEES 21.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—ECoNE T _—F
2024 2023
FTET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
W E 5 R Trade receivables
wHE=% From third parties 4,197 2,437
H 1t FE I AR X Other receivables
TR E A Prepaid expenses 6,527 6,969
S E H 2 AR Costs for obtaining contracts — 6,773
NHEBRRS Utilities deposits 2,669 2,440
Hithiz & Other deposits 1,213 693
Ho b fE UK AR FR Others 6,489 7,936
16,898 24,811
21,095 27,248
REENESRYEERREROEE R The trade receivables of the Group represent rental
ERE  AEBUEFEEBR  UEE and management fee in arrears. The Group maintains a
RIEEE S EWEREENIAEER credit policy to minimise any credit risk associated with
[z - BERER  RIEETBMER trade receivables. As at the reporting date, the ageing
BZEAMUBESRKNER(BREES analysis of the trade receivables (which is included in
REMERFIESR) MR TOT - trade and other receivables), based on the debit note or
invoice date, is as follows:
—F-NE —T-=F
2024 2023
TET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
0-30KX 0-30 days 826 1,552
31-60K 31-60 days 56 136
61-90K 61-90 days 27 159
B HEI0K Over 90 days 3,288 590
4,197 2,437
JEWE SRR EL TRERKS R - Trade receivables are due upon presentation of

invoices.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

21.

22.

FE W B 5 Bk 7Rk I HL i BB UL R K
(#&)
AEEYBEAERNEERR - L
BRANBESRE A BENEE
R -

REEAIKRAEEZREANSEEFES
HEEMIEENRA  TEZZHERS -
AEEDEZEeBERNL - WERERAE
B A RS TEESH © 6,773,000 T2
MAFEEBRHER -

Hib WA BIEXNERERNRE
NETAKEBEREMENEZYEN
BETRE - 2N EEHERRREKRR
UK - At HFERER BT ERER
RETEKRH -

21.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk, and sufficient rental deposits are held to cover

potential exposure to credit risk.

Costs for obtaining contracts mainly represented the
incremental costs, primarily sales commission, as a
result of obtaining the pre-sale property contracts. The
Group had capitalised the amounts and amortised when
the related revenue are recognised. HK$6,773,000 has

been recognised in profit or loss in current year.

Other receivables included deposits paid to
constructors to perform repair and maintenance works
for the Group’s investment properties and properties
under development. The credit risk of deposits paid is
considered to be low, therefore the impact on ECL is

considered immaterial.

BITEERR € 22.BANK BALANCES AND CASH
—E-NFE —FT-=F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITEHIF Bank deposits 719,394 _
RITHESETF Cash at bank 162,398 323,525
R Total 881,792 323,525
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RITEERRE (&)
AEBMNRTERSEHBLELD
259,942,000 T (Z T = F :
283,555,000/ 7T ) #Y $R 1T 45 87 17 A
MARPREMRT BE(REARHK
AN B B B I R 1)) AN K45 S BE B IR MR
By RITFRRBETISEHEZE -

KRy - EEFRAMRITESNERR
DA BEM T CEN AR ZHF
EERERFEEEL THERTR
HYERTT e

H b F& {3 BR =X

HERE
H e R S Bt B

HEMNROETEERRSEER
REBENEERELUE -

HENERREFERATERLE
B Y% - 42%893,557,0008 0 (= F
— =4 193,557,000/ 70) EBIEEHE
fth FE TR IE A o

RZE_=F,"A=1H - @EIBLE
11,000,000/8 7T E £ H b RS BR T &
EAEBRPER WD RFEREEM
o

Tenant deposits

Other payable and accruals

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

22.BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Continued)

Included in bank and cash balances of the
Group is approximately HK$259,942,000 (2023:
HK$283,555,000) of bank balances denominated in
Renminbi are placed with banks in the PRC. Under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the bank balances are

not freely transferred.

The credit risk on pledged deposits and cash at
bank are considered to be insignificant because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings,

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

23.OTHER PAYABLES

—E_@E —E-=F
2024 2023

FHB T FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
6,227 8,637
139,865 144,131
146,092 152,768

The carrying values of other payables are considered to

be a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Other payable and accruals mainly included
value-added tax and other tax payable for sales of
properties in PRC amounted to HK$93,557,000 (2023:
HK$93,557,000).

As at 30 June 2023, a provision of compensation loss
amounted to HK$11,000,000 was recognised in other
payable and accruals, the amount was fully settled

during the year.
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

24. 6B E

24.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

—EoUE —To=4

2024 2023
TR T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
& Y R BT R 3] LAY Contract liabilities arising from
aRAa%E receipt in advance from
sale of properties 12,785 138,682

BHEBEEIKEBNEENRSE
TBAEEE - BERETHREAERK - NEH
B PEERBITERHNBEENRSE
R AL B R E P EEE MR RS
S RN

EHBBEEFY 248 /5120,018,000
B (ZEZ_=F E)ERFRNER
B A o

HRRIER BV HEHREENEI55H
ME > FMERASHITIBB—FNaK
BARBEIEGELERMEANNR
ZEE -

EHE_ZT _MNFNA=THILFEAR
%@ﬁ%ﬁﬂlmﬁ " EZRNEREIWA -

The contract liabilities represented the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of the
reporting date. The Group expects the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations
will be recognised as revenue when the Group transfers

good or service to the customer.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the
year amounting to HK$120,018,000 (2023: Nil) have

been recognised as revenue during the year.

Since all the contracts with an original duration of
one year or less, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts

is not disclosed.

The significant decrease in contract liabilities during the
year ended 30 June 2024 is mainly due to recognition

to revenue.
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BHNEENED

E+HA—H
FRRERMDHE SR
BYAEHNBERD
FRERAEREE
BHABERD
HREHDEEEAM
FERIRERA K
BERD
FRWRBI B ER Y E
EPRHER & -
BRAEOBERM

A
/]

"/
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities:

At 1 July

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
refund of sales deposits during the year

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
recognising revenue during the year

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of

reallocating to other payables

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
sales deposits received from
customers during the year in relation
to completed properties for sale

Exchange difference

—E-E —E-=%
2024 2023
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
138,682 155,512
(15,541) (21,600)
(155,029) -
(3,123) (13,251)
47,877 18,849
(81) (828)
12,785 138,682
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BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

25.ENBEEAT FERKREIR 25.AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED
COMPANIES/NON-CONTROLLING

26.

]

ZRERERAR RERERTE
B EEmEREAAEEES -

ARREFTNRBERRNERESR

}\o

BREEE
BERZEEESTOT

RE1E B IR T & 8 (99 37)
R—ER
#238 — 4 L T 4F

B

—E R e
R A —E R
RNEEEZH RN A] ZK
i?ﬂ%ﬂﬁ’ﬂfﬁﬁ%ﬁ?’(%%ﬁ
GIRRREBEEET)

FEIRBEERTHRMEE

SHAREHOLDERS

/7

= The amounts due are unsecured,

interest-free and

repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of the

amounts due approximate their fair values.

owners of the related companies.

26.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

The analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings is as

follows:

Carrying amount repayable (Note)
Within one year

Over one year but within two years

Less:

Amount due within one year

Amount of bank borrowings that are
not repayable within one year from
the reporting date but contain a
repayable on demand clause (shown

under current liabilities)

Carrying amount shown under non-

current liabilities

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4

Two directors of the Company are also the beneficial

—EBoNE = _=fF
2024 2023
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1,131,508 233,733
- 630,000
1,131,508 863,733
(630,000) -
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26. E S5 E ()

RmEBRY  AEENRITABERE
AT 7 SR

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

26.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(Continued)
At the reporting date, the Group’s interest-bearing bank

borrowings were secured as follows:

—EDWFE —T_o=%F

2024 2023
et HK$’000 HK$’000
Notes FER TET
RITHE T - EIEIE Bank overdraft — Unsecured 2,508 733

BRIETEN: Interest-bearing bank borrowings: (i)
— B — Secured (ii) 1,129,000 863,000
1,131,508 863,733

et Notes:

(i) L BBRITER TEEETHE (i)  The above interest-bearing bank borrowings, except for a

630,000,000 7T (= LT = = F :
630,000,000/8 7T) & A o] BN 2 5K8
RER - RBEHEAATE - BEZ-T
Z=FRNA=THIEFECELNNTH
B $630,000,000/8 7L (Z T = =4 :
630,000,000/8 7T) ™8 5 7] 2K BAF

BRI -

RITERRBEER (M5E37) Wi
BARBRITRZEFREMO.7%-1.1% (=
T =45 RTEZEHE 0.95%)
HEBEHEERNER05%-1% (ZF
ZEF  REBEMNER2.75%)ET R -
RIER  RITERNERFFNE A
3.409% (ZZF — =4 :3.018%) ° iR
1TE FRFFE 132,000,000 T (= F
=1 :434,823,000) ERFRNEE -

term loan of HK$630,000,000 (2023: HK$630,000,000),
contain a repayable on demand clause and are carried at
amortised cost. The term loan HK$630,000,000 (2023:
HK$630,000,000) renewed during the year ended 30
June 2023 and did not contain a repayable on demand

clause.

(i) Bank borrowings are secured (Note 37) and interest-
bearing at Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate (“HIBOR”)
to HIBOR plus 0.7-1.1% (2023: HIBOR plus 0.95%) or
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate (“Prime rate”) minus 0.5-
1% (2023: Prime rate minus 2.75%). The effective interest
rate of the bank loans at the reporting date is 3.409%
(2023: 3.018%) per annum. Bank borrowing amounted
to HK$132,000,000 (2023: HK$434,823,000) was repaid
during the year.
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26. BEEE (&)

26.

FBRTERTNEVBEHRE —RE
KRG 2 AGhE - HASEEREREFH

AR R 1R B SKBE & K -

BRAAEERHESHNRARERE B
HRMFE33.3F c RN FE K=

—=H#XA=+A  BEER
WG R AW ER
27 . IEEF 1E

FREEHBEGEZESHOT

REA—A
i 2 5

BT A (NB)
(Hi##10)

i

B H 2 m W a R

5%
-
1]
+
i

ZEE’J

27.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(Continued)

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment
of covenants that are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
was to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities

would become repayable on demand.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity
risk are set out in Note 33.3. As at 30 June 2024 and
2023, none of the covenants relating to drawn down

facilities had been breached.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements during the years in the deferred

taxation are as follows:

—EF-NMFE T

2024 2023

FET TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July (908,278) (889,658)

Exchange differences 2,199 93
Credited to/(Charged to) profit or loss

(Note 10) 35,523 (18,257)

Transfer 180,729 -

Recognised in other comprehensive
income (98) (456)
At 30 June (689,925) (908,278)
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27 EFETLIE (48)
FAREHAEEERAB (ERRABKRER
EREHEAESRA) MEBHMT
EEHEEE

RZE-_—_F+H—H

PE 3 = %8

B EEmEF
EXHEAEHEMEERE T
RZZTEZ=F"A=+H
PE 3, = %8
BEErAEE=EF

e

B S 7 H A 2 T Y e

RZIB_WEXA=1H

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

27.DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities
(prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation

jurisdiction) during the year is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities
MEB-HR
T IBER
Revaluation of

properties and

LAT

T

HK$'000

At 1 July 2022 907,610
Exchange differences (93)
Charged to profit or loss 18,118
Charged to other comprehensive income 456
At 30 June 2023 926,091
Exchange differences (2,199)
Credited to profit or loss (38,335)
Transfer (180,729)
Charged to other comprehensive income 98
At 30 June 2024 704,926

Annual Report 2024 4% ¢ CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED =4 ($8) ARAR

271



272

o & BB SRR R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZFT-MEB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

27 JEFERIE (4F)
FEBIREE

R-ZE-_—_F+H—H

EXHEERF
RZEBE-_=FA=+HK
—E-=F+H—H
EXHAEEEF
MRZEB_WFEARA=

27 .DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

IR IATE I8 & 18 R

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
T TETT TET
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
At 1 July 2022 27,397 (45,349) (17,952)
Charged to profit or loss 139 - 139

At 30 June 2023 and

1 July 2023 27,536 (45,349) (17,813)
Charged to profit or loss 141 2,671 2,812
At 30 June 2024 27,677 (42,678) (15,001)

EHREM B RER PR

T B 755 AR e 2R T R A

EXERTAE EFE

T B 755 AR 0 5k W AR

BEEHRIABEFE

RWEAIELEHRAEE

Reconciliation to the

financial position:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in

the statement of financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised

in the statement of financial

position

AR 3o A B9 R e FERI M - ANEE
BARERMFILTAE I8 49334,090,0007%8

TT(ZE =%

362,184,000/ 7T) °

REBBRITBETBABR TS EM

Unrecognised tax losses

consolidated statement of

—E-_NFE —"FT-=%F
2024 2023
FHBxT FBT

HK$’000 HK$’000
(15,001) (17,813)
704,926 926,091
689,925 908,278

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$334,090,000 (2023: HK$362,184,000) due to

unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses

do not expire under current tax legislation.
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HERBENRKMHER

HEBENRE

REBEENKERIRE
—F A2 H]

EE_EZFRFEH

B —FREIHEE Y
AR AEE

— R BB THA
IR e 8

AEEBRBSNEERGBEHRETI&T
(EEE AR ZE SR LR ZE - FT A
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

28.LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

Total minimum lease payments:
Due within one year

Due in the second to fifth years

Future finance charges on leases

liabilities

Present value of leases liabilities

Present value of minimum lease
payments:
Due within one year

Due in the second to fifth years

Less: Portion due within one year
included under current

liabilities

Portion due after one year included

under non-current liabilities

—E-UE e S =
2024 2023
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,347 2,186
782 791
2,129 2,977
(95) 21
2,034 2,956
1,290 2,167
744 789
2,034 2,956
(1,290) (2,167)
744 789

The Group considers that no extension option or
termination option would be exercised at the lease

commencement date. All leases are for offices and

warehouse. The lease periods are from one to three

years.
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28. HE&E (&)
BT A=+tHLFE M
EWiRem L AL /2,517,000 T
(ZZ =4 :2,448,000/ ) °

28.LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the total cash
outflow for the leases was approximately HK$2,517,000
(2023: HK$2,448,000).

HEZHNFMAEE Details of the lease activities
ﬁ’;\: E_NFER_E_=FA=1+ As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group has entered
CAREEERFIPAENRERES into leases for offices and warehouse.
ﬁ o
fE BREREEER MRHEEH
EERE EETNEREEE HEHE @E w iR
Financial statements items
Types of of right-of-use assets Range of remaining
right-of-use assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars
YNES mE - BELRE 1(ZE==F: 5.5 A FERAYNEEE
(ZZE=-=%:17(84)
Office Property, plant and 1(2023: 1) 5.5 months Subject to monthly fixed
equipment (2023: 17 months) payment
RE ERR 3P E T 2AZTZ=F 1) 18 311IH REARMNETEHE
(ZF==%F:7@A)
Warehouse Property, plant and 2(2023: 1) 18 - 31 months Subject to monthly fixed
equipment (2023: 7 months) payment
NS HARE H(ZEZ=%:1) of@A FEARNEEFA
(ZZ2==%F:4R)
Office Short-term lease 1(2023: 1) 6 months Subject to monthly fixed

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4
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29. R A R {8 29.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE
(A) B (A) Share capital
—g2-mE “E-=F%
2024 2023
i3 RO#E TR e 4! TR
Number of Number of

Note shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000

DRTARz2ERE Ordinary shares, issued
and fully paid: 652,676,781 2,468,985 652,676,781 2,468,985

EREEZERK: Voting ordinary shares:

REFENRER At the beginning and at
the end of the year 652,676,781 2,468,985 652,676,781 2,468,985
K13 - Note:
i. RER IEARFZHERQF i.  None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
BE - BEIERAQRZRD - redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.
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29. RA R it 5 () 29.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE
(Continued)
(B) f#fE (B) Reserve
b/ /N The Company
ERCECE ]
Retained
profits
TAETT
HK$’000
R-ZE-_—_F+H—H Balance at 1 July 2022 300,141
AFEEBEBEAFEEZEZ H4E Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year (23,980)
BHERBEN T _FREARKE 2022 final dividend approved and paid (13,054)
EMEREN T =FFhEKE 2023 interim dividend approved and paid (11,421)
RZZEZ=F"A=+HK Balance at 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023
—E-—#+H—H 251,686
EBEEIAFERES LB Loss and total comprehensive expense for the
year (40,745)
BEHEMRBEMN T =ZFRKEAMRE 2023 final dividend approved and paid (19,580)
BHEREN T ZMFEFRERKRE 2024 interim dividend approved and paid (14,685)
R-ZE-_WmWEXA=1+H Balance at 30 June 2024 176,676
RZZBE_WHFEXA=1TH  BEE At 30 June 2024, the aggregate amounts of reserves
BARRGPIFEE 2 REFTE - 7] available for distribution to equity shareholders of
DIEKTARAFBRR 2 EEBED the Company, as calculated under the provisions
#176,676,000 L (Z T =4 : of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
251,686,000/870) ° was approximately HK$176,676,000 (2023:

HK$251,686,000).
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GEMFREMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets

Other receivable

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Advances from a director

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

and net assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Retained profits (Note 29(B))

Total equity

—E-mFE —"FT_-=%F
2024 2023
FHBxT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
250,138 250,138
161,662 166,345
411,800 416,483
599 -
3,150,765 3,108,662
290,187 79
3,441,551 3,108,741
2,085 1,840
993,988 629,997
211,617 172,716
1,207,690 804,553
2,233,861 2,304,188
2,645,661 2,720,671
2,468,985 2,468,985
176,676 251,686
2,645,661 2,720,671

directors on 24 September 2024.

Chao Sze-Tsung Cecil

EF

Director

HAZ

Chao Gigi

EF

Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
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SILEEBREANLTZEERS

FRAGEMBRREMEOIRE 2
X5/ BRI - AT TR R B B R sE

31.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,

ATRFRETIERAR S during the year, the Group had the following material
transactions with connected and related parties:
—E@E —E-=F
2024 2023
M it FET TET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
XNHFEEERBAER Remuneration paid to key
e BRETRER management personnel,
MHEE13 1 TR A including amounts paid to the
BEFEME Company’s directors as disclosed
in Note 13:
FohHEMEHES Salaries and other short-term
& employee benefits 15,102 15,047
BERR 12 18 7 Post-employment benefits 89 101
15,191 15,148
MEN THYZEL Interest paid to
Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil (a) 13,043 9,985
XfF P REESER AR Commission paid to Szehope
e Securities Company Limited (b) - 3
YR FHEWEEIEAFR  Building management fee
NaAKEEREM paid to Maximus Property
Management Limited (c) 3,477 -
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

31.EHEEREEAT2EERS (&) 31.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

Het -

(a)

1 1 A AN R [ 9 A A I % A
FEEERBE 2T RRITRAZER
EM%etERME - RZZTZNF XA
=+8 HtEtEEILATAEEZR
K A211,617,0008 7T (ZE =4 -
172,716,000/ 70) - Sttt B 1H 1+ 2 %
RBAKR—FAIBEREREREEEN
FoBELBEARDARE -

HitZH L R RESFERRARZE
HEBA

BRAEEERTENEEEARAA
ZEGHEEAN

BRIA B AT 9N - 0 FF R B AR
MARAMELETIREBNEEZR
2 wHAFEFHEALH - MARAE
ENERBALITRZERS  WH®
BRTEENHEEEAEA RS -

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil has provided unsecured advances
to the Group at 1% over prime interest rate in Hong
Kong per annum. At 30 June 2024, the advances from
Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil amounted to approximately
HK$211,617,000 (2023: HK$172,716,000). Dr. Chao
Sze Tsung Cecil confirmed that it would be repayable on

demand and therefore classified as a current liability.

(b) Dr. Chao Sze Tsung Cecil is the beneficial owner of

Szehope Securities Company Limited.

(c) Mr. Chao Howard is the beneficial owner of Maximus

Property Management Limited.

(d) Other than the above, no other transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company or a
connected entity of the director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NR.ERMETEELENEBHYEIR 32.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
MAERDELANAEBAEZHHE

LU

ZEZ=FEA-B 1july2023

RERE Cash-flows:
-BRRTER - Repayment of hank loan
—fig — Proceeds
—HE X - Interest paid
-EREEMEH - Capital element of lease
EXTLE rentals paid
~BEREBTEN - Increase in advance from

a related company

¥RE Non-cash:
— B HIS - Interest expense
—[EFFIE - Interest accruals
—FUHEE - Entering into a new lease

ZE-MERAZTAH 30 June 2024

ZZZZFEA-B 0 1uly2022

Heme: Cash-flows:
-BERITER - Repayment of bank loan
-BRES - Repayment of bond
il - Proceeds
—FS X - Interest paid
-BREEREE - Capital element of lease

BARE rentals paid

~BEARBIEM - Increase in advance from

a related company

FhE Non-cash:
-ENHE - Interest expense

ZEZ=FXA=1H 30)une 2023

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from

financing activities can be classified as follows:

ENES BN EREER

HEEE HEfE BYRE  BELTNA RR%E
Amounts

Amounts due due to

Lease Interest-bearing Advance to related  non-controlling
liabilities borrowings  from a director companies  shareholders
THEL ThEL TET THET THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2,956 863,000 172,716 1,627 239,990

- (132,000) - - -

- 398,000 38,901 - -

(48) (37,807) (13,043) - -
(2,326) - - - -

- - - 3,018 -

48 38,577 13,043 - -

- (770) - - -
1,404 - - - -
2,034 1,129,000 211,617 4,645 239,990
5175 876,816 143,206 1,469 239,990

- (434,623) - - -

- (10,896) - - -

- 432,291 29,510 - -

(44) (1,983) (9,985) - -
(2,219) = = - -

- - - 158 -

44 1,595 9,985 - -
2,956 863,000 172,716 1,627 239,990
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33.¢emMEKREERAABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

R FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
AEBTE—REBEKEERKRESE The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
AT AEDNeRER S/ use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of
B & B 3 T 5 L B (B 35 o0 E bR - F operations and in its investment activities. The financial
R REMEKRR)  EERR X risks include market risk (including foreign currency
mENE & =B o risk, interest risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

BREUKTAZABRRNMEE RN The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
AEFERREFINNT - EEEERER out below. The management manages and monitors
EmNREBUEREERRERFS these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
B R HETT © implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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33.emEKREERAABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

33.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

B (48)
BITHMEEREBEEER

UTEzezREEMERBIEN
FREEZIET B R BRF -

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the

following categories of financial assets and

TRMEE
1R B SH RN
H 5 RBUWAR S E A
JFE UK Bl 3K
RITHERLRE

BRARBEAAREMEZE
Wk & REE
KARE  EEBEBELE™

KARE - EEBEIN
i)

B E&HBLE™

B AEEABBEINET

BRARBEAARRZ
TREE
EHBRAES

RAEFEER
FFETRERES

TERAEHE

R SRR
HAth & e B FH AR R
JE AT FEHE AR AR 5RIR

J& A B 3 X B 5RIR
BEREER
B3
HERE

financial liabilities:

—EomE T -=—F
2024 2023
THERT TET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables
13,128 13,506
Bank balances and cash 881,792 323,525
Financial assets at FVTOCI:
Perpetual notes, listed in
Hong Kong 19,928 26,194
Perpetual notes, listed outside
Hong Kong 20,902 19,672
Debentures, listed in Hong Kong 2,715 2,341
Debentures, listed outside
Hong Kong 6,331 20,907
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Listed equity securities
held for trading 54,263 48,216
Unlisted investment fund 2,953 -
1,002,012 454,361
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost:
Other payables and accruals 48,861 58,958
Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders 239,990 239,990
Amount due to a related company 4,645 1,627
Interest-bearing borrowings 1,131,508 863,733
Advance from a director 211,617 172,716
Lease liabilities 2,034 2,956
1,638,655 1,339,980
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33.2FEMTER AABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
R (8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
B2EERK 33.2 Credit risk

EERREXZEHFENEANE
TEHAREMFERORLR - &
SEERMBREEREERIINR
FHEFITRE > WHEBEEBER N
FRMHER SR - URERZOMS
R B 5 1R R R

AEENEERRIBREES R
Hith FEIRIE - NEE R IRTTAEER
MEREEHEERRERBMIRE
B ARRZEUFREE TEK
HREBHERRIT  WERERE
A AEERRZSERRAR
R - ERIRTSEAFE &
EEREAEARSHFEHISET

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk

of financial loss from defaults.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and other financial
assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk on
bank balances and cash are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are the
major banks in the Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia
with established credit ratings, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk. Given the high
credit ratings of the banks, management does
not expect any counterparties to fail to meet its

obligations.
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3.2 EREERAABEEE
B (1)
33.2 5 SR ()

B ZEWER
AEERABE A AN EE B
% & AR B 95 TR E W TBHAE
REX - Bir=EBEAEL &
SREWHIEERBE X ZEERRS
BRBEBHSHE - EFrEEHE
REXEXRR SEERELEER
MATEUEZER - ERNROBEDL
BRI HE W R EE R - WH M
ERBIFEERRP X HHEER
& - B FT A 8 B A FE AR FRAD 4%
S ETERERBAREARKE - K
EEREHE_T_NUERK_ZFT
TEFRNAZHHIEFEMNESE
WHIER TE R E B R B E R LD -
AREFPFNEEERITEERE
7 o

BEBEXLTTEBYRMELHEER
BRAEETARMEEH K&
FRE
REHEAATENEMEREER
FEEREEMEWKIE - BARE
Bt ARt 2mE WS 2 EHFRE R
R MIRITHEE - REEREER
R - SEEEEHRIBESLGEE
50 8% AN 38 1 4S5 DA I & AT AN BB AR
B BRI O 1T E B SR RE AN (E
AL - CHEHMEBRRRF - A
BRI ETTRW DB HER -
UL S - T R E A FE W IR R
EERRBERSEE-

33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
33.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has applied the simplified approach
to assess the ECL as prescribed by HKFRS 9. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the past due days. In calculating the ECL
rates, the Group considers historical elements and
forward-looking elements. Assessed lifetime ECL
rate of trade receivables is minimal for all ageing
bands as there was minimal history of default and
continuous payments were received, and rental
deposits are required from tenants prior to the
commencement of leases. The Group determined
that the ECL allowance in respect of trade
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2024 and
2023 is minimal as there has not been a significant

change in credit quality of the customers.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost include deposits and other receivables,
debt investment at FVTOCI and cash and bank
balances. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group would make
periodic collective and individual assessment on
the recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as current
external information and adjusted to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information,
including the default rate where the relevant
debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In these regards, the
credit risk of deposits and other receivables are
considered to be low.
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33.°MEREERAABEERE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
R (8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
3325 ERME (&) 33.2 Credit risk (Continued)

BEBEELENEMEHMEER
BRAABEGTARMEE K ZHE
FRE (HE)
ﬁuﬁﬁ/*\ﬁﬂ‘ii&%W%wﬁﬁﬁ <

R BE_ZE_=ZFA=+
Htig'a¥tm%%%$%ﬁ
33,703,000/ TR A= A ﬂﬁ&ff&T
HeAEHE S -_NFR_E—
ixﬂ:+a¢¢§-%ﬁ%ﬁ
ABHEXRFE Bt - FRAEEE
7 38 0 B SRR 18 5 184,975,000
BT (ZZFZ=4F : 14,210,000/
TT) e

AREBERZAREEFAHMEE
Yt M RIMMEREIR B PTE MR A=
RER) - BRRAREBEFER
HEHHtAGAEWENEERER
BEREMNERATE  AEBRAE
ERERBIE - ERETANRL
ERFE - BEEEE T g R EM
RBHFEEABITHER

ARABEFEFNE RE12AE
Hi{E MEE - A RUGRETEHE
RERE/ ) AA%ETREER
1 45 i 72 L/MM*FHH 2 A KRR
B #E_FT-_NER-_FT =
E)THE#LEILtiEZ FEHRERE
1K o

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI (Continued)

As set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, In the opinion of the directors, the
credit quality of debentures of approximately
HK$33,703,000 deteriorated significantly
during the year ended 30 June 2023. During the
year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there was
defaults of interest payments by the debenture
issuer. As a result, an additional impairment
loss of HK$4,975,000 (2023: HK$14,210,000) is

recognised in profit or loss accordingly.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk on remaining
debt investment at FVTOCI are considered to
be insignificant because the debt investment at
FVTOCI are with good credit rating, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk. Given the
good credit ratings of the issuers, management does
not expect any counterparties to fail to meet its

obligations.

The directors of the Company have assessed that
the ECL for other receivables are minimal under
the 12-month ECL method as there is no significant
increase in credit risk on these financial assets
since initial recognition and the risk of default
is low during the years ended 30 June 2024 and
2023.
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33.°MERETERAABHEERE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
R (8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
3325 &R (&) 33.2 Credit risk (Continued)

33.3

BBEXATEBYEMEHEER
BAAEETARMEEH K&
FRE (&)
AREEHRAREBEAAHRMEE
W as R BRE TSR B M E B R K
AERREM I REN  BAARA
BEFAAUENEBRERBRY
WERNE  ~AEERSEERAR
BEE - ENETANERAFAR
o BEEERFTEAEARZY
FREBITHEER -

RAREEE G EMEKIAN
TEHERMBRE12(E ANEHRER
BRIDETRIE - AR B MatER
NHRZE SR EENE TR E
BEEN BBE_T_MFER—
T_—FRA=THLFENEYD
[ 2 AR o

RBESRR
REBMERBIEANREBEETHE
BBXNReREMEREES
FNeRBERRNERORRE
Bl - NEEEBERMNFIAMBE
BERNMREIRE T E @R
R - AEENHRZEBES
BELEEECNRERETRD - F
HERENMNERNRDESHFR
NESERZONETIERN - A
RARERRTFEEHNIR SRR
RETECREBMER TR
AEESRENREEEHMES
HREERBK - AEBBEBEFE
AR —BEERERBIEER - AWHKA
REBREERBMERR

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investment at FVTOCI (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk on remaining
debt investment at FVTOCI are considered to
be insignificant because the debt investment at
FVTOCI are with good credit rating, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk. Given the
good credit ratings of the issuers, management does
not expect any counterparties to fail to meet its
obligations.

The directors of the Company have assessed that
the ECL for other receivables are minimal under
the 12-month ECL method as there is no significant
increase in credit risk on these financial assets
since initial recognition and the risk of default
is low during the years ended 30 June 2024 and
2023.

33.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of
its payables and financing obligations, and also in
respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants by reviewing each operating
entity’s cash flow forecast, to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions and related parties to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risks.
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33.°MEREERAABEERE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
R (8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
333 FRBESEMK (H) 33.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

RZZEZWNFANA=1H x5H
BRT_EARNEENEEEER
1,131,508,0007 JT * M 4~ & B &Y
1T 45 88 N 3R & /881,792,000
T ERINEHESET R BEE
BHAEES T _NENAZT
AEARK+_EANR 2 RETER
MBS J/RET T4 - BENE
B EDHRIR - BERLIRBIRTT
MEKR_ZT_NFE+—AEH -
BEEREMEGE BEALFHNL
5 PRI AR I BT L BB B
ﬁg °

ZRIEAEEBAAIANEERE
MARHBEEIR  NEBHEE TR
WRBESAMEAREBRE
BANEEES NEARFAXIFER -

UToOMBAREEHE T _NF
—EZ=FXNXA=1+HHEHE
BERRBRERIEAE - ERRAFR
MReRE (BREERERFIEE
FEOMBEXZNM - skEWNRZE - 8
RIBEBREBHORITNERGTE)
EERATUNEEZEMRSEERRE
B ZBERASEAREERS
NEHFEBHFA - MEBESEE
B RSBy EAREAE
XNHRFHM -

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings repayable within twelve months
of HK$1,131,508,000 while the Group’s bank
balances and cash was HK$881,792,000. In
consideration of the short-term fund requirement,
the management has carried out a detailed and
careful review of the cash flow projection and
cash requirement of the Group for the next
twelve months from the date of 30 June 2024.
The management considers using bank and other
borrowings as a significant source of finance of the
Group. Although certain existing bank facilities will
be expired in November 2024, the management
believes that they can successfully renew these
facility lines based on their experience in the

previous years.

Taking into account the present available
borrowing facilities and internal financial resources
of the Group, the Group has adequate liquid
funds to finance the working capital and capital
expenditure requirements of the Group in next

twelve months.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities as
at 30 June 2024 and 2023, based on undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the reporting date). When the creditor
has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date
on when the Group can be required to pay. Where
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each
instalment is allocated to the earliest period in

which the Group is committed to pay.
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333 FRBESEM (H)

R-E-MEXA=TA
Hittmat
R RESER
EfFERRRDH
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HEaE

R-E-=ERA=1H
AR R R
EfFERRESR

BERE
EEE L
BEAR

3.2MAKREERAABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
B R (#8)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

33.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 30 June 2024

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Amount due to non-controlling shareholders
Amount due to a related company
Interest-bearing horrowings

Advances from a director

Lease liabilities

At 30 June 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Amount due to non-controlling shareholders
Amount due to a related company
Interest-bearing borrowings

Advances from a director

Lease liabilities

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4

A2 - RERRERH

Maturity Analysis - Undiscounted cash outflows

R-FRg  SR-F  SR@E  ARER
REE  HOBEX  BIREE BIREE  RLHAR
More than  More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Total
Carrying 1 year or less than less than  undiscounted
amount  on demand 2 years 5 years ~cash outflows
TEL TEL TERL TR TR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
48,861 48,861 - - 48,861
239990 239,990 - - 239,99
4,645 4,645 - - 4,645
1,131,508 1,153,265 - - 1,153,265
W67 211,617 - - 1617
2,034 1,347 782 - 2,129
1,638,655 1,659,725 782 - 1,660,507
58,958 58,958 - - 58,958
239,990 239,990 - - 239,990
1,627 1,627 - - 1,627
863,733 233,733 035,748 - 869,481
172,716 172,716 - - 172,716
2,956 2,186 791 - 2,977
1,339,980 709,210 636,539 - 1,345,749
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33.°MEREERAABEERE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
R (8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
333 FRBESEMK (H) 33.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

FHiEF BERNEEBERBRT
WA FBRKIEKNEMER - RIEE
AipEPNENBEEBERE TSR
SRR OITBGENT - 22/
BRERARMEGFENFEX
it o ZEERBIREB YA - &
RAEFRBRBRITTIKAIREITEE
B ERKIAEE - NARESE
BIE - EMERSRIEE RGP
FWFRERERAHEER -

RZEZMEXBE=+H At 30 June 2024
FITESRER

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The amounts included above for interest-
bearing borrowings comprised term loans from
banks with a requirement on demand clause.
The maturity analysis of the term loans based
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the
loan agreements is summarised as follows. The
amounts include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors of the Company
do not consider that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretion to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that the term loans will be repaid in accordance
with the schedules repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

ALK -ERRERCESMRETENAN
Maturity Analysis - Term loans subject to a repayment on demand
clause hased on scheduled repayments

R-FR%  SR-F5 SRWE  REER
REE BEEX EIRRE EBIREFE  RHAE

More than  More than Total

Within 1 yearbut 2 years but undiscounted

Carrying 1 year or less than less than cash
amount  on demand 2 years 5 years outflows

TR TAL TAL TAL TEL
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000

BEfEE Interest-bearing borrowings 501,508 524,158 - - 524,158
WZEZ=F~A=+H  At30]June 2023

HTEeRaR Non-derivative financial liabilities

BREE Interest-bearing borrowings 233,733 243,669 - L 243,669

AR SRF B M) R 5 B B ¥y o AR TR OR R
ENERFEAR - B Ll 3E0T4E
EMABIHNETIAMEENE
mAREERAEL-

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ
to those effective interest rates determined at the
end of the reporting year.
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33.emEKREERAABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

33.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Except
for bank balances, the Group has no significant

interest-bearing assets.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from bank balances and cash and interest-bearing
borrowings which includes bank loans and
advances from a director. These arrangements
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. In accordance with the terms
of the interest-bearing borrowings, the interest
rate will be adjusted should the Hong Kong Dollar
Prime Rate and HIBOR be changed.

The Group’s lease liabilities, perpetual notes and
debentures are earning fixed interest rate, therefore

it is immaterial to interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to

hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior year and are
considered to be effective.

At 30 June 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group’s profit after income tax
and retained profits by approximately HK$1,926,000
(2023: decrease/increase the Group’s profit after
income tax and retained profits by approximately
HK$2,976,000). The 50 basis point increase/
decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the

period until the next annual reporting date.
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33.¢emMEKREERAABEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

BR (#8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

33.55ME & B 33.5 Foreign currency risk
SMERRIE R BEEZ AR BT Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
RIemEERE KB ME IR value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
2 -AXEEFERNEE FRADR will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
Mg E - REMD 3255 Bl AE exchange rates. The Group operates mainly in
M BRADSERARBES - Hong Kong, Malaysia and the PRC with most of the
oM mENeRmEERBE - 19 transactions denominated in local currency of Hong
DABMNEER 2 INThERBE Kong, Malaysia and the PRC. Foreign currency
HFBEWT denominated financial assets and liabilities,

translated into HK$ at closing rates, are as follows:

AR E
RMB UsS$
Tt Tt
HK$000 HK$’000
R-ZB-_WEXA=+H At 30 June 2024
B 5 N B fE W AR 7R Trade and other receivables 1,328 -
RITFER MRS Bank balances and cash - 1,294
BAREFAEMEEREZEZ  Financial assets at FVTOCI
TREE - 49,876
K B g R E Overall net exposure 1,328 51,170
R-ZF-_=ZFA=1+H At 30 June 2023
B 5 N E M EWIRR Trade and other receivables 1,655 =
RITERERE Bank balances and cash = 2,849
BRARBEFAEMEEIZEZ Financial assets at FVTOCI
TREE - 69,436
WA R FE Overall net exposure 1,655 72,285
RARBITE EETE - AEEE The Group did not have significant foreign currency
ST BB T 2 [ I M| B K SNE & risk between US$ and HK$ as HK$ is pegged with
B INERBWEAETEE - US$. The foreign currency risk are considered as
immaterial.
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33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
33.6 Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices
(other than changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates). The Group is mainly exposed to
change in market prices of listed equity securities in
respect of its investments in listed equity classified
as financial assets at FVTPL. The management will
monitor the price movements and take appropriate

actions when it is required.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are

considered to be effective.

A hypothetical 10% (2023: 10%) change in prices
of trading investments would result in an effect to

the Group’s result for the year as follows:

—E-UE —E-=4F

2024 2023
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BARBEEGABRZ Increase in profit (2023: Increase
TREEBR LANASF in profit) for the year as a result
BEERD (=% of increase in price of financial
B 1Rk A) assets at FVTPL 5,722 4,822
BARBEGFABERZ Decrease in profit (2023: Decrease
TRIEEEBR THREARF in profit) for the year as a result
BB (ZTE=Z=F: decrease in price of financial
Es 1838 on) assets at FVTPL (5,722) (4,822)
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33.:EMEERAABHEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
BR (#8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
3B REEMBRRRPBERZATFE 33.7 Fair value measurements recognised in the

it
TRAFAKESBT AREEN
MERBRER R B2 AR
1 - RS IR R
13SEAREZ =B AR BERRE
5 o DR EIESE FRA G ERTS
ZHABBRTTRRRAES
T A T 548

— ERMEE: UE-RBAE
HEZ AR EE  BAERE
EREERHEAEERTS
o i) B 4R A

- BAME:AE-_RBWAE
SAEZAREE MHEBAE
ZAIBREHARARTEE R
WAE BEEEERAEILIF
ERATAEBRZEE - TR B
2l UNEVRIZ: i) - ¢l
B2E 2B AE

— FZAME:ERTAERH
BIFE2BRABAFAEZAR
BE

TRMEEXRBEBRBEIEZIAA
BREBERAZEBR BRERHIAE
AAEAAERERE ZRERERE
NI

consolidated statement of financial position

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as

follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date.

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are

inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which
the financial asset or liability is categorised in its
entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is

significant to the fair value measurement.
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33.°MERETERAABHEERE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

BE (&) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
337 RAREMBRRRPBERZAFE 33.7 Fair value measurements recognised in the
& (&) consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

R REPIZ AR BEFEZ The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

ERMEERBERANBELEEDE value in the consolidated statement of financial

wm position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as
follows:

E—IE B #at

R-ZE-NEXA=1H At 30 June 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Total

A

RARBEMFABSZZSHEE

BEEEE FTRAE
FEMRERES
BARBEFAEMBEZEAREZ

EHEECRERHMERER)

XARE  EBEBLT
XARE  HEBEBRINED
B ERBLT

B% EBEBHEILT

NZZE-_=%FA=+H

BAnBES A AG Zir‘ﬂ BE:
=

R EBEF AR M2 E KR
KARE HEBBLM
XARE  EBEBHEIN LT
B EBELT
B% EBABEILT

7N
TREE (*Ai‘ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%) :

hez TERT THET THERT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Assets

Financial assets at FVTPL:
Listed equity securities held

for trading (a) 54,263 = 54,263
Unlisted investment fund (b) - 2,953 2,953
Financial assets at FVTOCI

(before ECL):

Perpetual notes, listed in

Hong Kong (c) - 19,928 19,928

Perpetual notes, listed

outside Hong Kong (c) - 20,902 20,902
Debentures, listed in
Hong Kong (c) - 2,909 2,909
Debentures, listed outside
Hong Kong (c) - 43,701 43,701
54,263 90,393 144,656
£ F_E BEr
At 30 June 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Total
W&t FET FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Assets

Financial assets at FVTPL:
Listed equity securities held

for trading (a) 48,216 - 48,216
Financial assets at FVTOCI

(before ECL):
Perpetual notes, listed in

Hong Kong (c) - 26,194 26,194
Perpetual notes, listed

outside Hong Kong (c) - 19,672 19,672
Debentures, listed in

Hong Kong (c) - 2,535 2,535
Debentures, listed outside

Hong Kong (c) - 53,302 53,302

48,216 101,703 149,919
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33.:EMEERAABHEEE 33.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
BR (#8) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
3B RAREMBRRRPBERZAFE 33.7 Fair value measurements recognised in the

& (&)

RBEHELEE - - F_ER
FE=ELHEEE -

HBEMERELR  BEAAE
EEMRBNEM T ERRMEHE K

.......

i

Hat -

(@ LEHEZFFHEFEEER
EtEZABTRE AREER
MEBFE2EREE AN EHRE

b) kLTREES
FELEMBEESHAREBEERH
BEFERE EESEREA
BE-_ZT-_WWFA=+HM®K
EMEESQAREE -

() LHhmEHES
T EBESUNETE - DR
BEDS2EREAHMOREM
EBE - LmEBEHFNBEHER
EEFBIHNGEMBREWE
33.2F8 ©

BIRAABEIENESHEENSH

BENAIAREE
REBUAHBKAFENEHTE
FEHEERAHE _T_MF A
—tENRAREBEEEREER -

consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

There has been no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3

in the reporting period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged

compared to the previous reporting periods.

Notes:

(@) Listed equity securities held for trading
The listed equity securities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting
date.

(b) Unlisted investment fund
The fair value of unlisted investment fund is
determined based on their net asset value,
representing the fair value of the fund reported by

respective fund managers as at 30 June 2024.

(c) Listed debt securities
The listed debt securities are denominated in United
States dollars. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting
date. Details of ECL on the listed debt securities are
set out in Note 33.2 to the consolidated financial

statements.

33.8 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried

at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair value as at 30

June 2024.
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34.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost

of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debts divided by
total capital. For this purpose, the Group defines net
debt as total borrowings (including current and non-
current interest-bearing borrowings, amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders, amount due to a related
company and advances from a director as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less bank
balances and cash. Total capital is equity as shown in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

34.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Interest-bearing borrowings

Advance from a director

Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders

Amount due to a related company

Total borrowings

Less: bank balances and cash

Net debt

Total capital (Note)

Gearing ratio

During the year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged since 2009, was to maintain a gearing ratio

of not more than 50%. The gearing ratio at 30 June

—BomE —T-o=F
2024 2023
TERT TAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,131,508 863,733
211,617 172,716
239,990 239,990
4,645 1,627
1,587,760 1,278,066
(881,792) (323,525)
705,968 954,541
6,684,368 6,573,558
10.6% 14.5%

to owners of the Company.

Total capital includes all capital and reserves attributable
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35. & IE 35.COMMITMENTS

(@) BEAREAE
RiRE BN ERE P Y E 2 E A
ERR T ZEL RET ERE T

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments in respect of properties

under development outstanding at the reporting

B date not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

—E_NE B =

2024 2023

TFET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

EEAEREMH Contracted but not provided for 170,170 205,480

(b) #EHE-HEEA
REER  AEERBEEMEEDS
BERUB 2 AT » RIRWELZ &K
o U GRAREM T

(b) Operating lease commitments — as lessor

At the reporting date, the Group had future
aggregate minimum lease rental receipts under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of the

Group’s properties as follows:

—E-NE —ZT-=F

2024 2023

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$000

—F R Within one year 8,402 16,221
—FREMFA After 1 year but within 2 years 1,152 2,111
9,554 18,332

AREERBELEHELHEEER
B (MaE14) NP HER—
ERF - WALERERIIFBAHARE
EEEHFE T HEN A BETE
B - AR — R EREF
XfirEE - HES I BEFEXER

The Group leases its investment properties (Note
14) under operating lease arrangements which
run for initial periods of one to five years, with an
option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date
or at dates as mutually agreed between the Group
and the respective tenants. The terms of the lease
generally also require the tenants to pay security
deposits. None of the leases include contingent

rentals.

CHEUK NANG (HOLDINGS) LIMITED £t (%) AR e Annual Report 2024 4



o & BT R R B A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. & 4E (&)

(c BEHE-AAMEA
R-ZF_MFNA=1TH £fH
EENEHHEEZHEAE(ZE
T=F ETRRUEZELOTARK

BE-FT-MFB=+HI%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(c) Operating lease commitments — as lessee

As at 30 June 2024, the lease commitments for
short-term leases (2023: lease commitments for

short-term leases) of a warehouse of the Group are

TRBOFEBES)OT : as follows:
—E-UE —ET =4
2024 2023
FHT Fi T
HK$’000 HK$'000
—F R Within one year - 16
36. I EIEREN 36.FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS OF

AARBEHMBETETHEARMNR
TREMIBITELLAAER €8
#$1,595,165,0008 7T (=& = =4 -
1,875,000,000 #Jr) » A == =0
FRA=+THEAE®1,130,062,000
BT (ZF =4 :863,272,000/%
TC) cRNIMEBE  BREERRME
NEMEEER T AAREEL - I Mgt
RABFEREHBETHEEELEE -
EERRNAALBELTIEE -

THE COMPANY

The Company has executed corporate guarantees to
banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain
subsidiaries to the extent of HK$1,595,165,000 (2023:
HK$1,875,000,000) of which HK$1,130,062,000
(2023: HK$863,272,000) was utilised as at 30 June
2024. At the reporting date, no provision for the
Company’s obligation under the guarantee contracts
have been made as the directors considered that it was
not probable that the repayment of the loans by the
subsidiaries would be in default. The fair value of these

guarantees was immaterial.
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37.

38.

EEER

RmER  AREBETAEEIRZ &
IR1T5E 51,129,000,0005 7T (==
— = : 863,000,000/ T) :

i) "EEHMETREMER T
wRkEF - HEEE A
2,546,738,0008 T (Z T = =% :
2,737,895,0007% 7T) (M 7E14) &
188,254,000 L (Z T Z =4 :
38,866,000 7T) (fizE15) B 1
FERTT ©

(i) BHETHBRFMAEENMEEER
FIEA

(i) BT YR & U3 - RIS
BE WA R R AR RS -

BT
AETHRBFEESFREFBEHREF
EEMOBRCTEARAFZEFBA -

37.PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At the reporting date, the Group’s bank borrowings
of HK$1,129,000,000 (2023: HK$863,000,000) were

secured by the following:

38.

(i)

(iii)

legal charges on certain of the Group’s investment
properties and land and building with carrying
values of approximately HK$2,546,738,000
(2023: HK$2,737,895,000) (Note 14) and
HK$186,254,000 (2023: HK$38,866,000) (Note 15)

respectively;

floating charge over all the assets and undertakings

of certain subsidiaries; and

assignments of sale proceeds, insurance proceeds,
rental income and deposits arising from the tenancy

agreements of certain properties.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures in these consolidated

financial statements were reclassified to conform to the

current year’s presentation.
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B % R %

R-ZZE-_WMFEA=+H

nE

Property

BEMRARELEE
2RH ($17)
Scenic Crest

Mui Wo

Lantau Island

New Territories

Hong Kong (Portion)

BERETAHEESOFR
SR (EH)
South View Garden

80 Shek Pai Wan Road, Aberdeen,

Hong Kong (Portion)

F519,% ME2009
B (5hR)

Villa Cecil 200 Victoria Road, Hong

Kong (Portion)

FRITEREE305
CEAITERCS))

Cheuk Nang Lookout,

30 Severn Road, The Peak,
Hong Kong (Portion)

Schedule of Major Properties

BE-ZT-MFA=+HIEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

COMPLETED PROPERTIES
As at 30 June 2024

&

Lot no.

4071638

716inDD. 4

1 E184, 185, 186, 187, 188,
189, 190%21915%
A.LL. 184,185, 18
189, 190 &191

A B 833857 B
LREHH
Sec. B of I.L. 8338 & Ext.

MAREHE 10675

R.B.L. 1067

6,187, 188,

BREH

Government
lease term
(F)

(years)

FHH1992F 1
554
55 from 1992

H1886F 1£51999F

999 from 1888

H19225F 45t
TSEETSE
75 + 75 from 1922

M1992F #1556

55 from 1992

£

Type

BE/ %

Commercial/

Residential

A%/ %

Commercial/

Residential

Residential

+ o

€

Residential

B#E
BREER
Total
approved
gross

floor area
(FER)
(s.f)

3,892

3,892

6,083

6,683

P s

By BAE
Car parking

spaces % owned

- 100

- 100

12 100

12 100

1 100

1 100

4 100

4 100
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Schedule of Major Properties

BE-ZT-MFENA=+HIFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

SERYE(8) COMPLETED PROPERTIES (Continued)
R-ZZE-_WMENA=+H As at 30 June 2024
(%19 Frib s
nE B HREH Eh HEAER By BAE
Total
approved
Government gross  Car parking
Property Lot no. lease term Type  floor area spaces % owned
(£) (FAR)
(years) (s.f)
BRE S NBE1925 Rt R 2441 B1923F i =z 33,272 20 100
i T5EETE
F— ZRZE(HH)
Villa 1, Villa 2 and Villa 3, L. 2441 75 + 75 from 1923 Residential 33,272 20 100
Villa Cecil, Phase II,
192 Victoria Road,
Hong Kong (Portion)
BRE % NB2165 RREMMER215% B19226F it FE 73,292 21 100
BHE-HE-ERE_E REEHH T5EETSE
Tower 1 and 2, R.B.L. 215 & Ext from 75 + 75 from 1922 Residential 73,292 21 100
Villa Cecil, Phase Il,
216 Victoria Road,
Hong Kong
SHRNEIWLTE LETHEBBRINR B1991F &5 FE 75,112 70 100
EAZETN 56F
=t
One Kowloon Peak Tsuen Wan Town 56 from 1991 Residential 75,112 70 100
8 Po Fung Terrace, Lot 352
Ting Kau, Tsuen Wan
BEXE F13595 308 KAKIE ffx 27,236 8 100
SREDERKM (FIEPT77HR) - B578
BERES02508E (5(7)
Parkview Section 57, Lot 1359 (formerly Freehold Residential 27,236 8 100
Lorong Perak Lot PT77),
50250 Kuala Lumpur Section 57
Malaysia (Portion)
HEHR FH57A819-0128 M20045F €705 BE/EE 429343 1,054 100
FYEHEZE (FR)
Cheuk Nang Garden Lot No A819-0128 70 from 2004 Commercial/ 429,343 1,054 100

Longhwa, Longgang,
Shenzhen (Portion)

Residential
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BRFUE

R-ZZE-_WMFENA=TH

Property

Cecil Central Residence
il
EERTERR
5025088

Cecil Central

Residence Lorong
Perak 50250,

Kuala Lumpur Malaysia

ERBRAHE
Estrada de
Seac Pai Van

il

BE&i

New Villa Cecil

Shui Hang, Cheung Chau,
Hong Kong

&

Lot no.

E11385R11386%
WEESTR

Section 57,
Lot 11385 and 11386

MOFHE
Lot No 21202

R ENNHER
1048508
Lot No. 1848
D.D. Cheung Chau

33

=24

Government
lease term

(#)

(years)

4

KN5E

Freehold

BNERI0E

10 from 2011

B2007 5 R50%E

50 from 2007

Schedule of Major Properties

BE-ZT-MFA=+HIEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

LEGE

Type*

Commercial/
Residential

hE/hz
Commercial/
Residential

%2

Residential

WEAER

Site area
A
59

86,638

86,636

97,597

97,597

111,751

111,751

As at 30 June 2024

Bik
BEEER
Total
approved
gross

floor area
(FAR)
(sf

E

1,708,048

Phase 2
1,708,048

1,676,000
1,676,000

41,068

41,068

g

Car
parking
spaces

867

867

1,01
1,001

=73

ifd

% owned

100

100

7169

7169

100

100

il
RAAS

Stage of

completion
date

Not yet
determined

BRIT
Not yet
determined

204

204

R=2-m%
~AZ1R
BIfeR

Development
asat 30/6/2024

HENEERRILE

New plans are
approved by the
government authorities

HiaNNEEEER
Application for new fand
lease has been submitted

F-EAkERHL
FRFEREAS
The Occupation Permit of
Phase | was issued.

The Occupation Permit of
Phase I1 will be applied by
the end of 2024
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FTEYEX
Schedule of Major Properties

BE-ZT-MFENA=+HIFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

BEPYE(E) PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)
R-_FE_MEXRA=TH As at 30 June 2024
i it
Ehk fekE BifIR ARZ1R
0% 15 BREH  MARE  ABEER  4EERE g E2E zAAE BIfR
Total
approved Car Stage of
Government gross  parking completion Development
Property Lot no. lease term Type* Sitearea floor area spaces % owned date asat 30/6/2024
(%) (F5R) (¥5R)
(years| (s (3]
ARl REERNE BTomonF BET/EE a0 1304 178 0o IEERR
e SRR AR 1ABAEHE LGE
B - H2009F
1ALREHE
Cheuk Nang * Riverside Chong Xian Zhen North of Residential :  Residentiall 419,613 1312437 778 100 04 The construction
Yu Hang District Hangzhou Chong Hang Jie West of Yan 70 years from ~ Commercial is completed. Inspection by
Shan Gang 25/12/2009 the Government authorities
Commercial was approved
40 years from
25122009
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